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INTRODUCTION

In this annual report, we use the term “Copa Hdsfrto refer to Copa Holdings, S.A., “Copa” or “CoAirlines” to
refer to Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., aidialny of Copa Holdings, S.A., and “AeroRepublita’refer to
AeroRepublica, S.A., a subsidiary of Copa Holdir§#\. The terms “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Coptoldings, S.A. together
with its subsidiaries, except where the contextires otherwise. References to “Class A sharefgr to Class A shares of Cc
Holdings, S.A.

This annual report contains terms relating to ojiggperformance that are commonly used withinainkne industry
and are defined as follows:

e “Aircraft utilization” represents the average riaen of block hours operated per day per aircraftte total
aircraft fleet.

. “Available seat miles” or “ASMs” represents theceaft seating capacity multiplied by the numbéndles the
seats are flowr

«  “Average stage lenc” represents the average number of miles flown pghtfl
«  “Block hour! refers to the elapsed time between an aircrafifgaan airport gate and arriving at an airport ¢

. “Break-even load factor” represents the loaddatitat would have resulted in total revenues betpggl to total
expenses

*  “Load factor’represents the percentage of aircraft seating @gighat is actually utilized (calculated by divig
revenue passenger miles by available seat m

e “Operating expense per available seat” represents operating expenses divided by avaitgaemiles
e “Operating revenue per available seat ” represents operating revenues divided by avaiksddé miles
e “Passenger revenue per available seaf’ represents passenger revenue divided by availebtasles
*  “Revenue passenger m” represents the number of miles flown by revenuseagers

*  “Revenue passengers” represents the total nuailpatying passengers (including all passengersreitg
OnePass frequent flyer miles and other travel asjdtdwn on all flight segments (with each connegti
segment being considered a separate flight segn

*  "Yield” represents the average amount one passenger pfysite mile.
Market Data

This annual report contains certain statisticahdagarding our airline routes and our competitiosition and market
share in, and the market size of, the Latin Amerigialine industry. This information has been ded\Jrom a variety of sourct
including the International Air Transport Assooistj the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration, timernational Monetary
Fund and other third-party sources, governmentaheigs or industry or general publications. Infaiorafor which no source
is cited has been prepared by us on the basisrdmmwledge of Latin American airline markets arides information availabl
to us. The methodology and terminology used byediffit sources are not always consistent, and datedifferent sources are
not readily comparable. In addition, sources othan us use methodologies that are not identicalite and may produce
results that differ from our own estimates. Althbuge have not independently verified the informationcerning our
competitive position, market share, market sizeketagrowth or other similar data provided by thirarty sources or by
industry or general publications, we believe themerces and publications are generally accurateadiadle.
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Presentation of Financial and Statistical Data

Included elsewhere in this annual report are oditad consolidated balance sheets as of Decemb&0886 and
2007 and the audited consolidated statements ofriegcchanges in shareholders’ equity and cash flomthe years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007. The consolidatadcial information as of December 31, 2003, 2804 2005, and for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 hasibeeed from our audited consolidated financiatestnents that were
prepared in accordance with accounting principksegally accepted in the United States, or U.S. 8/A4Ad which have not
been included in this annual report. Our auditatsotidated financial statements have been preparaccordance with U.S.
GAAP and are stated in U.S. dollars. We began dmtaimg the results of our AeroRepublica operasadsidiary as of its
acquisition date on April 22, 2005. Unless otheewiwdicated, all references in the annual repot$ter “dollars” refer to U.S
dollars, and all references to “Pesos” or “Ps.ereéb Colombian pesos, the local currency of Colianb

Certain figures included in this annual report hegen subject to rounding adjustments. Accordirfigyres shown
as totals in certain tables may not be an arittovaggregation of the figures that precede them.

Special Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report includes forward-looking statatagprincipally under the captions “Risk Factor&usiness
Overview” and “Operating and Financial Review amdspects.” We have based these forward-lookingstents largely on
our current beliefs, expectations and projectidrsuafuture events and financial trends affectinglwusiness. Many important
factors, in addition to those discussed elsewhetkis annual report, could cause our actual resaltiffer substantially from
those anticipated in our forward-looking statemeimsluding, among other things:

. general economic, political and business comitio Panama and Latin America and particularithe
geographic markets we sen

e our management’s expectations and estimates wongeur future financial performance and finagcplans
and programs

* our level of debt and other fixed obligatiol

« demand for passenger and cargo air service in #rkeats in which we operat
e competition;

e our capital expenditure plar

« changes in the regulatory environment in which ywerate;

« changes in labor costs, maintenance costs, fuid eosl insurance premiun
e changes in market prices, customer demand andrenefes and competitive conditiol
e cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in our operatesylts;

e defects or mechanical problems with our airci

* our ability to successfully implement our growthasegy;

e our ability to obtain financing on commercially seaable terms; ar

e the risk factors discussed un¢Risk Factor” beginning on page «

The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “aim,” “estimag,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” ahsimilar words
are intended to identify forward-looking statemeisrward-looking statements include informatiom@erning our possible or
assumed future results of operations, businesggies, financing plans, competitive position, isttiy environment, potential
growth opportunities, the effects of future regiolatand the effects of competition. Forwdeotking statements speak only a:
the date they were made, and we undertake no tblig@ update publicly or to revise any forward#ing statements after the
date of this annual report because of new informmafiuture events or other factors. In light of tieis and uncertainties
described above, the forward-looking events armcliaoistances discussed in this annual report mighbectur and are not
guarantees of future performance. Considering thexstions, you should not place undue relianndaward-looking
statements contained in this annual report.
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PART |
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management ad Advisers
Not applicable.
Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.
Item 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents summary consolidatealrcial and operating data for each of the perindigated. Our
consolidated financial statements are prepareddordance with U.S. GAAP and are stated in U.Sad®nlYou should read
this information in conjunction with our consoliddtfinancial statements included in this annuabregnd the information
under “—Selected Financial Data” and “Item 5. Ofiagpand Financial Review and Prospects” appeagisgwhere in this
annual report.

The summary consolidated financial information BBecember 31, 2006 and 2007 and for the yearstende
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 has been derweddur audited consolidated financial statememthided elsewhere in
this annual report. The consolidated financial infation as of December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005fartte years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2004 has been derived froraunlited consolidated financial statements thakewpeepared under U.S.
GAAP and which have not been included in this ahregort.

We have acquired 99.9% of the stock of AeroRepabbcColombian air carrier, and began consolidatsgesults
on April 22, 2005. As a result of this acquisitiauy financial information prior to and after thegaisition is not comparable.

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005(22) 2006 2007
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shadata, capital stock and operating data

INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Operating revenue

Passenger reveni $ 311,68¢ $ 364,61: $ 563,52( $ 798,90: $ 967,06t
Cargo, mail and othe 30,10¢ 35,22¢ 45,094 52,25¢ 60,19¢
Total operating revenue 341,78¢ 399,83° 608,61« 851,16( 1,027,26.
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel 48,51 62,54¢ 149,30¢ 217,73( 265,38
Salaries and benefi 45,25¢ 51,70: 69,73( 91,38: 116,69:
Passenger servicir 36,87¢ 39,22 50,62: 64,38( 82,94¢
Commissions 27,68 29,07¢ 45,087 57,80¢ 65,93(
Reservations and sal 18,01: 22,11¢ 29,21: 38,21: 48,22¢
Maintenance, materials and repz 20,35¢ 19,74: 32,50t 50,057 51,24¢
Depreciatior 14,04( 19,27¢ 19,857 24,874 35,32¢
Flight operations 15,97¢ 17,90¢ 24,94 33,74( 43,95¢
Aircraft rentals 16,68¢ 14,44¢ 27,631 38,16¢ 38,63¢
Landing fees and other rent: 10,55: 12,15¢ 17,90¢ 23,92¢ 27,017
Other 25,977 29,30¢ 32,62: 44,75¢ 55,09¢
Fleet impairment charc® 3,572 — — — —
Special fleet charge@ — — — — 7,30¢
Gain from involuntary conversic® — — — — (8,019)
Total operating expens 283,49: 317,49: 499,42; 685,03¢ 829,75t
Operating incom 58,29¢ 82,34 109,19: 166,12: 197,50¢
Non-operating income (expenst
Interest expens (11,619 (16,48¢) (21,629 (29,15() (44,33)
Interest capitalize 2,00¢ 962 1,08¢ 1,712 2,57C
Interest incomt¢ 887 1,422 3,54« 7,251 12,19t
Other, ne® 2,554 6,065 39E 18¢E 10,987
Total nor-operating expenses, r (6,167) (8,039 (16,607) (19,99¢) (18,58
Income before income tax 52,13: 74,30« 92,591 146,12! 178,92t
Provision for income taxe (3,649 (5,737) (9,597) (12,28¢) (17,10¢6)
Net income 48,48¢ 68,57: 82,99¢ 133,83! 161,82(
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Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005(22) 2006 2007
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shadata, and
operating data)

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investment: $ 61,43: $ 110,94: $ 114,49( $ 197,38( $ 308,35¢
Accounts receivable, n 31,01¢ 27,70¢ 46,53: 62,137 74,16¢
Total current asse 103,52: 152,08 184,35: 290,65: 435,73t
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 45,86¢ 7,19( 52,75 65,15( 64,07¢
Total property and equipme 480,48¢ 541,21: 637,54: 862,28! 1,166,26:
Total asset 591,91! 702,05( 916,91: 1,255,01! 1,707,25
Long-term debt 311,99: 380,82 402,95: 529,80: 732,204
Total shareholde’ equity 115,58¢ 174,15! 245,86° 371,664 531,63
Capital stock 29,22: 29,22: 29,22 32,56 37,37:
CASH FLOW DATA
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 73,47¢ $ 98,05 $ 115,36¢ $ 193,46¢ $ 221,94:
Net cash used in investing activiti (151,80:) (85,73%) (159,88¢) (258,98() (334,759
Net cash provided by financing activiti 105,29¢ 29,75¢ 38,92¢ 141,49¢ 228,29!
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
EBITDA ©) 74,89( 107,68! 129,44: 191,18( 243,82:
Aircraft rentals 16,68¢ 14,44 27,63: 38,16¢ 38,63¢
Operating margii® 17.1% 20.6% 17.%% 19.5% 19.2%
Weighted average shares used in computing
income per share (basi(”) 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,907,96
Weighted average shares used in computing net
income per share (dilute(” 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,812,50 43,234,55 43,463,75
Net income (loss) per share (bas” $ 1.1 $ 1.6C $ 1.94 $ BLilE $ 3.77
Net income (loss) per share (dilutd” $ 1.1t $ 1.6C $ 1.94 $ 3.1C $ 3.72
Dividends declared per she $ — $ 0.2¢ $ 0.24 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.31
OPERATING DATA
Revenue passengers cari(®) 2,02¢ 2,28 4,361 5,741 6,01¢
Revenue passenger mil(© 2,19¢ 2,54¢ 3,82¢ 5,017 5,861
Available seat mile(20) 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 5,35¢ 6,86¢€ 7,91¢
Load factor1) 68.(% 70.(% 71.4% 73.1% 74.(%
Breal-even load facto(12) 52.% 52.6% 57.% 58.(% 58.6%
Total block hour«13) 64,90¢ 70,22¢ 103,62¢ 130,81¢ 157,20(
Average daily aircraft utilizatio4) 9.C 9.2 9.8 9.8 9.€
Average passenger fe 153.% 156.% 129.2 139.2 160.¢
Yield (15 14.22 14.31 14.7¢ 15.92 16.5(
Passenger revenue per A{16) 9.6€ 10.0Z 10.51 11.6¢ 12.21
Operating revenue per ASA7) 10.6( 10.9¢ 11.3¢ 12.4C 12.91
Operating expenses per ASM (CAS(8) 8.7¢ 8.7z 9.32 9.9¢ 10.4¢
Departures 25,70: 27,43 48,93¢ 65,47 71,89:
Average daily departure 70.¢ 75.C 156.€ 179.¢ 197.C
Average number of aircra 19.¢ 20.€ 31.C 38.¢ 45.C
Airports served at period er 28 29 36 42 46
SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA
Copa:
Operating revenu $ 341,78¢ $ 399,83 $ 505,65! $ 676,16¢ $ 806,20:
Operating expense 283,49! 317,49 402,68 509,54( 634,52
Depreciatior 14,04( 19,27¢ 19,24: 23,73: 30,71(
Aircraft rentals 16,68¢ 14,44¢ 22,09¢ 23,84 27,75¢
Interest expens 11,618 16,48¢ 19,42« 26,907 36,30(
Interest capitalize 2,00¢ 962 1,08¢ 1,71z 2,57(
Interest incom: 887 1,42 3,37¢ 6,881 11,72(
Net income (loss) before t: 52,13¢ 74,30« 89,74¢ 155,53: 165,57:
Total asset 591,91! 702,05( 851,07! 1,168,12. 1,546,62:
AeroRepublica:
Operating revenu — — $ 103,01¢ $ 175,88 $ 226,04.
Operating expense — — 96,83¢ 176,38t 200,47
Depreciatior — — 61F 1,142 4,61¢
Aircraft rentals — — 5,53t 14,60¢ 14,76(
Interest expens — — 2,20t 2,24% 8,03
Interest capitalize — — — — —
Interest incomt¢ — — 16€ 37C 47¢
Net income (loss) before ti — — 2,84¢ (9,408 13,35¢
Total asset — — 98,09: 132,87. 256,34¢
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Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005(22) 2006 2007
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shamdata, capital stock and operating data)

SEGMENT OPERATING DATA

Copa:
Available seat mile(0) 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢
Load factor) 68.(% 70.(% 73.4% 77.8% 78.%
Breal-even load facto 52.8% 52.6% 56.8% 56.1% 58.1%
Yield (15) 14.2Z 14.31 14.41 15.4¢ 15.3¢
Operating revenue per AS(t7) 10.6( 10.9¢ 11.47 12.91 12.8(
CASM (18) 8.7¢ 8.72 9.1 ONE 10.0¢
Average stage leng(20) 1,02¢ 1,045 1,12¢ 1,15¢ 1,207
On time performanc(®) 91.4% 91.£% 91.7% 91.(% 86.9%

AeroRepUblica:23)

Available seat mile(10) — — 95C 1,627 1,62(
Load factor@t) — — 62.(% 57.9% 57.2%
Break even load factc — — 60.€% 61.9% 54.1%
Yield (15 — — 16.5¢ 17.7¢ 22.7¢
Operating revenue per AS(17) — — 10.8¢ 10.81 13.9¢
CASM (18) — — 10.1¢ 10.8¢ 12.3%
Average stage leng(20) — — 36C 37¢ 39¢
On time performanc(@l) — — 70.%% 80.2% 72.&%

(1) Represents impairment losses on our Boein¢-200 aircraft and related asse

(2) Represents expenses related to costs assbeidh terms negotiated for the early terminatbthree MD-80 aircraft as a
result of AeroRepublic's ongoing transition to a more fuel efficient athBrae-190 fleet.

(3) Represents gain on involuntary conversionasf-monetary assets to monetary assets relateducance proceeds in
excess of aircraft book valu

(4) Consists primarily of changes in the fairueabf fuel derivative contracts, foreign exchangmg/losses and gains on sale
of Boeing 737-200 aircraft. See “Item 5. Operatmgl Financial Review and Prospects” and the notesit consolidated
financial statement:

(5) EBITDA represents net income (loss) plusgtm of interest expense, income taxes, depreciatidramortization minus
the sum of interest capitalized and interest incdBBITDA is presented as supplemental informatienduse we believe
is a useful indicator of our operating performaand is useful in comparing our operating perforneanith other
companies in the airline industry. However, EBITBould not be considered in isolation, as a sulbstfor net income
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as a measfua company'’s profitability. In addition, oulculation of
EBITDA may not be comparable to other companiasilsirly titted measures. The following table pretsem
reconciliation of our net income to EBITDA for thpecified periods

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(in thousands of dollars)
Net income $ 48,48¢ $ 68,57 $ 82,99¢ $ 133,83¢ $ 161,82(
Interest expens 11,61 16,48¢ 21,62¢ 29,15( 44,33:
Income taxe: 3,64¢ 5,732 9,592 12,28t 17,10¢
Depreciatior 14,04( 19,27¢ 19,85 24,87 35,32¢
Subtotal 77,78t 110,07: 134,07 200,14¢ 258,58t
Interest capitalize (2,009 (969) (1,089 (1,717 (2,570
Interest incomt (887) (1,427) (3,544 (7,257) (12,199
EBITDA 74,89( 107,68! 129,44« 191,18( 243,82

Aircraft rentals represents a significant operagmgense of our business. Because we leased seVeral aircraft during
the periods presented, we believe that when asgessr EBITDA you should also consider the impdabur aircraft rent
expense, which was $16.7 million in 2003, $14.4iarilin 2004, $27.6 million in 2005, $38.2 millian 2006 and

$38.6 million in 2007

(6) Operating margin represents operating income divimieoperating revenue

(7) All share and per share amounts have been retveictestated to reflect the current capital suiretdescribed under
“Description of Capital Sto” and in the notes to our consolidated financiakstants

(8) Total number of paying passengers (including adspagers redeeming OnePass frequent flyer milestaedtravel
awards) flown on all flight segments, expressethausands

(9) Number of miles flown by scheduled revenue passsngapressed in million
(10) Aircraft seating capacity multiplied by the numlnémiles the seats are flown, expressed in milli

(11) Percentage of aircraft seating capacity that isalgt utilized. Load factors are calculated by diag revenue passenger
miles by available seat mile

(12) Load factor that would have resulted in total rexenbeing equal to total expens

(13) The number of hours from the time an airplane mofethe departure gate for a revenue flight uibig parked at the ga
of the arrival airport
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(14) Average number of block hours operated per dayperaft for the total aircraft flee
(15) Average amount (in cents) one passenger pays tméymile.
(16) Passenger revenues (in cents) divided by the nuofteemilable seat mile
(17) Total operating revenues for passenger aircradtedlcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflalbg seat miles
(18) Total operating expenses for passenger aircrataglcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflajsle seat miles
(19) Percentage of flights that arrive at the destimagate within fifteen minutes of scheduled arri
(20) The average number of miles flown per flic
(21) Percentage of flights that depart within fifteemaotes of the scheduled departure ti
)

(22) For AeroRepublica operating data, this period ce¥iem April 22, 2005 until December 31, 2005 whadiresponds to
the period that AeroRepublica was consolidateduinfimancial statement

(23) AeroRepublica has not historically distinguishetil®en revenue passengers and non-revenue passexieragh we
have implemented systems at AeroRepublica to retb@atdnformation, revenue passenger informatiath @her statistics
derived from revenue passenger data for the yeteceDecember 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 has beereddrom
estimates that we believe to be materially accu

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable

D. Risk Factors

An investment in our Class A shares involves a tagree of risk. You should carefully considerrtbks described
below before making an investment decision. Ouinless, financial condition and results of operai@ould be materially and
adversely affected by any of these risks. Therigagrice of our Class A shares could decline duany of these risks, and you
may lose all or part of your investment. The ridkscribed below are those known to us and thatusestly believe may
materially affect us.

Risks Relating to Our Company

Our failure to successfully implement our growthrategy may adversely affect our results of operaand harm the marke
value of our Class A shares.

We have grown rapidly over the past seven yearsir{éed to continue to grow our fleet, expand @mwie to new
markets and increase the frequency of flights ¢ontlarkets we currently serve. Achieving these ggatssential in order for
our business to benefit from cost efficiencies itesy from economies of scale. We expect to havestantial cash needs as we
expand, including cash required to fund aircrafchases or aircraft deposits as we add to our. Wetcannot assure you that
we will have sulfficient cash to fund such projeetsd if we are unable to successfully expand outersystem, our future
revenue and earnings growth would be limited.

When we commence a new route, our load factorsttebd lower than those on our established routdsoar
advertising and other promotional costs tend tbigher, which may result in initial losses that Icbliave a negative impact on
our results of operations as well as require atantial amount of cash to fund. We also periodjcalih special promotional
fare campaigns, particularly in connection with ¢pening of new routes. Promotional fares may hageeffect of increasing
load factors while reducing our yield on such reudering the period that they are in effect. Thebar of markets we serve
and our flight frequencies depend on our abilitydentify the appropriate geographic markets upbicivto focus and to gain
suitable airport access and route approval in them&ets. There can be no assurance that the neketsave enter will provide
passenger traffic that is sufficient to make ouerafions in those new markets profitable. Any ctiadithat would prevent or
delay our access to key airports or routes, inalgidimitations on the ability to process more pagses, the imposition of flight
capacity restrictions, the inability to secure &iddil route rights under bilateral agreementserihability to maintain our
existing slots and obtain additional slots, couwddstrain the expansion of our operations.
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The expansion of our business will also requirdtaaithl skilled personnel, equipment and faciliti&he inability to
hire and retain skilled pilots and other persommedecure the required equipment and facilitiegiefiitly and cost-effectively
may adversely affect our ability to execute ounvgtostrategy. In recent years, the airline indubktrg experienced a pilot
shortage that has disproportionately affected snald regional carriers, such as Copa. Expangiooranarkets and flight
frequencies may also strain our existing managemesources and operational, financial and managemi@nmation systems
to the point where they may no longer be adequesapport our operations, requiring us to makei@amt expenditures in
these areas. In light of these factors, we cansmira you that we will be able to successfullyldsth new markets or expand
our existing markets, and our failure to do so ddwdrm our business and results of operations gflsaa/ the value of our
Class A shares.

If we fail to successfully take delivery of and apée reliably the new Embraer 190 aircraft we hasgreed to purchase, ot
business could be harmed.

In October 2004, Copa announced an order to puediesisnew Embraer 190 aircraft with options foadditional 20
new aircraft. Subsequently, Copa increased its éirders for the Embraer 190 aircraft by exerciding of these options.
Through the end of 2007, Copa had accepted delnfetyt Embraer 190 aircraft. In March 2006, AeroRgja announced an
order to purchase five new Embraer 190 aircrafh wittions for an additional 10 new aircraft. Sitleen AeroRepublica has
accepted delivery of five Embraer 190 aircraft, ohevhich has since sustained damages and hageeeranently removed
from operation. Acquisition of an all-new type a@fcaaft, such as the Embraer 190, involves a waiogtisks relating to its
ability to be successfully placed into service uatthg:

« difficulties or delays in obtaining the necesseeytifications from the aviation regulatory autties of the
countries to which we fly

* manufacture's delays in meeting the agreed upon aircraft delisehedule

« difficulties in obtaining financing on acceptabéerhs to complete our purchase of all of the aitaraf hav
committed to purchase; a

e the inability of the new aircraft and its compotseto comply with agreed upon specifications and
performance standarc

Although to date we have not had any significaobfgms with this aircraft, we have experiencedaigrissues
generally associated with it, including difficubivith the software that operates the Embraer &@s®ystem. We may
experience similar or other problems with the ErabdB0s that will be delivered to us which coulsulein increased costs or
service interruptions. In addition, new aircratick as the Embraer 190, are generally less reltablethe more established
aircraft within the fleet with which we have moneperience. If we fail to successfully take delivefy and operate reliably the
new Embraer 190 aircraft, our business, finan@aldition and results of operations could be harmed.

We are dependent on our alliance with Continentaldacannot assure you that it will continue.

We maintain a broad commercial and marketing atkanith Continental Airlines, Inc., or Continenttilat has
allowed us to enhance our network and, in somesca$ier our customers services that we could tiwgravise offer. If
Continental were to experience severe financidicdities or go bankrupt, our alliance and senageeements may be
terminated or we may not realize the anticipatatebits from our relationship with Continental. W&iContinental recorded net
income of $343 and $459 million for 2006 and 20@8pectively, it suffered significant losses follog September 11, 2001,
and it has indicated that several factors threiseability to sustain profitability, including cqmetition from low-cost carriers
and carriers emerging from bankruptcy protectiogh liuel cost and terrorism or other internationastilities. We cannot
assure you that Continental will be able to sustaiprofitability, and as a result, we may be matly and adversely affected
by a deterioration of Continental’s financial cdiwh.




Table of Contents

Since we began the alliance in 1998, we have bedefiom Continental’s support in negotiations docraft
purchases, insurance and fuel purchases, sharfihgstf practices” and engineering support in ouinteaance operations, and
significant other intangible support. This supguwas assisted us in our growth strategy, while iatgwoving our operational
performance and the quality of our service. Ouaatle relationship with Continental is the subjefca grant of antitrust
immunity from the U.S. Department of TransportationDOT. If our relationship with Continental wetcedeteriorate, or our
alliance relationship were no longer to benefitrira grant of antitrust immunity, or our allianceservices agreements were
terminated, our business, financial condition aeglits of operations would likely be materially autVersely affected. The Ic
of Copas codesharing relationship with Continental woikell result in a significant decrease in our raves We also rely ¢
Continental’'s OnePass frequent flyer program thaparticipate in globally and on a co-branded basisatin America, and
our business may be adversely affected if the Oseepagram does not remain a competitive markgtingram. In addition,
our competitors may benefit from alliances withesthirlines that are more extensive than our alkamith Continental. We
cannot predict the extent to which we will be disattaged by competing alliances. See “ltem 7. M8jwareholders and
Related Party Transactions.” Our relationship wsitippliers depends in part on our alliance with @emital. As a result of our
follow-on offering in June 2006, Continental’s isb@ent in our company diminished to approximaté€l¢olof our total
outstanding capital stock. Although Continenta#duced participation in our company has not hagdwerse effect on our
relationships with suppliers, we cannot assuretpiatithe terms of our current or future supply agrents will not be affected
by this reduced participation.

Continental’s economic interest in our continued scess can be expected to further decline over time.

In connection with our initial public offering indzember 2005, Continental reduced its investmeas iftom 49% to
approximately 27.3% of our capital stock. Throudblbow-on offering in 2006, Continental further reducediftvestment in L
to approximately 10.0% of our capital stock. Coetital may seek to monetize its remaining investrirens. Continental has
certain rights pursuant to a shareholders’ agreearaong Continental, Corporacion de InversionesAgrS.A., or CIASA,
and us, including the right to appoint one of owectors so long as our alliance agreement withti@ental continues. As a
result of Continental’s right to appoint one membfkour board of directors and our dependence erallience between the
airlines, Continental has the ability to exercigmgicant influence over us. Nevertheless, Conitaés interests will likely
diverge from those of our other shareholders agi@amtal reduces its investment in us over timéneDthan certain exclusivity
provisions and a termination event for certain cetitipe activities contained in our alliance agresitp we do not have any
non-competition agreement with Continental, and as i@ental continues to reduce its economic stakesjritunay take actior
that are adverse to the interests of the majofiguo shareholders. See “ltem 7. Major ShareholdasRelated Party
Transactions.”

We operate using a hub-and-spoke model and are etéile to competitors offering direct flights betem destinations we
serve.

The structure of substantially all of our currdigtt operations (other than those of AeroRepublgenerally follows
what is known in the airline industry as a “hub-aspibke” model. This model aggregates passengeopdnating flights from a
number of “spoke” origins to a central hub throwgfich they are transported to their final destimasi. In recent years, many
traditional hub-and-spoke operators have facedfgignt and increasing competitive pressure from-tost, point-to-point
carriers on routes with sufficient demand to suspaiint-to-point service. A point-to-point structugnables airlines to focus on
the most profitable, high-demand routes and toraffeater convenience and, in many instances, Ifaves. As demand for air
travel in Latin America increases, some of our cetitprs have initiated nostop service between destinations that we curr
serve through our Panamanian hub. Non-stop semiteh bypasses our hub in Panama is more conveaiiehpossibly less
expensive, than our connecting service and coghifstantly decrease demand for our service todhiestinations. We believe
that competition from point-to-point carriers wik directed towards the largest markets that weessard such competition is
likely to continue at this level or intensify ingliuture. As a result, the effect of such compmtiton us could be significant and
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriggncial condition and results of operations.
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The Panamanian Aviation Act and certain of the bikral agreements under which we operate contain Baranian
ownership requirements that are not clearly defineahd our failure to comply with these requiremergsuld cause us to los
our authority to operate in Panama or to the inteational destinations we serve.

Under Law No. 21 of January 29, 2003, which regddhe aviation industry in the Republic of Panama which wi
refer to as the Aviation Act, “substantial ownepstand “effective control” of our airline must reman the hands of
Panamanian nationals. Under certain of the bilbggreeements between Panama and other countrissgnirto which we have
the right to fly to those other countries and a¥eir territory, we must continue to have substmanamanian ownership and
effective control by Panamanian nationals to retla@se rights. Neither “substantial ownership” feffective control” are
defined in the Aviation Act or in the bilateral @@ments, and it is unclear how a Panamanian court the case of the bilate
agreements, foreign regulatory authorities migterpret these requirements. In addition, the mamehich these
requirements are interpreted may change over tifeecannot predict whether these requirements woellsatisfied through
ownership and control by Panamanian record holdeii$ these requirements would be satisfied onfylliect and indirect
ownership and control by Panamanian beneficial esvne

At the present time, CIASA, a Panamanian entityhésrecord owner of all of our Class B voting gisarepresenting
approximately 29.2% of our total share capital ath@f the voting power of our capital stock.

On November 25, 2005, the Executive Branch of tbegBhment of Panama promulgated a decree statdghé
“substantial ownership” and “effective control” rétgements of the Aviation Act are met if a Panarmaartitizen or a
Panamanian company is the record holder of shapeesenting 51% or more of the voting power ofdhmpany. Although th
decree has the force of law for so long as it resai effect, it does not supersede the Aviatiohy And it can be modified or
superseded at any time by a future Executive Braechee. Additionally, the decree has no bindirfigotfon regulatory
authorities of other countries whose bilateral agrents impose Panamanian ownership and contrabtions on us. We
cannot assure you that the decree will not be ehgéid, modified or superseded in the future, thaB& will continue to own
majority of the Class B shares, or that record aginip of a majority of our Class B shares by Pamaamentities will be
sufficient to satisfy the “substantial ownershiptuirement of the Aviation Act and the decree. Arge in the ownership of
the Class B shares or a determination by the Pamam&ivil Aviation Authority (theAutoridad de Aeronautica Civ)l which
we refer to as the AAC, or a Panamanian court‘thdistantial” Panamanian ownership should be deteuinon the basis of
our direct and indirect ownership, could causeousge our license to operate our airline in Pandrkawise, if a foreign
regulatory authority were to determine that ouedirr indirect Panamanian ownership fails to §atlee minimum
Panamanian ownership requirements for a Panameaiaer under the applicable bilateral agreemeatmvay lose the benefit
of that agreement and be prohibited from flyinghte relevant country or over its territory. Any hudetermination would have
a material adverse effect on our business, findooiadition and results of operations, as well mstee value of the Class A
shares.

Our business is subject to extensive regulation @fhimay restrict our growth or our operations or ingase our costs.

Our business, financial condition and results afrafions could be adversely affected if we or ceraiation
authorities in the countries to which we fly failaintain the required foreign and domestic gowvemtal authorizations
necessary for our operations. In order to mairtteémecessary authorizations issued by the AACo#imer corresponding
foreign authorities, we must continue to complyhmapplicable statutes, rules and regulations pentito the airline industry,
including any rules and regulations that may bepgetbin the future. We cannot predict or contrgl antions that the AAC or
foreign aviation regulators may take in the futwrbjch could include restricting our operationsraposing new and costly
regulations. Also, our fares are technically subjeceview by the AAC and the regulators of certaiher countries to which
we fly, any of which may in the future impose riegtons on our fares.

We are also subject to international bilaterat@insport agreements that provide for the exchahge traffic rights
between Panama and various other countries, andugseobtain permission from the applicable foreigrernments to provic
service to foreign destinations. There can be sarasice that existing bilateral agreements betweepountries in which our
airline operating companies are based and foredgermments will continue, or that we will be abdeobtain more route rights
under those agreements to accommodate our futpaneion plans. A modification, suspension or retionaof one or more
bilateral agreements could have a material adeffeet on our business, financial condition andiitssof operations.
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The suspension of our permits to operate to cesigports or destinations, the cancellation of ahgur provisional routes or
the imposition of other sanctions could also haweaterial adverse effect. In 2007, for example,tbird daily frequency to
Mexico City, which was under provisional permit,sn#ot extended by the Mexican civil aviation auityoiThis development
did not have a material adverse effect on our lmssinbut it is indicative of the route changes hictvwe may be subject. Due
to the nature of bilateral agreements, we carofipany destinations only from Panama. We canneras®u that a change il
foreign government’s administration of current laavsl regulations or the adoption of new laws agdlegions will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmabition and results of operations.

We plan to continue to increase the scale of oeratns and revenues by expanding our presenoewrand
existing routes. Our ability to successfully impkmhthis strategy will depend upon many factorsess of which are outside
our control or subject to change. These factorsidecthe permanence of a suitable political, ecan@nd regulatory
environment in the Latin American countries in whige operate or intend to operate and our abiitgéntify strategic local
partners.

The most active government regulator among thetcesrto which we fly is the U.S. Federal Aviation
Administration, or FAA. The FAA from time to timesues directives and other regulations relatirtgeanaintenance and
operation of aircraft that require significant exgures. FAA requirements cover, among other thisgcurity measures,
collision avoidance systems, airborne windsheaidanze systems, noise abatement and other envirdahissues, and
increased inspections and maintenance procedulesdonducted on older aircraft. We expect to camtiincurring expenses
comply with the FAA's regulations, and any increaséhe cost of compliance could have an adverfgeedn our financial
condition and results of operations. Additional megulations continue to be regularly implementedhe U.S. Transportation
Security Administration, or TSA, as well.

The growth of our operations to the United Statesdethe benefits of our code-sharing arrangementdtwContinental are
dependent on Panama'’s continued favorable safetgemsment.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulataythorities of other countries. As a result ofritgestigation, each
country is given an International Aviation Safetgs&ssment, or IASA, rating. In May 2001, Panam@a%A rating was
downgraded from Category 1 to Category 2 due &gell deficiencies in Panamanian air safety stasdard AAC's capability
to provide regulatory oversight. As a result ostlowngrade, we were prevented from offering oysaCitights to any new
destinations in the United States and from certgynew aircraft for flights to the United StatesdaContinental was no longer
able to codeshare on our flights. In April 2004eréxtensive investment by the Panamanian governim¢he AAC and
consultations among Copa, the AAC and U.S. safffisials, Panama’s IASA rating was restored to @aty 1. We cannot
assure you that the government of Panama, andAl@ia particular, will continue to meet internatadrsafety standards, and
we have no direct control over their compliancenl&ASA guidelines. If Panama’s IASA rating werel® downgraded in the
future, it could prohibit us from increasing seevio the United States and Continental would hawispend the placing of its
code on our flights, causing us to lose direct neefrom codesharing as well as reducing flightooyst to our customers.

We are highly dependent on our hub at Panama Cityscumen International Airport.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operasibnsr hub at Panama City’s Tocumen Internatiéigdort.
Substantially all of our Copa flights either dedaoim or arrive at our hub. The hub-and-spoke stmacof our operations is
particularly dependent on the on-time arrival ghtly coordinated groupings of flights to ensuratthassengers can make
timely connections to continuing flights. Like otterlines, we are subject to delays caused byfadieyond our control,
including air traffic congestion at airports, acdsemweather conditions and increased security mesisDelays inconvenience
passengers, reduce aircraft utilization and in@easts, all of which in turn negatively affect quofitability. A significant
interruption or disruption in service at Tocumetemational Airport could have a serious impacbanbusiness, financial
condition and operating results. Also, Tocumenrhéonal Airport provides international servicethe Republic of Panama’s
population of approximately 3.3 million, whereas tiub markets of our current competitors tend tmbeh larger, providing
those competitors with a larger base of custoneitses hub.
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Tocumen International Airport is operated by a oogtion that is controlled by the government of Republic of
Panama. We depend on our good working relationstifpthe quasi-governmental corporation that oeralte airport to
ensure that we have adequate access to aircriffhgauositions, landing rights and gate assignméartsur aircraft to
accommodate our current operations and future ftarexpansion. The corporation that operates Tagumternational
Airport does not enter into any formal, writtendea or other agreements with airlines that govights to use the airport’s
jetways or aircraft parking spaces. Therefore onnection with the ongoing or future expansionhef &airport, the airpo
authority could assign new capacity to competiminais or could reassign resources that are cuyrased by us to other
aircraft operators. Either such event could rasuignificant new competition for our routes outmbotherwise have a material
adverse effect on our current operations or alffityfuture growth.

We are exposed to increases in landing charges atieer airport access fees and cannot be assureceasto adequate
facilities and landing rights necessary to achievar expansion plans

We must pay fees to airport operators for the digkeeir facilities. Any substantial increase inpairt charges could
have a material adverse impact on our results efaijpns. Passenger taxes and airport chargesalsvéncreased in recent
years, sometimes substantially. Certain importapbés that we use may be privatized in the neturé which is likely to
result in significant cost increases to the aiditigat use these airports. We cannot assure ybththairports used by us will r
impose, or further increase, passenger taxes goaracharges in the future, and any such increeselsl have an adverse eff
on our financial condition and results of operasion

Certain airports that we serve (or that we plaseive in the future) are subject to capacity cairss and impose sl
restrictions during certain periods of the day. #danot assure you that we will be able to obtasnféicient number of slots,
gates and other facilities at airports to expandseuvices as we are proposing to do. It is alssipte that airports not curren
subject to capacity constraints may become sodrittture. In addition, an airline must use itsslot a regular and timely basis
or risk having those slots re-allocated to othéflere slots or other airport resources are notaaior their availability is
restricted in some way, we may have to amend cedides, change routes or reduce aircraft utibmatAny of these
alternatives could have an adverse financial impaais.

Some of the airports to which we fly impose varieestrictions, including limits on aircraft noisevels, limits on the
number of average daily departures and curfewsioway use. In addition, we cannot assure you haois at which there a
no such restrictions may not implement restrictionthe future or that, where such restrictionsgthey may not become m«
onerous. Such restrictions may limit our abilityctintinue to provide or to increase services ah suiports.

We have significant fixed financing costs and expéa incur additional fixed costs as we expand dieet.

The airline business is characterized by high leger and we have a high level of indebtedness.¥échave
significant expenditures in connection with our gtimg leases and facility rental costs, and sultistiéy all of our property and
equipment is pledged to secure indebtedness. Egretir ended December 31, 2007, our interest egarsaircraft and
facility rental expense under operating leaseseagged $91.9 million. At December 31, 2007, apprately 42% of our total
indebtedness bore interest at fixed rates, andadl portion of our lease obligations was determingith reference to LIBOR.
Accordingly, our financing and rent expense wilt decrease significantly if market interest rateslite.

As of December 31, 2007, we had firm commitmentsukchase eight Boeing 73¥ext Generation and four Embr:
190s, with an aggregate manufacturer’s list pricepproximately $760.1 million. We have arrangedffieancing for a
significant portion of the commitment relating tech aircraft and will require substantial capitalnh external sources to meet
our remaining financial commitment. The acquisitaom financing of these aircraft will likely resuita substantial increase in
our leverage and fixed financing costs. A high éeguf leverage and fixed payment obligations could:

< limit our ability in the future to obtain additiohnancing for working capital or other importamteds




Table of Contents

. impair our liquidity by diverting substantial ¢asom our operating needs to service fixed finagci
obligations; ol

e limit our ability to plan for or react to changesour business, in the airline industry or in gext economic
conditions.

Any one of these could have a material adverseteffie our business, financial condition and reswfitsperations.

The cost of refinancing our debt and obtaining adidinal financing for new aircraft could increase gnificantly if the
Export-Import Bank of the United States does not continteeguarantee our debt.

We currently finance our aircraft through bank leamd, to a lesser extent, operating leases aatidoad offerings.
In the past, we have obtained most of the finanfngur Boeing aircraft purchases from commerfif@ncial institutions
utilizing guarantees provided by the Export-Im@@aink of the United States. The Export-Import Bankvjles guarantees to
companies that purchase goods from U.S. compamiesxport, enabling them to obtain financing atssabtially lower interest
rates as compared to those that they could obtiéiromt a guarantee. The Export-Import Bank will betable to provide
similar guarantees in connection with financingdar aircraft purchases from Embraer since thaseadi are not exports from
the United States. At December 31, 2007, we ha@.$3aillion of outstanding indebtedness that is dwefinancial
institutions under financing arrangements guarahbgethe Export-Import Bank. We cannot predict vileetthe Export-Import
Bank’s credit support will continue to be availaldeus to fund future purchases of Boeing aircifie Export-Import Bank
may in the future limit its exposure to Panama-tas®empanies, to our airline or to airlines gengral may encourage us to
diversify our credit sources by limiting future gaatees. Similarly, we cannot assure you that viebeiable to continue to
raise financing from past sources, or from otherses, on terms comparable to our existing finamdim addition, the ongoing
uncertainty in the credit markets of the Unitedt&tacould tighten the availability of credit andpiact our ability to obtain lease
or debt financing on terms attractive to us, aalhtin the future. If we are unable to obtain ficang, we may be forced to
modify our aircraft acquisition plans or to incugher than anticipated financing costs, which cchdge an adverse impact on
the execution of our growth strategy and business.

Our existing debt financing agreements and our aiaft operating leases contain restrictive covenatttst impose significan
operating and financial restrictions on us.

Our aircraft financing loans and operating leagesthe instruments governing our other indebtedoestain a
number of significant covenants and restrictiora timit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability:

*  create material liens on our assi

e take certain actions that may impair credi rights to our aircraft
e sell assets or engage in certain mergers or calasimns; anc

e engage in other specified significant transacti

In addition, several of our aircraft financing agmeents require us to maintain compliance with $getfinancial
ratios and other financial and operating tests.example, our access to certain borrowings undeaiocraft financing
arrangements is conditioned upon our maintenanc@rmmum debt service coverage and capitalizatadios. See “ltem 5.
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Liguahd Capital Resources.” Complying with theseer@ants may cause
us to take actions that make it more difficult x@eute successfully our business strategy, and ayefate competition from
companies not subject to such restrictions. Morgawa failure to comply with these covenants caesult in an event of
default or refusal by our creditors to extend dertd our loans.
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If we were to determine that our aircraft, rotabfgarts or inventory were impaired, it would have igmificant adverse effec
on our operating results.

We perform impairment reviews when there are palaicrisks of impairment or other indicators delsed in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 2&¢4ounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Longedd Assetsin
order to determine whether we need to reduce thgieg value of our aircraft and related assetairelated charge to our
earnings. In addition to the fact that the valuewf fleet declines as it ages, any potential excapacity in the airline industry,
airline bankruptcies and other factors beyond omtrol may further contribute to the decline of tai market value of our
aircraft and related rotable parts and inventdrguth impairment does occur, we would be requineder U.S. GAAP to write
down these assets to their estimated fair markeeuwarough a charge to earnings. A significantrghdo earnings would
adversely affect our financial condition and opatesults. In addition, the interest rates on @wedavailability of certain of
our aircraft financing loans are tied to the vabfi¢he aircraft securing the loans. If those valwese to decrease substantially,
our interest rates may rise or the lenders undesettoans may cease extending credit to us, ethehich could have an
adverse impact on our financial condition and rssoil operations.

We rely on information technology systems, and waynbecome more dependent on such systems in thedut

We rely upon information technology systems to afgepur business and increase our efficiency. Wéighly
reliant on certain critical systems, such as thep8e and Visaer systems for maintenance, the “SEBRomputer reservation
and check-in system and the Airmax revenue managesystem. Other systems are designed to decresigbution costs
through Internet reservations and to maximize caligwibutions. These systems may not deliver theiicipated benefits. Als
in transitioning to new systems we may lose datxperience interruptions in service, which couddnh our business.

Our quarterly results can fluctuate substantiallgnd the trading price of our Class A shares maydféected by such
variations.

The airline industry is by nature cyclical and s#ed, and our operating results may vary from aquad quarter. We
tend to experience the highest levels of traffid eevenue in July and August, with a smaller peataffic in December and
January. In general, demand for air travel is highé¢he third and fourth quarters, particularlyimernational markets, because
of the increase in vacation travel during theséoperrelative to the remainder of the year. We galheexperience our lowest
levels of passenger traffic in April and May. Giveur high proportion of fixed costs, seasonality effect our profitability
from quarter to quarter. Demand for air travellsoaffected by factors such as economic conditiamas or the threat of war,
fare levels and weather conditions.

Due to the factors described above and othersitlesidn this annual report, quarter-to-quarter carigons of our
operating results may not be good indicators offoture performance. In addition, it is possiblattin any quarter our
operating results could be below the expectatiémsvestors and any published reports or analysgarding our company. In
that event, the price of our Class A shares coeldine, perhaps substantially.

Our reputation and financial results could be harrdan the event of an accident or incident involvirgur aircraft.

An accident or incident involving one of our airtreould involve significant claims by injured pasgers and othel
as well as significant costs related to the repaneplacement of a damaged aircraft and its teemgar permanent loss from
service. A short time prior to our acquisition oér@Republica, one of its aircraft slid off of a way in an accident without
serious injuries to passengers; although, theadtraras severely damaged and declared a totablogs insurers. More
recently, in July of 2007, one of our AeroRepubkrabraer 190s overran a wet runway at Santa M@dkmbia. The accidel
did not cause any serious injuries but the air@a$tained damages causing its permanent remavaldervice. We are
required by our creditors and the lessors of owraift under our operating lease agreements tg tiahility insurance, but the
amount of such liability insurance coverage mayb@adequate and we may be forced to bear suladtisses in the event of
any future accident. Our insurance premiums mayiaksrease due to an accident or incident affeatimg of our aircraft.
Substantial claims resulting from an accident ioems of our related insurance coverage or incrgasegiums would harm our
business and financial results. Moreover, any aft@ccident or incident, even if fully insureduét cause the public to
perceive us as less safe or reliable than othi@mesrwhich could harm our business and resultspefations. Our business
would also be significantly harmed if the publioals flying our aircraft due to an adverse peraepbf the types of aircraft
that we operate arising from safety concerns cergphoblems, whether real or perceived, or in treneof an accident
involving those types of aircraft.
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Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negagly affect our net income.

In 2007, approximately 69% of our expenses and dD&ur revenues were denominated in U.S. dollane. T
remainder of our expenses and revenues were deatedim the currencies of the various countrieshich we fly, with the
largest non-dollar amount denominated in Colomiflasos. As a result of the acquisition of AeroReipabh April 2005, we
have an increased exposure to the Colombian Femay bf these currencies decline in value agdhrest).S. dollar, our
revenues, expressed in U.S. dollars, and our apgnatargin would be adversely affected. We mayh®oable to adjust our
fares denominated in other currencies to offsetiacneases in U.S. dollar-denominated expensermgases in interest expense
or exchange losses on fixed obligations or indete#ss denominated in foreign currency. Copa cugretttes not hedge the risk
of fluctuation in foreign exchange rates. AeroRdjmabcurrently has hedges in place with respesbioe of its U.S. dollar /
Colombian Peso exposure. Although we benefited ftamency fluctuations in 2007, we are exposedktihange rate losses,
well as gains, due to the fluctuation in the vadfiéocal currencies vis-a-vis the U.S. dollar dgrthe period of time (typically
between 1 to 2 weeks) between the time we areipdidal currencies and the time we are able tatréxte the revenues in
U.S. dollars.

Our maintenance costs will increase as Copa'’s flages and as we perform maintenance on AeroRepaidiolder fleet.

Because the average age of Copa’s aircraft was=ippately 3.7 years as of December 31, 2007, tet flequires
less maintenance now than it will in the future. Wée incurred a low level of maintenance expeirsescent years because
most of the parts on Copa’s aircraft were still@®d under multi-year warranties. Our maintenawsgsowill increase
significantly, both on an absolute basis and asregmtage of our operating expenses as our flestagd these warranties
expire.

AeroRepublica’s fleet is considerably older tharp€se fleet, having an average age of 7.4 year$ Becember 31,
2007. The MD-80 aircraft operated by AeroRepublidialikely be less reliable than Copa’s newer &aft and can be expected
to require significantly greater expenditures orintemance, which may lead to an overall increasmiinconsolidated operatil
expenses.

If we enter into a prolonged dispute with any of oemployees, many of whom are represented by unionsf we are
required to increase substantially the salarieskmenefits of our employees, it may have an advenspact on our operations
and cash flows.

Approximately 49% of the Company’s employees belting labor union. There are currently five unicosering
our Copa employees based in Panama: the pilotshuttie flight attendants’ union; the mechanicsbanthe traffic attendants’
union; and a generalized union, which represerdgdige handlers, aircraft cleaners, counter agantspther non-executive
administrative staff. Copa entered into new collecbargaining agreements with its general unio®atober 26, 2005, its
flight attendants’ union on April 3, 2006 and iitopunion on November 2007. After extensive negitins which did not lead
to a mutually satisfactory resolution, Copa andrtteehanics’ union entered into a government-maxdateitration, and a
collective bargaining agreement was agreed to orclvi29, 2006 as a result of such arbitration prdicegs. Previously, Copa
has not had to resort to arbitration to resolveotiagions with its unions. Collective bargainingegments in Panama are
typically between three and four year terms. We hBve union contracts with our Copa employeesraziBand Mexico.
AeroRepublica is a party to collective bargainiggesements that cover all of AeroRepublica’s 15atpiand caqailots and all o
AeroRepublicas 196 flight attendants. A strike, work interruptior stoppage or any prolonged dispute with ourleyges whc
are represented by any of these unions could haaeheerse impact on our operations. These riskg/preally exacerbated
during periods of renegotiation with the unionsyAanegotiated collective bargaining agreementafeature significant wag
increases and a consequent increase in our ogeedpenses. Employees outside of Panama that aceimently members of
unions may also form new unions that may seek éuntvage increases or benefits.
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Our business is labor intensive. We expect salaniages and benefits to increase on a gross leesighese costs
could increase as a percentage of our overall dést® are unable to hire, train and retain quedifpilots and other employees
at a reasonable cost, our business could be haanttd/e may be unable to complete our expansiorsplan

Our investment in AeroRepublica may not generate thenefits we sought when we purchased the company.

In the second quarter of 2005, we purchased AerdBiga, a Colombian airline currently providing ptto-point
service among 12 cities in Colombia and to Panaitya 8eroRepublica’s results of operations are higfensitive to
competitive conditions in the Colombian domesticti@vel market. AeroRepublicatapid growth in recent years came duril
period in which the domestic market leader, Aerswdal Continente Americano S.A. (Avianca), experéehsevere financial
difficulties that resulted in its bankruptcy ane it from the market of several other competitdrganca has emerged from
bankruptcy with new management and an improveadéiz condition. It is therefore likely that Aerofeblica will face
stronger competition in the future than it hasdoent years, and its prior results may not be aitlie of its future performance.

AeroRepublica’s results of operations are signiftialess profitable than those of Copa. While ARepublica
recorded net income of $9.7 million in 2007, AerpRielica has experienced loses in recent periodsreydhave continuing
net losses in future fiscal periods. We may noatble to achieve the cost savings and other imprenésnwe seek at
AeroRepublica, and our failure to do so would haum consolidated operating margins and resultgpefations. Our
investment in AeroRepublica is subject to manysiakd uncertainties that will ultimately determinieether the acquisition
will continue to increase our overall profitabilitgee “Item 4B. Business Overview—AeroRepublica.”

The integration of AeroRepublica into our businessay require a significant amount of our managemesitime and distract
our management from our core operations.

Although we believe that our acquisition of AeroRblica represents an attractive opportunity, suttistbresources
are needed to implement our plan to improve itdifatality. Implementation of our plan is subjectmany uncertainties and
may eventually require us to dedicate a potentgtipificant portion of our limited management neses to this effort.
Inconsistencies in standards, internal controlsc@dures, policies, business cultures and compensstuctures between Copa
and AeroRepublica, and the need to implement, d¢oatel and harmonize various business-specific tipgrarocedures and
systems, as well as the financial, accountingrinfdgion and other systems of Copa and AeroRep(btieg result in
substantial costs and may divert a substantial atmafiour management'’s resources from our corenat@®nal operations.
Diversion of Copa’s resources could materially ardatively affect our financial condition and reswdf operations.

Our revenues depend on our relationship with traagents and tour operators.
In 2007, approximately 56% of our revenues werévddrfrom tickets sold by travel agents or tourrapers. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to mainfiahorable relationships with these ticket sell@sr revenues could be

adversely impacted if travel agents or tour opesagtect to favor other airlines or to disfavor @sir relationship with travel
agents and tour operators may be affected by:

*  the size of commissions offered by other airlir
e changes in our arrangements with other distributbesrline tickets; ani

e theintroduction and growth of new methods of aglliickets.
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We rely on third parties to provide our customensdaus with facilities and services that are intedjita our business.

We have entered into agreements with third-parttrestors to provide certain facilities and sersicequired for our
operations, such as heavy aircraft and engine eranice; call center services; and catering, grbvandling, cargo and
baggage handling, or “below the wingitcraft services. For example, at airports othantTocumen International Airport, all
the “below the wing” aircraft services for Copafits are performed by contractors. AeroRepublicaracts ground handling
equipment in eleven of the thirteen cities it seraad has contracted labor for “below the wingksas eleven of the thirteen
cities. Overhaul maintenance and “C-checks” for £ape handled by contractors in the United St&asama and Costa Rica,
and some line maintenance for Copa is handledrigticairports by contract workers rather than employees. Substantially
all of our agreements with third-party contractars subject to termination on short notice. The lmsexpiration of these
agreements or our inability to renew these agreésr@rto negotiate new agreements with other persidt comparable rates
could harm our business and results of operatiumgher, our reliance on third parties to provideential services on our
behalf gives us less control over the costs, efficy, timeliness and quality of those servicesoAtiactor’s negligence could
compromise our aircraft or endanger passengersrawd This could also have a material adverse effeour business. We
expect to be dependent on such agreements footbgeeable future and if we enter any new marketyill need to have
similar agreements in place.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for aircraft and engines.

One of the elements of our business strategysave costs by operating a simplified aircraft fi&@dpa currently
operates the Boeing 737-700/800 Next Generati@nadirpowered by CFM 56-7B engines from CFM Inté¢ioraal and the
Embraer 190, powered by General Electric CF 34+fifines. AeroRepublica currently operates the Enmré@, powered by
General Electric CF 34-10 engines and MD-80 fleatgred by Pratt & Whitney JT8D-219 engines. We ently intend to
continue to rely exclusively on these aircrafttfoe foreseeable future. If any of Boeing, Embr&é&iV International or GE
Engines were unable to perform their contractuéigabons, or if we are unable to acquire or leas aircraft or engines from
aircraft or engine manufacturers or lessors ongtabdée terms, we would have to find another supptiea similar type of
aircraft or engine.

If we have to lease or purchase aircraft from agoslupplier, we could lose the benefits we denwenfour current
fleet composition. We cannot assure you that aplacement aircraft would have the same operatingraidges as the Boeing
737-700/800 Next Generation or Embraer 190 air¢haft would be replaced or that Copa could leagriozhase engines that
would be as reliable and efficient as the CFM 56an8 GE CF34-10. We may also incur substantiakttian costs, including
costs associated with retraining our employeesacemm our manuals and adapting our facilities. Guerations could also be
harmed by the failure or inability of Boeing, EméraCFM International or GE Engines to provide might parts or related
support services on a timely basis.

Our business would be significantly harmed if aigieslefect or mechanical problem with any of theety of aircraft
or components that we operate were discovereduwbald ground any of our aircraft while the defecpooblem was corrected,
assuming it could be corrected at all. The useuofaircraft could be suspended or restricted byleggry authorities in the
event of any actual or perceived mechanical orgilesioblems. Our business would also be signifigdr@rmed if the public
began to avoid flying with us due to an adverseggtion of the types of aircraft that we operagershing from safety concer
or other problems, whether real or perceived, dhéevent of an accident involving those typeaiafraft or components.
Carriers that operate a more diversified fleethatter positioned than we are to manage such events

We are dependent on key personnel.

Our success depends to a significant extent upoeftbrts and abilities of our senior managemeattand key
financial, commercial, operating and maintenanagsgwel. In particular, we depend on the serviéesinsenior management
team, including Pedro Heilbron, our Chief Execuf®#icer, Victor Vial, our Chief Financial Officet,awrence Ganse, our
Chief Operating Officer, and Daniel Gunn, our Vigeesident, Planning. Competition for highly qualifipersonnel is intense,
and the loss of any executive officer, senior manag other key employee without adequate replanéorethe inability to
attract new qualified personnel could have a maltedverse effect upon our business, operatindtsemund financial condition.
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Our operations in Cuba, which has been identifieg the U.S. Department of State as a state spon$éem@orism, may
adversely affect our reputation and the liquiditynd value of our Class A shares.

We currently operate approximately six daily depaas to and from Cuba which provide passengerpcang mail
transportation service. For the year ended DeceBthe2007, our transported passengers to and fralva @&presented
approximately 4.2% of our total passengers carfrd.operating revenues from Cuban operations duhie year ended
December 31, 2007 represented approximately 6.566imtotal consolidated operating revenues for sgehr. Our assets
located in Cuba are insignificant.

Cuba has been identified by the United States gowent as a state sponsor of terrorism, and theTWesury
Department'’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFA@ministers and enforces economic and tradeisasdbased on U.S.
foreign policy against Cuba and certain other tagjéoreign countries. You should understand thatwerall business
reputation may suffer as a result of our activitre€uba, particularly if such activities grow imetfuture. Certain U.S. states
have recently enacted legislation regarding inveatsiby pension funds and other retirement systemsmpanies, such as
ours, that have business activities with Cuba dhdraountries that have been identified as test@ponsoring states. Similar
legislation may be pending in other states. Assaltepension funds and other retirement systemsbaaubject to new
reporting requirements and other burdensome résticwith respect to investments in companies sscburs. Pension funds
and similar institutions represent an importantrsewf demand for our shares, and if their williags to invest in and hold our
shares were to diminish as a result of any suchimements or restrictions, or for any other reasonwpuld likely have a
material adverse effect on the liquidity and vadfieur Class A shares.

Risks Relating to the Airline Industry
The airline industry is highly competitive.

We face intense competition throughout our routevaek. Overall airline industry profit margins dmv and
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competeha areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency aighfltimes), on-time
performance, frequent flyer programs and otherisesv We compete with a number of other airlings durrently serve some
of the routes on which we operate, including Griipe&cA, American Airlines Inc., Delta Air Lines, Mes@na and Avianca.
Some of our competitors, such as American Airlimesie larger customer bases and greater brandnidioogn the markets w
serve outside Panama, and some of our competimes ignificantly greater financial and marketiegaurces than we have.
Airlines based in other countries may also receivasidies, tax incentives or other state aid frioeir respective governments,
which are not provided by the Panamanian governniér® commencement of, or increase in, servicdvemdutes we serve by
existing or new carriers could negatively impaat operating results. Likewise, competitors’ senaceroutes that we are
targeting for expansion may make those expansamsgess attractive.

We must constantly react to changes in prices andcgs offered by our competitors to remain coritipet The
airline industry is highly susceptible to priceabanting, particularly because airlines incur viewy marginal costs for
providing service to passengers occupying otherwissld seats. Carriers use discount fares to kttentraffic during periods
of lower demand to generate cash flow and to irseeaarket share. Any lower fares offered by oneaiare often matched |
competing airlines, which often results in lowedustry yields with little or no increase in traffevels. Price competition
among airlines in the future could lead to loweeaor passenger traffic on some or all of oure@suivhich could negatively
impact our profitability. We cannot assure you tay of our competitors will not undercut our faneshe future or increase
capacity on routes in an effort to increase thespective market share. Although we intend to caenpigorously and to assert
our rights against any predatory conduct, suclviggthy other airlines could reduce the level afefor passenger traffic on ¢
routes to the point where profitable levels of apiens could not be maintained. Due to our smaillez and financial resources
compared to several of our competitors, we mayebs &ble to withstand aggressive marketing tacti€are wars engaged in
our competitors should such events occur.
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We may face increasing competition from low-costriers offering discounted fares.

Traditional hub-and-spoke carriers in the Unitealt& and Europe have in recent years faced suibstamd
increasing competitive pressure from low-cost easrbffering discounted fares. The low-cost castieperations are typically
characterized by point-to-point route networks fnog on the highest demand city pairs, high aitardlfization, single class
service and fewer in-flight amenities. As evidenbgdhe operations of Gol Intelligent Airlines Inor Gol, which continues to
grow both in Brazil as well as in other South Amar countries, Spirit, which has begun to servenl&merica from Fort
Lauderdale, JetBlue, which has obtained route sighfly from Orlando to Bogota, and a number ef-cost carriers which
have recently launched or are planning to stadicein Mexico, among others, the low-cost carbasiness model appears to
be gaining acceptance in the Latin American avisitnaustry. As a result, we may face new and sualtisiacompetition from
low-cost carriers in the future which could resnlsignificant and lasting downward pressure onféines we charge for flights
on our routes.

Significant changes or extended periods of high fwests or fuel supply disruptions could material@iffect our operating
results.

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of tatal operating expenses, representing approxisn2&b% of our
operating expenses in 2005, 31.8% in 2006 and 3t@®@07. Our fuel prices increased significanty2D07 and are likely to
increase further. As a result, substantial incre@séuel costs may materially and adversely afteotoperating results. Jet fuel
costs have been subject to wide fluctuations asualtrof increases in demand, sudden disruptioasdhother concerns about
global supply, as well as market speculation. Bbéhcost and availability of fuel are subject tonpnaconomic, political,
weather, environmental and other factors and eveusrring throughout the world that we can neitteantrol nor accurately
predict, including international political and econic circumstances such as the political instabifitmajor oil-exporting
countries in Latin America, Africa and Asia. Althgluwe have entered into hedging agreements forteopmf our fuel needs
through the first quarter of 2009 to hedge agdimitprice volatility, these agreements provideydithited protection against
future increases in the price of fuel, and we miggahtinue such agreements in the future. Our ntioefuture arrangements
will not be adequate to protect us from furtherdases in the price of fuel, and fuel prices d&®lyito increase above their
current levels and may do so in the near futurdedd, numerous market experts and analysts hastietee that fuel prices can
be expected to increase further, perhaps significanom their already high levels. If a futuregiuisupply shortage were to arise
as a result of production curtailments by the Oizgtion of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, orEGR a disruption of oil
imports, supply disruptions resulting from seveesather or natural disasters, the continued urmdsagq, other conflicts in the
Middle East or otherwise, higher fuel prices othier reductions of scheduled airline services coeddilt. Significant increases
in fuel costs would materially and negatively affear operating results. We cannot assure yowtbeavould be able to offset
any increases in the price of fuel by increasingfares.

We may experience difficulty finding, training ancktaining pilots and other employees.

The airline industry is currently experiencing bbpshortage caused by extraordinary air trafficvgh in the Persian
Gulf, China and India; the rise of lucrative lowstgarriers in Europe and Asia; and the sustaiaedvery of the U.S. airlines
from the industry recession caused by the Septefribzrrorist attacks. This worldwide shortage itdtp disproportionately
affects smaller and regional carriers. An inabitdyattract and retain pilots may adversely aftegtgrowth strategy by limiting
our ability to add new routes or increase the feemy of existing routes.

The airline industry is a labor-intensive businé¥e. employ a large number of flight attendants,nmesiance
technicians and other operating and administrggérsonnel. The airline industry has, from timeitoet experienced a shortage
of qualified personnel. In addition, as is commathwnost of our competitors, we may, from timeitod, face considerable
turnover of our employees. Should the turnovemopleyees sharply increase, our training costshlkignificantly higher. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to rectdtn and retain the qualified employees that wedrte continue our current
operations or replace departing employees. A faitarhire and retain qualified employees at a nealsie cost could materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditod results of operations.

Because the airline industry is characterized byhifixed costs and relatively elastic revenues)iags cannot quickly reduc
their costs to respond to shortfalls in expectedenue.

The airline industry is characterized by low grpssfit margins, high fixed costs and revenues geaterally exhibit
substantially greater elasticity than costs. Therafing costs of each flight do not vary signifitgmvith the number of
passengers flown and, therefore, a relatively soielhge in the number of passengers, fare prigitigaffic mix could have a
significant effect on operating and financial résulhese fixed costs cannot be adjusted quickiggpond to changes in
revenues and a shortfall from expected revenuddeerild have a material adverse effect on ouimoatme.
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Airline bankruptcies could adversely affect the instry.

Since September 11, 2001, several air carriers sawght to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the dritates
Bankruptcy Code, including some of our competitrsh as Avianca and Delta. Successful completicuc reorganizations
could present us with competitors with significgridwer operating costs derived from labor, sugpig financing contracts
renegotiated under the protection of the Bankrugtogle. For example, Avianca emerged from bankrupitly a significantly
improved financial condition. In addition, air cans involved in reorganizations have historicallydertaken substantial fare
discounting in order to maintain cash flows anébance continued customer loyalty. Such fare disteg could further
lower yields for all carriers, including us. Furththe market value of aircraft would likely be agigely impacted if a number
air carriers seek to reduce capacity by eliminagimgraft from their fleets.

Our business may be adversely affected by downtumrthie airline industry caused by terrorist attaskwar or outbreak of
disease, which may alter travel behavior or increasosts.

Demand for air transportation may be adverselycséfd by terrorist attacks, war or political andiabmstability,
epidemics, natural disasters and other events.ofitlyese events in the markets in which we operatéd have a material
impact on our business, financial condition andlitef operations. Furthermore, these types afsitns could have a
prolonged effect on air transportation demand andestain cost items.

For example, the terrorist attacks in the Uniteate3t on September 11, 2001 had a severe adveraetiompthe
airline industry. Airline traffic in the United Sts fell dramatically after the attacks and deaddsss severely throughout
Latin America. Our revenues depend on the numbpas$engers traveling on our flights. Thereforg,fature terrorist attacks
or threat of attacks, whether or not involving coenaial aircraft, any increase in hostilities raigtio reprisals against terrorist
organizations or otherwise and any related econampect could result in decreased passenger trfficmaterially and
negatively affect our business, financial conditém results of operations.

The combination of continued instability in theefhath of the Iraq war and the public’s concerrmuathe
possibility of an outbreak of a disease that casgyead by fellow commercial air passengers (sscvin flu or Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome) has continued to have a ivegatpact on the public’s willingness to travel &iy. It is impossible to
determine if and when such adverse effects wiltebhad whether they will further decrease demandifaravel, which could
materially and negatively affect our business,rial condition and results of operations.

Increases in insurance costs and/or significant wetions in coverage would harm our business, finaalccondition and
results of operations.

Following the 2001 terrorist attacks, premiumsifurance against aircraft damage and liabilitthtad parties
increased substantially, and insurers could retheie coverage or increase their premiums eveméurin the event of
additional terrorist attacks, hijackings, airlim@ashes or other events adversely affecting thmainhdustry abroad or in Latin
America. In the future, certain aviation insuracoeld become unaffordable, unavailable or availablg for reduced amounts
of coverage that are insufficient to comply witle levels of insurance coverage required by air¢eafiers and lessors or
applicable government regulations. While governmémbther countries have agreed to indemnifyradifor liabilities that
they might incur from terrorist attacks or provide/-cost insurance for terrorism risks, the Panaaragovernment has not
indicated an intention to provide similar benefisus. Increases in the cost of insurance maytrgshbbth higher fares and a
decreased demand for air travel generally, whiahccmaterially and negatively affect our busindsgncial condition and
results of operations.
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Failure to comply with applicable environmental ragations could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are covered by various local, natiand international environmental regulations. Seheegulations
cover, among other things, emissions to the atmaspldisposal of solid waste and aqueous effluaittsaft noise and other
activities that result from the operation of aifer&uture operations and financial results may\as a result of such
regulations. Compliance with these regulations @ or existing regulations that may be applicables in the future could
increase our cost base and adversely affect ouatipes and financial results.

Risks Relating to Panama and our Region
Our performance is heavily dependent on economiaditions in the countries in which we do business.

Passenger demand is heavily cyclical and highlyeddent on global and local economic growth, ecosomi
expectations and foreign exchange rate variationthe past, we have been negatively impacted oy conomic performance
in certain emerging market countries in which werage. Any of the following developments in the biges in which we
operate could adversely affect our business, filmhoondition and results of operations:

e changes in economic or other governmental poli
* changes in regulatory, legal or administrative pcas; or
e other political or economic developments over whighhave no contro

Additionally, a significant portion of our revenuissderived from discretionary and leisure travéich are especiall
sensitive to economic downturns. A worsening ofnecnic conditions could result in a reduction ingewer traffic, and
leisure travel in particular, which in turn wouldatarially and negatively affect our financial carmh and results of operations.
Any perceived weakening of economic conditionshis tegion could likewise negatively affect ourlépito obtain financing t
meet our future capital needs in international tedypnarkets.

We are highly dependent on conditions in Panama.

A substantial portion of our assets are locatetiéenRepublic of Panama, a significant proportioowf customers are
Panamanian, and substantially all of Copa’s fligigerate through our hub at Tocumen Internatiorigdokt. As a result, we
depend on economic and political conditions prévgifrom time to time in Panama. Panama’s econa@wmilitions in turn
highly depend on the continued profitability andmemic impact of the Panama Canal. Control of theaha Canal and many
other assets were transferred from the United StatBanama in 1999 after nearly a century of tb8trol. Political events in
Panama may significantly affect our operationshéiltgh the Panamanian government is democratidaityezl and the
Panamanian political climate is currently stabl@n@mnanian elections will be held in 2009, and weoaassure you that
current conditions will continue under a new adstirtion. If the Panamanian economy experiencesession or a reduction
in its economic growth rate, or if Panama expesmsrsignificant political disruptions, our busind&sancial condition and
results of operations could be materially and neght affected.

We have paid low taxes in the past, and any inceeasthe taxes we or our shareholders pay in Panaarahe other
countries where we do business would adverselycffiee value of our Class A shares.

We cannot assure you that we will not be subjeafitional taxes in the future or that currenetwill not be
increased. Our provision for income taxes was $dlon, $12.3 million and $17.1 million in the yeaended December 31,
2005, 2006 and 2007, which represented an effertogme tax rate of 10.4%, 8.4% and 9.6% for tispeetive periods. We
are subject to local tax regulations in each ofjtinisdictions where we operate, the great majaftwhich are related to the
taxation of income. In some of the countries toalihive fly, we do not pay any income taxes, becawesdo not generate
income under the laws of those countries eithealrse they do not have income tax or because diesear other arrangemer
those countries have with Panama.
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In the remaining countries, we pay income tax r@te ranging from 25% to 34% of income. Differeatiotries calculate
income in different ways, but they are typicallyided from sales in the applicable country mulggliby our net margin or by a
presumed net margin set by the relevant tax le@slaThe determination of our taxable income inesal countries is based on
a combination of revenues sourced to each particolantry and the allocation of expenses of ouraens to that particular
country. The methodology for multinational trangptiopn company sourcing of revenue and expensetialways specifically
prescribed in the relevant tax regulations, ancefloee is subject to interpretation by both us thedrespective taxing
authorities. Additionally, in some countries, thppbcability of certain regulations governing nareome taxes and the
determination of our filing status are also subjedhterpretation. The low rate at which we pagome tax has been critical to
our profitability in recent years and if it wereitwrease, our financial performance and resultpefations would be materially
and adversely affected. Due to the competitivemaeeenvironment, many increases in fees and teasgstheen absorbed by the
airline industry rather than being passed on tg#ssenger. Any such increases in our fees and taag reduce demand for air
travel and thus our revenues.

In the past, our expenses attributable to opergiimfPanama have consistently exceeded our revetinigsitable to
operations in Panama. As a result, we have typieaiberienced losses for Panamanian income taopagpand were not
subject to any income tax obligations. Beginnin@@®4, we adopted an alternate method of calcgiaticome tax in Panama.
Under this alternative method, allocation of revenfor operations in Panama is based on a geeenébtial principle, not
specifically defined in the tax regulations. If tRenamanian tax authorities do not agree with athous of allocating
revenues, we may be subject to additional taxlitgbAirlines in Panama are currently not subjectny taxes relating
specifically to the airline industry other than #% tax collected from passengers on tickets soRiainama for the benefit of t
Panamanian Tourism Bureau.

Any future change in the Panamanian tax law ingngathe taxes payable by us could have materialyeese effects
on our business, financial condition and resubypérations.

Political unrest and instability in Colombia may aérsely affect our business and the market priceoaf Class A shares

We completed our acquisition of AeroRepublica ia second quarter of 2005. Almost all of AeroRepzi$
scheduled operations are conducted within Colon#saa result, AeroRepublica’s results of operatiareshighly sensitive to
macroeconomic and political conditions prevailingdolombia, which have been highly volatile andtabke and may continue
to be so for the foreseeable future. In additierrarism and violence have plagued Colombia inpéhe&t. Continuing guerrilla
activity could cause political unrest and instapiln Colombia, which could adversely affect AergRblica’s financial
condition and results of operations. The thredenbrist attacks could impose additional costaisnincluding enhanced
security to protect our aircraft, facilities andgmnnel against possible attacks as well as inetemsurance premiums. As a
result, we may encounter significant unanticipaiezblems at AeroRepublica which could have a maitadverse effect on our
consolidated financial condition and results ofrafiens.

Risks Relating to Our Class A Shares

The value of our Class A shares may be adverselgaéd by ownership restrictions on our capital skoand the power of ou
board of directors to take remedial actions to peese our operating license and international routights by requiring sales
of certain outstanding shares or issuing new stock.

Pursuant to the Panamanian Aviation Act, as ameadddnterpreted to date, and certain of the bigdteeaties
affording us the right to fly to other countriess are required to be “substantially owned” andéeefifzely controlled” by
Panamanian nationals. Our failure to comply witbhstequirements could result in the loss of ouradP@amian operating license
and/or our right to fly to certain important coues. Our Articles of IncorporatiofiPacto Sociallgive special powers to our
independent directors to take certain significanibas to attempt to ensure that the amount ofeshlaeld in us by non-
Panamanian nationals does not reach a level wioighl geopardize our compliance with Panamaniankaladgeral ownership
and control requirements. If our independent diectietermine it is reasonably likely that we Wil in violation of these
ownership and control requirements and our ClasBaBes represent less than 10% of our total oulistaicapital stock
(excluding newly issued shares sold with the appirof our independent directors committee), ouepehdent directors will
have the power to issue additional Class B shar€ass C shares with special voting rights salelizanamanian nationals.
See “10B. Memorandum and Articles of Association-s@tion of Capital Stock.”
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If any of these remedial actions are taken, thdiricaprice of the Class A shares may be materaily adversely
affected. An issuance of Class C shares could tieveffect of discouraging certain changes of @ymtf Copa Holdings or
may reduce any voting power that the Class A shem@sy prior to the Class C share issuance. Thamebe no assurance that
we would be able to complete an issuance of ClasisaBes to Panamanian nationals. We cannot assurhat restrictions on
ownership by non-Panamanian nationals will not idgpthe development of an active public trading reeftir the Class A
shares, adversely affect the market price of tles<CA shares or materially limit our ability tosmicapital in markets outside of
Panama in the future.

Our controlling shareholder has the ability to diog our business and affairs, and its interests cduonflict with yours.

All of our Class B shares, representing approxitge28.2% of the economic interest in Copa Holdiagsd all of the
voting power of our capital stock, are owned by SR CIASA is in turn controlled by a group of Pareman investors. In
order to comply with the Panamanian Aviation Astaaended and interpreted to date, we have amendextganizational
documents to modify our share capital so that CIABIAcontinue to exercise voting control of Copaltings. CIASA will not
be able to transfer its voting control unless cardf our company will remain with Panamanian naéits. CIASA will maintair
voting control of the company so long as CIASA @mnés to own a majority of our Class B shares &eddlass B shares
continue to represent more than 10% of our totateskapital (excluding newly issued shares sold thié approval of our
independent directors committee). Even after CIA®Ases to own the majority of the voting powerwfaapital stock, CIAS.
may continue to control our board of directors iadily through its control of our Nominating andrSorate Governance
Committee. As the controlling shareholder, CIASAyndirect us to take actions that could be conttaryour interests and
under certain circumstances CIASA will be able tevent other shareholders, including you, from kilog these actions. Also,
CIASA may prevent change of control transactiorss thight otherwise provide you with an opportunidydispose of or realize
a premium on your investment in our Class A shares.

The Class A shares will only be permitted to vatevery limited circumstances and may never havd fidting rights.

The holders of Class A shares have no right to &btir shareholders’ meetings except with resjgecorporate
transformations of Copa Holdings, mergers, conatiliths or spin-offs of Copa Holdings, changes opomate purpose,
voluntary delistings of the Class A shares fromNMSE, the approval of nominations of our indepenidérectors and
amendments to the foregoing provisions that adiyeestect the rights and privileges of any Classhares. The holders of
Class B shares have the power, subject to ourlsblders’ agreement with Continental, to elect tharll of directors and to
determine the outcome of all other matters to lmidael by a vote of shareholders. Class A shardsiaiilhave full voting right
unless the Class B shares represent less than f108t wtal capital stock (excluding newly issuéduses sold with the approv
of our independent directors committee). See “I11&B. Memorandum and Atrticles of Association—Desiwip of Capital
Stock.” We cannot assure you that the Class A shaileever carry full voting rights.

Substantial future sales of our Class A shares bgn@inental or CIASA could cause the price of thea3k A shares t
decrease.

CIASA owns all of our Class B shares, and thoses<Bshares will be converted into Class A shdriey are sold
to non-Panamanian investors. In connection withimitinl public offering in December 2005, Contitehand CIASA reduced
their ownership of our total capital stock from 488@pproximately 27.3% and from 51% to approxinya2®.2%, respectivel
In a follow-on offering in June 2006, Continentatther reduced its ownership of our total capitatk from 27.3% to 10.0%.
CIASA holds registration rights with respect toigngficant portion of its shares pursuant to a sagition rights agreement
entered into in connection with our initial pubtiffering. The market price of our Class A sharasl@arop significantly if
Continental or CIASA further reduces its investmianiis, other significant holders of our sharesasignificant number of
shares or if the market perceives that Contine@#SA or other significant holders intend to gakém. Continental has agre
subject to certain exceptions, not to issue orsiarwithout the consent of CIASA, until June 2008 any shares of our capital
stock, any options or warrants to purchase shdresracapital stock or any securities convertilsimior exchangeable for
shares of our capital stock. Nevertheless, thik-lgragreement can be waived at any time and,yreaent, after this lock-up
agreement expires, Continental will not be restddrom selling its shares in the public market.
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Holders of our common stock are not entitled to praptive rights, and as a result you may experiesabstantial dilution
upon future issuances of stock by us.

Under Panamanian law and our organizational doctsnkalders of our Class A shares are not entitdexhy
preemptive rights with respect to future issuarefesapital stock by us. Therefore, unlike compawiggnized under the laws
of many other Latin American jurisdictions, we vok free to issue new shares of stock to otherggantithout first offering
them to our existing shareholders. In the futurewes sell Class A or other shares to persons dtaer our existing
shareholders at a lower price than the sharesdyiiszld, and as a result you may experience suimtdiution of your interest
in us.

You may not be able to sell our Class A shareshatprice or at the time you desire because an activ liquid market for the
Class A shares may not continue.

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE. Duttegthree months ended December 31, 2007, the avdedly
trading volume for our Class A shares as reporethe NYSE was approximately 617,763 shares. Weatgoredict whether
an active liquid public trading market for our Gla&s shares will be sustained. Active, liquid tragimarkets generally result in
lower price volatility and more efficient executiohbuy and sell orders for our investors. Theilility of a securities market is
often affected by the volume of shares publiclydh®} unrelated parties.

Our board of directors may, in its discretion, amgtior repeal our dividend policy. You may not receithe level of dividends
provided for in the dividend policy or any dividesét all.

Our board of directors has adopted a dividend pdhat provides for the payment of dividends torehalders equal
to approximately 10% of our annual consolidatedimatme. Our board of directors may, in its sokcdition and for any
reason, amend or repeal this dividend policy. Quard of directors may decrease the level of diwidgorovided for in this
dividend policy or entirely discontinue the paymehtlividends. Future dividends with respect torekaf our common stock,
if any, will depend on, among other things, ounttssof operations, cash requirements, financiabémn, contractual
restrictions, business opportunities, provisionamglicable law and other factors that our boardigfctors may deem relevant.
See “ltem 8A. Consolidated Financial Statements@iteér Financial Information—Dividend Policy.”

To the extent we pay dividends to our shareholdevs,will have less capital available to meet outute liquidity needs.

Our board of directors has adopted a dividend pdhat provides for the payment of dividends torehalders equal
to approximately 10% of our annual consolidatedimetme. The aviation industry has cyclical chaggstics, and many
international airlines are currently experiencini§cllties meeting their liquidity needs. Also, obusiness strategy
contemplates substantial growth over the next s¢éyears, and we expect such growth will requigeeat deal of liquidity. To
the extent that we pay dividends in accordance aithdividend policy, the money that we distribtdeshareholders will not be
available to us to fund future growth and meetather liquidity needs.
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Our Articles of Incorporation impose ownership arabntrol restrictions on our company which ensureahPanamanian
nationals will continue to control us and that thegestrictions operate to prevent any change of tohor some transfers of
ownership in order to comply with the Aviation Aenhd other bilateral restrictions.

Under the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amendedredpireted to date, Panamanian nationals mustisgerc
“effective control” over the operations of the mid and must maintain “substantial ownershifhese phrases are not define:
the Aviation Act itself and it is unclear how a Raranian court would interpret them. The share oshiprequirements and
transfer restrictions contained in our Articledrdorporation, as well as the dual-class structdieur voting capital stock are
designed to ensure compliance with these ownegsidpcontrol restrictions. See “ltem 10B. Memorandand Avrticles of
Association—Description of Capital Stock.” Thesewisions of our Articles of Incorporation may prevehange of control
transactions that might otherwise provide you waithopportunity to realize a premium on your invesitrin our Class A
shares. They also ensure that Panamanians wiihcento control all the decisions of our companytfe foreseeable future.

The protections afforded to minority shareholders Panama are different from and more limited thahdse in the United
States and may be more difficult to enforc

Under Panamanian law, the protections affordeditmrity shareholders are different from, and muarerimited
than, those in the United States and some othér Baterican countries. For example, the legal frevmik with respect to
shareholder disputes is less developed under Pa@amaw than under U.S. law and there are diffepeacedural
requirements for bringing shareholder lawsuitsluding shareholder derivative suits. As a restiipay be more difficult for
our minority shareholders to enforce their rigtgaiast us or our directors or controlling sharebolthan it would be for
shareholders of a U.S. company. In addition, Pan@ndaw does not afford minority shareholders asyrprotections for
investors through corporate governance mechanisrirtstae United States and provides no mandatoyeteoffer or similar
protective mechanisms for minority shareholderh&event of a change in control. While our Articte Incorporation provide
limited rights to holders of our Class A sharesed their shares at the same price as CIASA iretlent that a sale of Class B
shares by CIASA results in the purchaser havingitie to elect a majority of our board, there atieer change of control
transactions in which holders of our Class A sharesld not have the right to participate, includihg sale of interests by a
party that had previously acquired Class B shams CIASA, the sale of interests by another partganjunction with a sale
by CIASA, the sale by CIASA of control to more thame party, or the sale of controlling interest€IASA itself.

Developments in Latin American countries and othemerging market countries may cause the market praf our Class #
shares to decreas

The market value of securities issued by Panamamumpanies may be affected to varying degrees byarmic and
market conditions in other countries, includingesthatin American and emerging market countrieshdugh economic
conditions in emerging market countries outsiderLAmerica may differ significantly from economiomditions in Panama
and Colombia or elsewhere in Latin America, investeeactions to developments in these other c@sitnay have an adverse
effect on the market value of securities of Panaamaissuers or issuers with significant operationisatin America. As a result
of economic problems in various emerging markentoes in the past (such as the Asian financigisnf 1997, the Russian
financial crisis of 1998 and the Argentine finahdasis in 2001), investors have viewed investraentemerging markets with
heightened caution. Crises in other emerging marientries may hamper investor enthusiasm for gezsiof Panamanian
issuers, including our shares, which could advgraffect the market price of our Class A shares.

Item 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company
General

Copa was established in 1947 by a group of Panamamiestors and Pan American World Airways, wipobvided
technical and economic assistance as well as tdpitéally, Copa served three domestic destinasicn Panama with a fleet of
three Douglas C-47 aircraft. In the 1960s, Copahbéts international service with three weeklyilig to cities in Costa Rica,
Jamaica and Colombia using a small fleet of AvrBs7dnd Electra 188s. In 1971, Pan American Worlavays sold its stake

Copa to a group of Panamanian investors who retainatrol of the airline until 1986. During the 188 Copa suspended its
domestic service to focus on international flights.
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In 1986, CIASA purchased 99% of Copa, which wadradled by the group of Panamanian shareholders who
currently control CIASA. From 1992 until 1998, Copas a part of a commercial alliance with Grupo BACnetwork of
Central American airline carriers. In 1997, togetivi¢h Grupo TACA, Copa entered into a strategl@ate with American
Airlines. After a year our alliance with Americarasiterminated by mutual consent. In May 1998, CIA8K a 49% stake in
Copa Holdings to Continental and entered into daresive alliance agreement with Continental praxgdior code-sharing,
joint marketing, technical exchanges and other ecatpve initiatives between the airline

Since 1998, we have grown and modernized our Wbéde improving customer service and reliabilityoia has
expanded its fleet from 13 aircraft to 37 aircr&ft1999, we received our first Boeing 737-7002003 we received our first
Boeing 737-800s, and in 2005 we received our Eirmbraer 190. In the first quarter of 2005, we caetgal our fleet renovation
program and discontinued use of our last Boeing2t8J¥. During the same period, Copa has expanded 24 destinations in
18 countries to 40 destinations in 21 countries.plé@e to continue our expansion, which includesdasing our fleet, over the
next several years.

Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a catfwor (sociedad anonimaduly incorporated under the laws of
Panama with an indefinite duration. Copa Holdings wrganized to be a holding company for Copa eladed companies in
connection with the acquisition by Continentaltsf49% interest in us at that time.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was tleesd-largest
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbepa$sengers carried in 2005, providing predomingrlpt-to-point service
among 12 cities in Colombia and to Copa’s Panarahtib.

Our principal executive offices are located at Bvard Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y AveniddadRotonda,
Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Aanke Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Pareamdaour telephone
number is +507 304-2677. The website of Copa is veepaair.com. AeroRepublica maintains a website at
www.aerorepublica.com.co. Information contained@maccessible through, these websites is not jrozated by reference
herein and shall not be considered part of thimahreport. Our agent for service in the United&tas Puglisi & Associates,
850 Library Avenue, Suite 204, Newark, DelawarelB®7and its telephone number is (302) 738-6680.

Recent Development

CIASA, our controlling shareholder, has recentlgateed an agreement in principle with Continentalikés, Inc.
(“Continental”) to waive the lock-up under the sttaslders agreement dated June 29, 2006, whichntiyrrestricts
Continental’s ability to sell its remaining shaséCopa’s Class A common stock through June 2982@¢e are preparing a
registration statement to be filed with the U.Sci8gies and Exchange Commission. Once the retjstratatement is effectiv
Continental will have the flexibility to sell itemaining shares.

The foregoing shall not constitute an offer to selthe solicitation of an offer to buy any sedest There shall be no
sale of any securities in any jurisdiction in whitch offer; solicitation or sale would be unlawguior to registration under the
securities laws of such jurisdiction.

Capital Expenditures

During 2007, our capital expenditures were $366illiam, which consisted primarily of expenditureslated to our
purchase of ten Embraer 190 aircraft and two Bo@Bigg800 aircraft, as well as to expenditures relategidwance payments
aircraft purchase contracts. During 2006, our ehpixpenditures were $252.0 million, which consigteémarily of
expenditures related to our purchase of five Enmtit@8 aircraft and two Boeing 737-700 aircraftyagl as to expenditures
related to advance payments on aircraft purchaseamts. During 2005, our capital expenditures vir&2.8 million, which
consisted primarily of expenditures related to purchase of two Embraer 190 aircraft, as well asdmenditures related
advance payments on aircraft purchase contracts.

B. Business Overview

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlpessenger and cargo service through our two pahoperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRepublica. Copa opefiatesits strategically located position in the Rbfic of Panama, and
AeroRepublica provides service primarily within Gwibia complemented by international flights fromieas cities in
Colombia to Panama’s Tocumen International Airpdfe currently operate a fleet of 50 aircraft, 2GBg 737-Next
Generation aircraft, 18 Embraer 190 aircraft amdwWiD-80 aircraft. We currently have firm orders, inclhuglipurchase and lee
commitments, for ten Boeing 737-Next Generation eigtit Embraer 190s, and purchase rights and apf@mrup eight
additional Boeing 737-Next Generation and 22 addél Embraer 190s.
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Copa currently offers approximately 125 daily sakled flights among 40 destinations in 21 countimeNorth,
Central and South America and the Caribbean frerR@nama City hub. Copa provides passengers widsado flights to
more than 120 other destinations through codesiramagements with Continental pursuant to whichheadine places its
name and flight designation code on the otherghts. Through its Panama City hub, Copa is abt®tsolidate passenger
traffic from multiple points to serve each destioateffectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 26 Boeing 737-Bexteration aircraft and 11 Embraer 190 aircraftnait average
age of approximately 3.7 years as of December @17 .2To meet its growing capacity requirements,&logs firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, to ac=pery of 14 additional aircraft through 2012dmas purchase rights and
options that, if exercised, would allow it to actdplivery of up to 22 additional aircraft througf13. Copa’s firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, areefoatiditional Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafl éour additional
Embraer 190s, and its purchase rights and optieaup to eight Boeing 737-Next Generation afitand up to 14 Embraer
190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Continkeintd998. Since then, it has conducted joint ménkeand code-
sharing arrangements, and participated in the awamding OnePass frequent flyer loyalty programbglily and on a co-
branded basis in Latin America. We believe that&®po-branding and joint marketing activities wbntinental have
enhanced its brand in Latin America, and that étationship with Continental has afforded it casdated benefits, such as
improving purchasing power in negotiations wittceaft vendors and insurers. Copa’s alliance aratedlservices agreements
with Continental are in effect until 2015.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancaragssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
of Continental. The SkyTeam global alliance netwiodtudes carriers such as Delta Air Lines, Nortkiy&eromexico, Air
France, Alitalia, KLM, Korean Air, AeroFlot, CSA €eh and China Southern. As an Associate Membekyf&m,
passengers flying Copa receive the same alliancefite on Copa flights as they receive on the fbgbf any other member of
this alliance.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was treesd-largest
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbepa$sengers carried in 2005, providing predomingrlpt-to-point service
among 12 cities in Colombia and to Panama CityoRepublica currently operates a fleet of seven Bebt90 and six MD-
80s. As part of its fleet modernization and expamgilan, AeroRepublica has firm orders, includingghase and lease
commitments, to accept delivery of four Embraer &Boraft through the end of 2009 and options tpase up to eight
additional Embraer 190 aircraft through 2011.

Since January 2001, we have grown significantly lzenk established a track record of consistenttphlity,
recording seven consecutive years of increasingiregs. Our total operating revenues have increfrsed $290.4 million in
2001 to $1.0 billion in 2007, while our net incoimees increased from $14.8 million to $161.8 millmrer the same period. Our
operating margins also improved from 8.6% in 26919.2% in 2007.

Our Strengths

We believe our primary business strengths that b#eeed us to compete successfully in the airimistry include
the following:

e Our “Hub of the Americas” airport is strategicallpcated.We believe that Copa’s base of operations at the
geographically central location of Tocumen Inteioradl Airport in Panama City, Panama provides coret
connections to our principal markets in North, Calrind South America and the Caribbean, enabknty u
consolidate traffic to serve several destinatidras o not generate enough demand to justify goipeint service.
Flights from Panama operate with few service disoms due to weather, contributing to high completiactors and
on-time performance. Tocumen International Airpoeea-level altitude allows our aircraft to operaitiout
performance restrictions that they would be sulijeett higher-altitude airports. We believe thap&s hub in
Panama allows us to benefit from Panama City’sistas a center for financial services, shippingammerce and
from Panam'’s stable, dolle-based economy, fr-trade zone and growing touris

24




Table of Contents

We focus on keeping our operating costs lowecent years, our low operating costs and eifficy have contributed
significantly to our profitability. Our operatingst per available seat mile, excluding costs fet &nd fleet
impairment charges, was 7.17 cents in 2003, 7.6fsde 2004, 6.53 cents in 2005, 6.81 cents in 2866 7.13 cents
in 2007. See “Item 5. Operating and Financial Revaed Prospects” for a reconciliation of our opietost per
available seat mile when excluding costs for fuel #ieet impairment charges to our operating cestgvailable seat
mile. We believe that our cost per available set reflects our modern fleet, efficient operatiam the
competitive cost of labor in Panan

Copa operates a modern fle€opa'’s fleet consists of modern Boeing 737-Nextébation and Embraer 190 aircraft
equipped with winglets and other modern cost-sasaimg) safety features. Over the next years, Copadistto
enhance its modern fleet through the addition ¢éast ten additional Boeing 737-Next Generatioaraft and four
new Embraer 190s. We believe that Copa’s modeet flentributes to its on-time performance and laigimpletion
factor (percentage of scheduled flights not card@llWe expect our Boeing 737-700s, B®0s and Embraer 190s
continue offering substantial operational cost adsges in terms of fuel efficiency and maintenacwsts.
AeroRepublica is currently implementing a fleet rapdzation and expansion plan. Since December 2007,
AeroRepublica has taken delivery of eight Embra&#r dircraft and had firm commitments on four adxdi&il Embrae
190s and options for an additional eight Embraéx di€craft.

We believe Copa has a strong brand and a reputdtoquality serviceWe believe that the Copa brand is associ
with value to passengers, providing world-classiserand competitive pricing. For the year endedddeber 31,
2007, Copa Airline’s statistic for on-time perfomta was 86.9%, completion factor was 99.7% and dggg
handling was 2.1 mishandled bags per 1000 passer@er goal is to apply our expertise in thesesateamprove
AeroRepublica’s service statistics to comparablele Our focus on customer service has helpeditd passenger
loyalty. We believe that our brand has also bedraeced through our relationship with Continentadjuding our
joint marketing of the OnePass loyalty program atih America, the similarity of our aircraft livegnd aircraf
interiors and our participation in Continer's Presider's Club lounge progran

Our management fosters a culture of teamwork amtirmoous improvemen®ur management team has been
successful at creating a culture based on teamammdkocused on continuous improvement. Each oemployees ¢
Copa has individual objectives based on corporatésghat serve as a basis for measuring perforendkben
corporate operational and financial targets are emaployees at Copa are eligible to receive bonasesrding to our
profit sharing program. See “Item 6D. Employees & ®so recognize outstanding performance of indafid
employees through company-wide recognition, one-tawards, special events and, in the case of oigrse
management, grants of restricted stock and stottkrap Copa'’s goal-oriented culture and incentikegpams have
contributed to a motivated work force that is faati®n satisfying customers, achieving efficiencied growing
profitability. We seek to create a similar cultateAeroRepublica

Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to grow profitably and emteour position as a leader in Latin American tmeby

providing a combination of superior customer sexyonvenient schedules and competitive faresgewhdintaining
competitive costs. The key elements of our busisgasegy include the following:

Expand our network by increasing frequencies andiraginew destination'\We believe that demand for air travel in
Latin America is likely to expand in the next deeadnd we intend to use our increasing fleet capaximeet this
growing demand. We intend to focus on expandingoperations by increasing flight frequencies onmost
profitable routes and initiating service to newttegtions. Copa’s Panama City hub allows us to clidate traffic
and provide service to certain underserved maretsicularly in Central America and the Caribbesamnd we intend
to focus on providing new service to regional degtons that we believe best enhance the overaitextivity and
profitability of our network. With the addition &mbraer 190 aircraft and growth in overall capacitg expect to
have more flexibility in scheduling our flights four custome’ convenience

25




Table of Contents

«  Continue to focus on keeping our costs Ié¥e seek to reduce our cost per available seatwitte®ut sacrificing
services valued by our customers as we executgrowth plans. Our goal is to maintain a moderntféea to make
effective use of our resources through efficientraift utilization and employee productivity. Weend to reduce our
distribution costs by increasing direct sales,udaig internet and call center sales, as well ggawing efficiency
through technology and automated proces

«  Emphasize superior service and value to our custerWe intend to continue to focus on satisfying owstomers
and earning their loyalty by providing a combinatiaf superior service and competitive fares. Weelelthat
continuing our operational success in keeping fligin time, reducing mishandled luggage and offecionvenient
schedules to attractive destinations will be esaktat achieving this goal. We intend to continaértcentivize our
employees to improve or maintain operating andisemetrics relating to our customers’ satisfactigrcontinuing
our profit sharing plan and employee recognitioogoams and to reward customer loyalty with the pepOnePass
frequent flyer program, upgrades and access taderg's Club lounges

«  Capitalize on opportunities at AeroRepublivde are seeking to enhance AeroRepublica’s profitaihrough a
variety of initiatives, including modernizing iteét, integrating its route network with Copa’s amgroving overall
efficiency. We also seek to increase customer tgymal making further improvements at AeroRepublszch as
implementing the OnePass frequent flyer programimpadoving or-time performance

AeroRepublica

On April 22, 2005, we acquired an initial 85.6% #gownership interest in AeroRepublica which wealdwed by
subsequent acquisitions increasing our total ovinigiiaterest in AeroRepublica to 99.9% as of Decendd, 2007. According
to the Colombian Civil Aviation AdministratiotJnidad Especial Administrative de Aeronautica CjeroRepublica is the
second largest passenger air carrier in Colomhth,avmarket share of approximately 21% of the detineraffic in Colombia
in 2007 and approximately 1,342 employees.

Our goal is to achieve growth at AeroRepublicafipalarly in the business travelers segment. Weebelthat Copa
operational coordination with AeroRepublica mayatesadditional passenger traffic in our existingteonetwork by providing
Colombian passengers more convenient access toténeational destinations served through our Panian.

We have centralized certain administrative functioammon to Copa and AeroRepublica. We have alptementet
e-ticketing at AeroRepublica, and since the fitsarger of 2006, AeroRepublica participates in tmePass frequent flyer
loyalty program. Looking ahead, we seek to compbetefleet renovation program.

Industry
In Latin America, the scheduled passenger servieet consists of three principal groups of trarselstrictly
leisure, business and travelers visiting friends family. Leisure passengers and passengers gdiiends and family typicall

place a higher emphasis on lower fares, whereandmssspassengers typically place a higher empbadight frequency, on-
time performance, breadth of network and servi¢teanements, including loyalty programs and airfmmges.

According to data from the International Air TranspAssociation, or IATA, Latin America comprisegmoximately
7.6% of worldwide passengers flown in 2006, or frilion passengers.
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The Central American aviation market is dominatgdniernational traffic. According to data from IAT
international traffic represented more than 70.4%assengers carried and 85.4% of passenger rtoles fn Central America
in 2006. International passenger traffic is conrat between North America and Central Americas $Bgment represented
85.9% of international passengers flown in CerArrakrica in 2006, compared to 5.7% for passengeverflbetween Central
America and South America and 8.4% for passendmmnfbetween Central American countries. Total pagers flown on
international flights in Central America grew by% in 2006, and load factors on international figgto and from Central

America were 73.0% on average.

Domestic traffic and traffic within Central Americ@ountries represented approximately 35.5% ofquagers carried
and 17.2% of passenger miles flown in 2006. Avetagd factors on domestic flights and flights witi@entral America were
63.9% in 2006. The chart below details passengéidin 2006.

2006 IATA Traffic Results @

Passenger: Passenge
Carried Miles

(Thousands  Change (%) (Millions) Change (%) ASMs (Million)  Change (%) Load Factor
International Scheduled Service
North America— Central Americ: 22,45¢ 7.C% 35,43: 8.8% 48,17¢ 8.C% 73.5%
North America— South Americe 19,74+ 4.8% 39,50¢ 6.3% 52,45¢ 2.4% 75.2%
Central Americe— South Americe 1,48¢ -4.5% 2,46¢ -10.6% 3,52 -13.%% 70.(%
Within Central Americ: 2,19: 1.3% 1,152 5.8% 1,81¢ 6.2% 63.2%
Within South Americ: 9,19( 10.5% 8,86¢ 7.1% 12,50« 5.1% 70.9%
Domestic Scheduled Service
Central Americ: 11,00¢ -4.2% 6,70C -4.2% 10,47: -0.2% 64.(%
South Americe 38,82¢ -3.4% 19,98: -3.3% 28,24¢ -5.3% 70.7%

(@) IATA passenger traffic data is not yet available2007.

Panama serves as a hub for connecting passentfiierlieaween major markets in North, South, and t@#rmerica
and the Caribbean. Accordingly, passenger tradfigrtd from Panama is significantly influenced bgreamic growth in
surrounding regions. Major passenger traffic marketNorth, South and Central America experienagavth in their GDP in
2006 and 2007 on both an absolute and per capsta. ba 2007, real GDP increased by 8.5% in Paremdeby 6.6% in
Colombia, according to the International Monetamyn's estimates.

Brazil
Argentina
Chile
Mexico
Colombia
Panam:
USA

GDP GDP per Capita
2007 GDP 2007 GDP per Capit:
Current Prices 2007 Real GDI Current Prices
(US$hbn) (% Growth) (US$)
1,29¢ 4.4% 6,842
24¢ 7.5% 6,31(
161 5.8% 9,69¢
88¢ 2.5% 8,42¢
172 6.6% 3,614
19 8.5% 5,767
13,79 1.% 45,59¢

Source International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outldoitabase, October 2007; real GDP growth calculatéztal

currency

Panama has benefited from a stable economy witteratalinflation and steady GDP growth. According to
International Monetary Fund estimates, from 1992@07 Panama'’s real GDP grew at an average anateab 6.7% while
inflation averaged 1.4% per year. The service seefmresents approximately 75% of total real GDPamama, a higher
percentage of GDP than the service sector repesentost other Latin American countries. The Wdhk currently
estimates Panama’s population to be approximat8lyndlion in 2007, with the majority of the poptitan concentrated in
Panama City, where our hub at Tocumen Internatidigbrt is located. We believe the combinatioradftable, service-
oriented economy and steady population growth leseld drive our domestic origin and destinatiorspager traffic.
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Domestic travel within Panama primarily consistsnofividuals visiting families as well as domesiitd foreign
tourist visiting the countryside. Most of this tevs done via ground transportation, and its nflaw is to and from Panama
City, where most of the economic activity and papioh is concentrated. Demand for domestic airefrés/growing and relates
primarily to leisure travel from foreign and lod¢alrist. The market is served primarily by two Ibaglines, Air Panama and
Aeroperlas, which operate turbo prop aircraft gathemwith less than 50 seats. These airlines diifeited international service
and operate in the domestic terminal of Panama @itjch is located 30 minutes by car from Tocunmaernational Airport.

Colombia is the third largest country in Latin Argerin terms of population, with a population opagximately
47.5 million in 2007 according to the InternatioMnetary Fund, and has a land area of approximd#0,000 square miles.
Colombia’s GDP was approximately $172 billion ir0ZQand per capita income was approximately $36gand (current
prices) according to the International Monetary dcu@olombia’s geography is marked by the Andeanntens and an
inadequate road and rail infrastructure, makingrairel a convenient and attractive transportagiternative. Colombia share
border with Panama, and for historic, cultural Aodiness reasons it represents a significant méoketany Panamanian
businesses.

Route Network and Schedules
Copa

As of December 31, 2007, Copa provided regularedaled flights to 40 cities in North, Central éwlth America
and the Caribbean. Substantially all of our Cojghfs operate through our hub in Panama which allosvto transport
passengers and cargo among a large number of atémtis with service that is more frequent tharadteroute were served
directly.

We believe our hub-and-spoke model is the mostiefft way for us to operate our business since ofdsie
origination/destination city pairs we serve do geherate sufficient traffic to justify a point-t@ipt service. Also, since we
serve many countries, it would be very difficultdiotain the bilateral route rights necessary taajeea competitive point-to-
point system.

We schedule two morning banks and two evening bahRights, with flights timed to arrive at the bt
approximately the same time and to depart a simoet later.

As a part of our strategic relationship with Coatitel, Copa provides flights through code-sharimgregements to
over 120 other destinations. Copa also providghtii through its tactical and regional code-shaaimgngements with
AeroRepublica, Gol, Aeroméxico and Gulfstream Ing&ional Airlines.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancaragssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
of Continental. The SkyTeam global alliance netwiadtudes carriers such as Delta Air Lines, Nortsty&eromexico, Air
France, Alitalia, KLM, Korean Air, AeroFlot, CSA @eh and China Southern. As an Associate Membekyf&am,
passengers flying on Copa receive the same allibacefits on Copa flights as they receive on tights of any other member
of this alliance.

In addition to increasing the frequencies to desiims we already serve, Copa’s business strateglgd focused on
adding new destinations across Latin America, thgbBean and North America in order to increaseattractiveness of our
Hub of the Americas at Tocumen International Aitgarb for intra-American traffic. We currently plémintroduce new
destinations and to increase frequencies to mattyeodlestinations that Copa currently serves. Tdéian of the Embraer 190
aircraft, together with the Boeing 737-Next Genieratircraft, allows us to improve our service hgreasing frequencies and
service to new destinations with the right-sizedraft.

Our plans to introduce new destinations and ineréasjuencies depend on the allocation of routesicga process
over which we do not have direct influence. Roigats are allocated through negotiations betweergtivernment of Panama
and the governments of countries to which we interidcrease flights. If we are unable to obtaiateorights, we will exercise
the flexibility within our route network to re-altate capacity as appropriate.
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We do not currently provide any domestic servicthanRepublic of Panama, choosing instead to featisely on
international traffic. The following table showsraevenue generated in each of our major operaggmns.

Revenue by Region

Year Ended December 31

Region 2005 2006 2007

North America(1, 17.2% 19.4% 18.%
South Americe 39.6% 41.5% 46.1%
Central America(2 31.6% 29.(% 26.2%
Caribbean(3 11.6% 10.1% 8.8%

(1) The United States, Canada and Mex
(2) Includes Panami
(3) Cuba, Dominican Republic, Haiti, Jamaica, Puertol

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica currently provides scheduled sertadhe following cities in Colombia:

Date Service

Destinations Servec Commenced
Barranquilla Jun 199
Bogota Jun 199
Bucaramang: May 199t
Cali Jun 199
Cartagen: Jun 199
Cdcuta Nov 200¢
Leticia Nov 199:
Medellin Oct 199:
Monteria Jul 199:
Panam: Dec 200!
Pereira Mar 200:
San André: Jun 199
Santa Martz Jun 199

In addition to the destinations described abovepRepublica has periodically operated charter tigh Margarita
Island, Venezuela; Havana, Cuba; Punta Cana, DoaririRepublic and Puerto Plata, Dominican Republic.

AeroRepublica was granted the authorization tadtyular services to Panama City from Bogota, Gédidellin,
Bucaramanga, and Cartagena, Colombia. As a régnbRepublica has added daily flights to Panammg f@aim Bogota,
Medellin, and Cali; three frequencies per week f@antagena, and four frequencies per week from Bmcanga. In
March 2007, AeroRepublica was granted authorizatooperate a second frequency from Bogota to ParGity. Currently,
AeroRepublica is waiting authorization from the @ubian Civil aviation to operate a second frequeinasn Medellin and

Cali, and a new service from Pereira and Barratequil

In addition to code-sharing with Copa, AeroReplileveraging Copa’s technology and relationstopacrease
international traffic with other international ciamns. Colombia has open-skies agreements with tideAn Pact Comunidad

Andina) nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru.
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Airline Operations
Passenger Operations

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately $46ilion in 2005, $631.1 million in 2006 and $756nillion in
2007 representing 92.2%, 93.3% and 93.8%, resdgtiof Copa’s total revenues, all earned fromrimd€ional routes. Leisure
traffic, which makes up close to half of Copa’satdtaffic, tends to coincide with holidays, scheatations and cultural events
and peaks in July and August and again in DecemnigéJanuary. Despite these seasonal variationsy€operall traffic
pattern is relatively stable due to the constaffitxof business travelers. Approximately half a2 passengers regard Pan
City as their destination or origination point, andst of the remaining passengers pass througmRa@ity in transit to other
points on our route network.

AeroRepublica’s business is concentrated on passesegvice and in 2007 its passenger revenue atambior
approximately 93.2% of its total revenues. The mgjo@f AeroRepublica’s customers are leisure ttereand travelers visiting
friends and family, and traffic is heaviest durthg vacation months of July, August and the holisiegson in December.

Cargo Operations

In addition to our passenger service, we makeiefftaise of extra capacity in the belly of our eftby carrying
cargo. Copa’s cargo business generated revenwgpodximately $31.0 million in 2005, $33.2 millian2006 and
$34.7 million in 2007, representing 6.1%, 4.9% &r&P6, respectively, of Copa’s operating revenues.pfimarily move our
cargo in the belly of our aircraft, however, weoalget-lease and charter freighter capacity wheessary to meet our cargo
customers’ needs. In 2007, our cargo business stedsof approximately 85.4% in freight; 13.1% iuder; and 1.6% in mail
service.

Pricing and Revenue Management
Copa

Copa has designed its fare structure to balandesitsfactors and yields in a way that it beliewéls maximize profits
on its flights. Copa also maintains revenue managemolicies and procedures that are intended tomize total revenues,
while remaining generally competitive with thoseoof major competitors.

Copa charges slightly more for tickets on highemded routes, tickets purchased on short noticeothret itineraries
suggesting a passenger would be willing to payeanprm. This represents strong value to Copa’s lessicustomers, who can
count on competitive rates when flying with CopheTumber of seats Copa offers at each fare Ieve¢h market results
from a continual process of analysis and forecgstast booking history, seasonality, the effettompetition and current
booking trends are used to forecast demand. Cuaezg and knowledge of upcoming events at degtimathat will affect
traffic volumes are included in Copsaforecasting model to arrive at optimal seat allions for its fares on specific routes. C
uses a combination of approaches, taking into adogalds, flight load factors and effects on Idadtors of continuing traffic,
depending on the characteristics of the marketgesdeto arrive at a strategy for achieving the pessible revenue per
available seat mile, balancing the average faregeltbagainst the corresponding effect on our laatbfs. In 2005, Copa
replaced its Revenue Management software with Atfraamore sophisticated revenue management syssigne:d by Sabre.

AeroRepublica
Various improvements have been made to AeroRemlblievenue management, pricing capabilities astegys

since its acquisition in 2005. During the fourttacer of 2007, for example, we completed the imgetation of the Airmax
revenue management system at AeroRepublica.
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Relationship with Continental Airlines

It is common practice in the commercial aviatiodustry for airlines to develop marketing and conuigralliances
with other carriers in order to offer a more conpland seamless travel experience to passengese Bliances typically yie
certain conveniences such as code-sharing, fredlyenteciprocity, and, where permitted, coordewscheduling of flights as
well as additional joint marketing activities.

In May 1998, Copa Airlines and Continental Airlinestered into a comprehensive alliance agreemeoatnepassing
a broad array of activities such as Copa’s padimgm in Continental’s frequent flyer programs afié lounge; as well as
agreements in other areas, such as trademarkse &gesements were initially signed for a perioteafyears. In
November 2005, Copa and Continental amended atatedgthese agreements and extended their terngihtbe year 201!

As a result of the Copa -Continental alliance, \&eehbenefited from Continental’s expertise and ggpee over the
past decade. Copa has, for example, fully adoptedi®ntal’'s OnePass frequent flyer program aniédabut a co-branded
joint product in much of Latin America, enablingtosdevelop brand loyalty among our travelers. @t-branding of the
OnePass loyalty programs has helped to leveragerémel recognition that Continental already enjogess Latin America
and enables the two airlines to compete more éffdgtagainst regional competitors such as Grup&A4and the oneworld
alliance represented by American Airlines and LAMiAes. We also share Continental’s Sceptre inmgnmanagement
software, which allows Copa to pool spare parts Wit larger airline and to rely on Continentaptovide engineering support
for maintenance projects. We have also been altekiadvantage of Continental’s purchasing powdrreegotiate more
competitive rates for spare parts and third-paryntenance work. In addition to the Sceptre systeenhave implemented
several important information technology systemshsas the “SHARES” computer reservation systeamieffort to maintain
commonality with Continental

Continental’s continued ownership of Copa sharemis requirement for, or condition of, the ongpualidity or
effectiveness of these agreements. Building orexigting track-record of successful alliance acdishments, Copa and
Continental have started to involve, where appeipriAeroRepublica in aspects of the existing mtiacooperation, beginning
with AeroRepublica’s participation in the OnePassjfient flyer loyalty program.

The Copa — Continental alliance enjoys antitrushimity in the United States which allows the cagi®
coordinate pricing, scheduling and joint marketimgjatives.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancara#ssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
of Continental. The SkyTeam global alliance netwiadtudes carriers such as Delta Air Lines, Nortsty@&eromexico, Air
France, Alitalia, KLM, Korean Air, AeroFlot, CSA @zh and China Southern. As an Associate Membekyf&am,
passengers flying on Copa receive the same allibecefits on Copa flights as they receive on tights of any other member
of this alliance.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Copa

Sales and DistributiomApproximately 72% of sales during 2007 were throtrghel agents and other airlines while
approximately 28% were direct sales via our CT@H,aenters, airport counters or website. Travelrag receive base
commissions, not including back-end incentive paytsieranging from 0% to 10% depending on the cguiitne weighted
average rate for these commissions during 20073v8%. In recent years, base commissions have dextesignificantly in
most markets as more efficient back-end incentregams have been implemented to reward selecedltagencies that
exceed their sales targets.

Travel agents obtain airline travel information asglie airline tickets through global distributsystems, or GDSs,
that enable them to make reservations on fliglotsifa large number of airlines. GDSs are also ugddabel agents to make
hotel and car rental reservations. Copa particgpattively in all major international GDSs, inclndiSABRE, Amadeus,
Galileo and Worldspan. In return for access toal®stems, Copa pays transaction fees that areafigrizased on the number
of reservations booked through each system.
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Copa has a sales and marketing network consistiBg domestic and international ticket offices,liming airport
and city ticket offices. Copa has 33 CTOs co-brandgith Continental and 24 CTOs co-branded with Agpublica. During
the year ended December 31, 2007, approximately d@#% of its sales were booked through its tickeinters and call
center, respectively.

The call center that operates Copa’s reservatindsales services handles calls from Panama assveibst other
countries Copa flies to. Such centralization hasilted in a significant increase in telephone sasei efficiently allowed for
improvements in service levels such as 24-hourya-faays-a-week service, in three different larggpsa

Copa encourages the use of direct Internet boolgds customers because it is Copa’s most efftaiéstribution
channel. During mid 2002, Copa signed a contratit Amadeus to use their booking engine to facditatket purchases on
www.copaair.com and launched the system on Jar@j&903. The cost of each booking via the websiteughly 25% the cc
of a regular travel agency booking. In 2004, Copipased a new booking engine in order to furtbduce distribution costs;
6% of its 2007 sales were made via the websiteaBagpal is to channel more of its total salesubfothe website.

Advertising and Promotional Activitie®ur advertising and promotional activities incluble use of television, print,
radio and billboards, as well as targeted publiati@n events in the cities where we fly. We bedi¢hat the corporate traveler is
an important part of our business, and we partibufromote our service to these customers by cgingethe reliability,
convenience and consistency of our service andinfferalue-added services such as convention anfé@nce travel
arrangements, as well as our Business Rewardgyqyalgram for our frequent corporate travelers. 8\® promote package
deals among the destinations where we fly throughtined efforts with selected hotels and travehagss.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica successfully implemented the OneReagsent flyer program in March 2006. AeroRepUbktso
implemented e-ticket in January 2006 and e-tickiriine with Copa and Amadeus during the secoradtguof 2006,
complementing its call center, 24 city ticket officand 12 airport ticket offices. In February 208&r0Republica was brought
into Copa’s SHARES reservations and check-in ptatfproviding significant benefits in terms of coatsd functionality.

Competition

We face intense competition throughout our routevaek. Overall airline industry profit margins dmv and
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competéhia areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency aighfltimes), on-time
performance, frequent flyer programs and otherisesv Copa competes with a number of other airlihascurrently serve the
routes on which we operate, including Grupo TACAnérican Airlines Inc., Delta Air Lines, MexicanadAvianca. Some of
our competitors, such as American Airlines, havgdacustomer bases and greater brand recognititreimarkets we serve
outside Panama, and some of our competitors hgunéisantly greater financial and marketing res@srthan we have. Airlint
based in other countries may also receive subsi@irsncentives or other state aid from their eetiye governments, which ¢
not provided by the Panamanian government. The aamement of, or increase in, service on the rougeserve by existing
or new carriers could negatively impact our opetesults. Likewise, competitors’ service on reuteat we are targeting for
expansion may make those expansion plans lesstat&ralWe must constantly react to changes in prasel services offered by
our competitors to remain competitive.

Traditional hub-and-spoke carriers in the Unitealt& and Europe have in recent years faced suibsmd
increasing competitive pressure from low-cost easrdffering discounted fares. The low-cost castieperations are typically
characterized by point-to-point route networks &ing on the highest demand city pairs, high aitargfization, single class
service and fewer in-flight amenities. As evidenbgdhe operations of Gol in Brazil and several hew-cost carriers which
have recently launched service or planning to semtice in Mexico, among others, the “low-costiest business model
appears to be gaining acceptance in the Latin Araeraviation industry, and we may face new andtanbial competition fror
low-cost carriers in the future.
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The main source of competition to Copa, and ouarate with Continental, come from the multinatioGalpo
TACA and American Airlines, the U.S. airline withet largest Latin American route network. Colomigarrier Avianca is als
a significant competitor.

Grupo TACA's strategy has been to develop threeskaitSan Jose, Costa Rica, San Salvador, El Salaadd.ima,
Peru, which serve more than 35 cities in 20 coestaind compete with Copa’s hub at Tocumen IntemailtiAirport. Grupo
TACA primarily operates a fleet of Airbus A320 fdynaircraft and they have announced their intentti@ delivery of a
significant number of new Airbus and Embraer 1390raft between now and December 2009. We havesdatseveral of the
Central American and Caribbean countries where GURCA has established service, including Manadliearagua, San
Jose, Costa Rica, Guatemala and the Dominican Repub

American Airlines also offers significant competiti American attracts strong brand recognitionugtmut the
Americas and is able to attract brand loyalty tigtoits “AAdvantage” frequent flyer program. AmenicAirlines competes
through its hubs at Miami and San Juan, Puerto.Rioterican Airlines was a founding member of thewarld global
marketing alliance.

LAN Airlines is another oneworld member that offeesvice to more than 50 destinations, primariljzatin
America. LAN Airlines is comprised of LAN Chile, L& Peru, LAN Ecuador, LAN Argentina, LAN Cargo andM Express.
While we do not compete directly with LAN Airlines many of our current routes, LAN Airlines haswrorapidly over the
past several years and may become a significanpetitor in the future.

Copa has significant presence in destinations wiheréocal airline is less viable and competitisech as the
Dominican Republic (Santo Domingo, Santiago dedaballeros and Punta Cana), Ecuador (Quito and &usy and
Venezuela (Caracas and Maracaibo).

Copa has also established itself as a significkayep on traffic to and from Colombia, with stromgrket share on
routes to and from Barranquilla, Bogota, Cali, @gena, Medellin and San Andres. AeroRepublica ctespeore directly witl
Avianca and other Colombian carriers in the Colamkdomestic market. Avianca emerged from U.S. haptky protection,
after being purchased by Brazil's Synergy GroupiaAga has announced its intention to transform Bbgdo a major
international aviation hub which, if successfulll\wompete directly with our hub at Tocumen Intdrmaal Airport. Avianca
recently announced a fleet renovation project winchudes the Boeing 787 and the Airbus A320 narbody aircraft.

We cannot predict whether Avianca will become nmmpetitive in the future, or if its increased aems from
Bogota will prove successful. The other Colombiarriers against which AeroRepublica competes, Aikesolineas de
Antioquia and the state-owned airline Satena, ctilely accounted for approximately 20.4% of thengstic Colombian
market in 2007. Airlines that seek to compete & @vlombian air transportation market face subgthiparriers to entry, as the
Colombian government requires an airline to opeateast five aircraft and comply with extensiilimg and certification
requirements before it becomes eligible to recdivmestic route rights on certain Colombian routtsvben major cities. In
addition, the number of air carriers offering seevon any route is currently regulated by the Caliam Aviation Authority.

With respect to our cargo operations, we will coné to face competition from all of the major a@ifiht companies,
most notably DHL, which has a cargo hub operatichcgumen International Airport.
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Aircraft
Copa

As of December 31, 2007, Copa operated a fleetistimg of 37 aircraft, including 20 Boeing 737-7R@xt
Generation aircraft, six Boeing 737-800 Next Gefienaaircraft and 11 Embraer 190 aircraft. Copaenity has firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, for tiglitianal Boeing 73M™ext Generation aircraft and four Embraer 190s.&
also has options for an additional 14 Embraer E9faspurchase rights and options for an additioighté8oeing 737-Next
Generation aircraft.

The current composition of the Copa fleet as ofdbelzer 31, 2007 is more fully described below:

Average
Term

of Lease Average
Number of Aircraft Remaining Age Seating
Total Owned Leased (Years) (Years) Capacity
Boeing 73-700 20 14 6 3.2 5.€ 124
Boeing 73-800 6 5 1 4.¢ 2.5 15¢
Embraer 19( 11 11 — — 1.C 9
Total 37 30 7 34 3.7 —

We expect our Copa fleet to continue to centethenBoeing 737-700 model, although we expect toicoatto add
Boeing 737-800s to our fleet to cover high-demandes and Embraer 190s to serve underserved maketsll as fly
additional frequencies where we believe excess ddraagists. The table below describes the expedtec$ our Copa fleet at
the end of each year set forth below, assumingeisiiof all aircraft for which we currently haverfi orders but not taking into
account any aircraft for which we have purchasktsignd options:

Aircraft Type 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
737-700 20 20 20 20 20
737-800(1) 8 10 10 12 14
Embraer 19( 15 15 15 15 15
Total Fleel 43 45 45 47 49

(1) We have the flexibility to choose between Bueing 737-700 or the Boeing 737-800 aircraftrfarst of the 737-700
aircraft deliveries scheduled after 20

The Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft currentlypur Copa fleet are fuel-efficient and suit oueigtions well for
the following reasons:

e They have simplified maintenance procedu
e They require just one type of standardized traifi@rgur crews
*  They have one of the lowest operating costs irr ttlass.

Our focus on profitable operations means that wmgieally review our fleet composition. As a resalur fleet
composition changes over time when we concludedatiding other types of aircraft will help us actaekis goal. The
introduction of any new type of aircraft to ourdtds only done if, after careful consideration, determine that such a step will
improve our profitability. In line with this philephy, after conducting a careful cost-benefit asialywe decided to add the
Embraer 190 aircraft because its combination ofllemsize and highly efficient operating characttids made it the ideal
aircraft to serve new mid-sized markets and toease frequency to existing destinations. The Emldi@@ incorporates
advanced design features, such as integrated asjdhyji-by-wire flight controls, and efficient CF3® engines made by
General Electric. The Embraer E190 has a rangpmbaimately 2,000 nautical miles enabling it tptih a wide range of
destinations from short-haul to certain medium-faagtinations. We have configured Copa’s Embraeradt with a business
class section similar to the business class seat®have on our Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft
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Through several special purpose vehicles, we ctlyreave beneficial ownership of 30 of our aircraficluding 11
Embraer 190s. In addition, we lease six of our Bg€i37-700s and one of our Boeing 737-800s unchgr-ierm operating lea:
agreements that have an average remaining ternd 9€ears. Leasing some of our aircraft providewitls flexibility to change
our fleet composition if we consider it to be irr dest interests to do so. We make monthly rersginents, some of which are
based on floating rates, but are not required tkent@rmination payments at the end of the leaseeBily, we do not have
purchase options in any of our lease agreementefUsur operating lease agreements, we are regoissine cases to
maintain maintenance reserve accounts and in o#ts&s to make supplemental rent payments at thefehe lease that are
calculated with reference to the aircrafts’ maiatere schedule. In either case, we must returnittx@f in the agreed upon
condition at the end of the lease term. Title ®dfrcraft remains with the lessor. We are resppda$or the maintenance,
servicing, insurance, repair and overhaul of theraft during the term of the lease.

To better serve the growing number of businesstess, we introduced business clagigse Ejecutivg in
November of 1998. Our business class service featwelve luxury seats in the Boeing -700s with a 38-inch pitch,
upgraded meal service, special check-in desks,somleage for full-fare business class passenget@ecess to VIP lounges.
Our Boeing 737-800s are currently configured widhblisiness class seats. In 2008, we plan to regoefiour Boeing 737-800
aircraft by adding two additional business clasgsand three additional economy seats, incredlsentptal number of seats
from 155 to 160. Our Embraer 190s have 10 busicless seats in a three abreast configuration asidcB8pitch.

Each of our Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafidsvered by two CFM International Model CFM 56-7RjeTes.
Each of our Embraer 190 aircraft is powered by @#384-10 engines made by General Electric. We ctiyrbave six spare
engines for service replacements and for periaatation through our fleet.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica’s operates a fleet of four leased 8H3; two leased MD-83s, four owned Embraer 190thret
leased Embraer 190, with an average age in ex¢&s4 gears as of December 31, 2007. All of Aeralt#ica’s fleet is
configured as a single class, with the MD fleetihg\an average capacity of 157 seats and the Emb8aefleet having a
capacity of 106 seats. AeroRepublica has firm caments to accept delivery of four Embraer 190 afitahrough the end of
2009 and options to purchase up to eight additiBnatbraer 190 aircraft through 2011.

Maintenance
Copa

The maintenance performed on our Copa aircrafbeadivided into two general categories: line anaviye
maintenance. Line maintenance consists of rousicieeduled maintenance checks on our aircraft, dimdupre-flight, daily and
overnight checks, “A-checks” and any diagnostiad eoutine repairs. Most of Copa'’s line maintenaisgeerformed by Copa’s
own highly experienced technicians at our baseaimabfha. Some line maintenance is also carried @tatdns outside Panama
by Copa employees or third-party contractors. Heaayntenance consists of more complex inspectiodsoaerhauls,
including “C-checks,” and servicing of the aircréifat cannot be accomplished during an overnigdit. Waintenance checks
are performed as defined by the aircraft manufactdhese checks are based on the number of hooademdar months flow!
We have contract with certified outside maintengmeeviders, principally with Panama Aerospace Eegiing, a subsidiary of
Singapore Technologies Aerospace, which is cedltédi® an authorized repair station by the FAA aed¥AC, for heavy aircra
maintenance services. Copa also has an exclusigetésm contract with GE Engines whereby they pétform maintenance
on all of its CFM-56 engines. There were ten heaantenance events in 2007. When possible, Copmpts to schedule
heavy maintenance during its lower-demand seas@ypiiih, May, October and November.
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Copa employs over 200 maintenance professionalsidimg engineers, supervisors, technicians ancharécs, who
perform maintenance in accordance with maintengnograms that are established by the manufactaceapproved and
certified by international aviation authorities.€fy mechanic is trained in factory procedures amesghrough our own rigoro
in-house training program. Every mechanic is lieehBy the AAC and approximately 26 of our mechaaresalso licensed by
the FAA. Copa’s safety and maintenance procedumeeeziewed and periodically audited by the airfcmadinufacturer, the
AAC, the FAA, IATA and, to a lesser extent, eveoydign country to which its flies. Copa’s maintecarfiacility at Tocumen
International Airport has been certified by the FA#&an approved repair station, and each yearARerspects its facilities to
renew the certification. Copa’s aircraft are idifizovered by warranties that have a term of fgears, resulting in lower
maintenance expenses during the period of covefdbef Copa’s mechanics are trained to perforne lmaintenance on both
the Boeing 737-Next Generation and Embraer 19@sadir

AeroRepublica

All line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s MD-80s afwhbraer 190 is performed by AeroRepublica’s indeu
maintenance staff, while C-checks on the MD-80spearéormed by FAA certified third-party aviation me&nance companies.
All of AeroRepublica’s maintenance and safety ptores are performed according to Boeing standaettified by the FAA),
and certified by the Aeronautica Civil of Colomlaiad BVQi, the institute that issues ISO qualitytifieates. All of
AeroRepublica’s maintenance personnel are licehgete Aeronautica Civil of Colombia.

Safety

We place a high priority on providing safe andaelé air service. Copa has uniform safety standandssafety-
related training programs that cover all of its@iens. In particular, Copa periodically evaluates skills, experience and
safety records of its pilots in order to maintdirncs control over the quality of its pilot crewall of Copa’s pilots participate in
training programs, some of which are sponsoredtoyadt manufacturers, and all are required to ugdeecurrent training two
times per year. We have a full time program of iliData Analysis (FOQA) wherein the flight datarfrevery Copa flight is
analyzed for safety or technical anomalies. Dugiig7, Copa successfully completed its second IATp&i@tional Safety Auc
(I0SA).

In the last ten years, Copa has had no accidemsidents involving major injury to passengergveror aircraft. Jus
prior to our acquisition of AeroRepublica, one tsfplanes slid off of a runway in an accident withserious injuries to
passengers; however, the aircraft was severely gleahand declared a total loss by its insurers. Mecently, on July 17, 200
one of our AeroRepublica Embraer 190s overran awatay at Santa Marta, Colombia. As a result of ithcident, six people
suffered minor injuries and the aircraft sustaidathages that caused its permanent removal fronteerv

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulat@uythorities of other countries. As a result ofrtievestigation,
each country is given an International Aviatione®afAssessment, or IASA, rating. Panama is cuiyeated as “Category 17,
which indicates a strong level of confidence inghéety regulation of the AAC.

Airport Facilities

We believe that our hub at Panama City’s Tocumégrh@ational Airport (PTY) is an excellent base pémtions for
the following reasons:

. Panama’s consistently temperate climate is ifigalirport operations. For example, in recent gear
Tocumen was closed and unavailable for flight ofena for a total of less than two hours per year o
average

e Tocumen is the only airport in Central Americahativo operational runways. Also unlike some other
regional airports, we are currently not constraibga lack of available gates/parking position§@umen
and there is ample room to expa
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. From Panama’s central location, our Boeing 73%tXBeneration can efficiently serve long-haul
destinations in South American cities such as 8gatiChile; Montevideo, Uruguay; Cordoba, Argentina
Buenos Aires, Argentina; Rio de Janeiro, Brazitl &30 Paulo, Brazil as well as short-haul destnatin
Central and South Americ

e Travelers can generally make connections easiugh Tocumen because of its manageable size and
Panam’s policies accommodating-transit passenger

Tocumen International Airport is operated by arejpehdent corporate entity established by the goventy, where
stakeholders have a say in the operation and dewelot of the airport. A Copa executive, as a reprdive of the Panaman
Airline Association, holds a seat on the boarchif tirport operator. The law that created thistyntso provided for a
significant portion of revenues generated at Toqutonebe used for airport expansion and improveméttsdo not have any
formal, written agreements with the airport managenthat govern access fees, landing rights ocatiion of terminal gates.
We rely upon our good working relationship with #igport’s management and the Panamanian goverrimenssure that we
have access to the airport resources we needcasphat are reasonable.

We worked closely with the airport’s management emasulted with the IATA infrastructure group tmpide plans
and guidance for Phase | of an airport expansiahgiovided eight new gate positions with jet besigsix new remote parking
positions, expanded retail areas and improved dggdge-handling facilities. The government autheati®70 million to cover
the costs of this expansion. Work on Phase | wagpteted in the third quarter of 2006. A plan phise# the expansion of the
terminal will add 10 to 12 additional jet bridgetgm Copa is actively participating in the desigfirdtion of this expansion, ai
the project is scheduled for completion in the seldoalf of 2009.

We provide all of our own ground services and hiagddf passengers and cargo at Tocumen Internat#onzort. In
addition, we provide services to several of thegpal foreign airlines that operate at Tocumenmaist of the foreign airports
where we operate, foreign airport services comamievide all of our support services other thdassaounter services and
some minor maintenance.

We lease a variety of facilities at Tocumen, inghgdour maintenance hangar and our operationstfasiin the
airport terminal. From our System Operations Cdr@enter located within our corporate headquattei&ling, we dispatch,
track and direct our aircraft throughout the hemép and respond to operational contingencieseesaary. We generally
cooperate with the airport authority to modify thase terms as necessary to account for capitabirements and expansion
plans. Currently, our elite passengers have atoes®resident’s Club at the airport, which is flgimperated with Continental.
The Presideng Club will be expanded to approximately one arlfitmes its current size, utilizing space madeikabde during
the recent expansion of the terminal.

Fuel

Fuel costs are extremely volatile, as they areesitdp many global economic, geopolitical, weatkerironmental
and other factors that we can neither control mwougately predict. Due to its inherent volatiligircraft fuel has historically
been our most unpredictable unit cost. As a resutie world's economic condition, demand for akhsurged, especially in
fast-growing China. This increase in demand couplitd limited refinery capacity and instability @il-exporting countries has
led to a rapid increase in prices.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Copa
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into
plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S.
dollars) $ 101 $ 132  $ 187 $ 21C % 2.2¢
Gallons consumed (in thousan 48,44+ 50,83t 58,92« 70,77( 85,46
Available seat miles (in millions 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.5C 1.4C 1.34 1.3¢ 1.3¢€
AeroRepublici(1)
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into
plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S.
dollars) — —  $ 21z % 222 % 2.4¢
Gallons consumed (in thousan: — — 17,887 28,32: 26,98¢
Available seat miles (in millions — — 95C 1,627 1,62(
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth — — 1.8¢ 1.74 1.67

(1) Since April 22, 2005
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Since 2002, aircraft fuel prices have been riskiigm 2003 to 2007, the average price of West Téxasmediate
crude oil, a benchmark widely used for crude aitgs that is measured in barrels and quoted in dbfars, increased by 134
from $30.99 per barrel to $72.44 per barrel. Wéebelthat fuel prices are likely to increase in filieire and may do so in the
near future. In 2007, we hedged 29% of our requaremthrough the use of jet fuel swap contractshéles hedged
approximately 14% of our anticipated fuel needs2f@®@8 and approximately 3% of our projected fuelstonption for the first
quarter of 2009. We will continue to evaluate vasdedging strategies, and we may enter into additihedging agreements
the future. Any prolonged increase in the pricgbfuel will likely materially and negatively affe our business, financial
condition and results of operation. To date, weehaanaged to offset some of the increases in firdpwith higher load
factors, fuel surcharges and fare increases. litiaddour relative young, winglet-equipped fleé&t@helps us mitigate the
impact of higher fuel prices.

Insurance

We maintain passenger liability insurance in an am@onsistent with industry practice, and we iesour aircraft
against losses and damages on an “all risks” bA&shave obtained all insurance coverage requiyatidoterms of our leasing
and financing agreements. We believe our insurangerage is consistent with airline industry staddand appropriate to
protect us from material loss in light of the aitiés we conduct. No assurance can be given, hawthat the amount of
insurance we carry will be sufficient to protectftam material losses. We have negotiated low puemsion our Copa
insurance policies by leveraging the purchasinggsaf our alliance partner, Continental. Copa’d haH liability operations
are insured under Continental’s joint insuranceécyolith Northwest Airlines. We maintain separatsurance policies for our
AeroRepublica operations.

Environmental

Our operations are covered by various local, naticand international environmental regulationsedéhregulations
cover, among other things, emissions into the apimexe, disposal of solid waste and aqueous efffyaitcraft noise and other
activities that result from the operation of aifer®ur aircraft comply with all environmental stiards applicable to their
operations as described in this annual report. ¥¥e lhired a consulting firm to conduct an environtakaudit of our hanger
and support facilities at the Tocumen Internatidkigbort to determine what, if any, measures wedneemplement in order to
satisfy the Panamanian effluent standards and é#mef@l Environmental Law at those facilities. Adése study of our
effluents has been completed. We plan to implerakmeasures required for compliance based onrtaganmental audit
recently finalized, in order to qualify for the Hranmental Excellence Certification Program befihre Environmental
Authority. Additionally, the Panamanian Civil Aviah Code (RAC) contains certain environmental psmvris that are similar
to those set forth in the General Environmental lcegarding effluents, although such provisions dbaontain compliance
grace periods. In the event the AAC determinesdbafacilities do not currently meet the RAC stard$, we could be subject
to a fine. The measures that will be implementedyant to the environmental audit will also satify requirements of the
RAC. We have installed a water treatment planetves part of our facilities and seek to completegheparation of an
Environmental Remediation and Management PrograkM{ in order to seek approval thereof by the Enonimental
Authority. Such Program shall set forth an enviremtal compliance schedule. While we do not beliéve¢ compliance with
these regulations will expose us to material exjierel, compliance with these or other environmlengigulations, whether ne
or existing, that may be applicable to us in therfe could increase our costs. In addition, faikereomply with these
regulations could adversely affect us in a var@dtways, including adverse effects on our reputatio
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Regulation
Panama

Panamanian law requires airlines providing comnaésgrvices in Panama to hold an Operation Ceat#éiand an
Air Transportation License/Certificate issued bg tAC. The Air Transportation Certificate specifibg routes, equipment
used, capacity, and the frequency of flights. Terificate must be updated every time Copa acguiesv aircraft, or when
routes and frequencies to a particular destinatrermodified.

Panamanian law also requires that the aircraftatpdrby Copa be registered with the PanamaniamiNdtAviation
Registrar kept by the AAC, and that the PanamaN&tional Aviation authority certify the airworthise of each aircraft in
Copa’s fleet. This requirement does not apply tooRepuUblica’s aircraft which are registered in Qolva. Copas aircraft mus
be re-certified every year.

The government of the Republic of Panama doesangt bn equity interest in our company. Bilaterabagents
signed by the government of Panama have protectedperational position and route network, allowirggto have in Panam:
significant hub to transport intraregion traffictin and between the Americas and the Caribbednnt&knational fares are
filed and technically subject to the approval &f flanamanian government. Historically, we have ldénto modify ticket
prices on a daily basis to respond to market candit

We cooperated with the government of Panama tomesite country’s Category 1 status after it wasrdpaded to
Category 2 in early May 2001 by the FAA, a stahat ts important both to the operations of Coparaairline and the general
perception of Panama as a country, particularljiew of the fact that a major initiative is in p&ato boost tourism in Panama.
The country’s Category 1 status was restored Af@4. Our status as a private carrier means tharevaot required under
Panamanian law to serve any particular route amdrae to withdraw service from any of the routesaurrently serve as we
see fit, subject to bilateral agreements. We are fake to determine the frequency of service vier aicross our route network
without any minimum frequencies imposed by the Reardan authorities.

The most significant restriction on our company @sgd by the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended and
interpreted to date, is that Panamanian nationat exercise “effective control” over the operasaf the airline and must
maintain “substantial ownership.” These phrasesiatelefined in the Aviation Act itself and it isclear how a Panamanian
court would interpret them. The share ownershipireqnents and transfer restrictions contained mAgticles of
Incorporation, as well as the structure of our dgitock described under the caption “DescriptbCapital Stock,” are
designed to ensure compliance with these ownegstdpcontrol restrictions created by the Aviatiori. Aghile we believe that
our ownership structure complies with the ownersimg control restrictions of the Aviation Act aseirpreted by a recent
decree by the Executive Branch, we cannot assuréhat a Panamanian court would share our intexpoet of the Aviation
Act or the decree or that any such interpretatiwosld remain valid for the entire time you hold &@lass A shares.

Although the Panamanian government does not clyrkeate the authority to dictate the terms of emie, the
government is responsible for negotiating the ei@tagreements with other nations that allow utytm other countries.
Several of these agreements require Copa to refeff@ctively controlled” and “substantially owne#dy Panamanian nationals
in order for us to use the rights conferred byageeements. Such requirements are analogous Ratiemanian aviation law
described above that requires Panamanian contmirdfusiness.

Antitrust regulation, enforcement

In 1996, the Republic of Panama enacted antitegsslation, which regulates industry concentratiod vertical
anticompetitive practices and prohibits horizowrtlusion. The Consumer Protection and Free Traatbdity is in charge of
enforcement and may impose fines only after a coempeourt renders an adverse judgment. The lasv@tsvides for direct
action by any affected market participant or consyrimdependently or though class actions. Theda@s not provide for the
granting of antitrust immunity, as is the caseh@ United States. In February 2006, the antitegislation was amended to
increase the maximum fines that may be assessetbfations to $1,000,000 fgrer seviolations and $250,000 for relative
violations of antitrust law.
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Noise regulations effects

Panama has adopted Annex 16 of the ICAO reguladadshe noise abatement provisions of ICAO, thnoBgok
X1V of the Panamanian Civil Aviation RegulationsAR). Thus, articles 227-229 of Book XIV of the RA€quire aircraft
registered in Panama to comply with at least Seageise requirements, and all aircraft registecedtfe first time with the
Panamanian Civil Aviation Authority after January2D03, to comply with Stage 3 noise restrictiddsrrently, all the airplane
we operate or have on order meet the most stringisé requirements established by both ICAO aadNAC.

Colombia

The Colombian aviation market is heavily reguldbgdhe Colombian Civil Aviation Administration, Usted Especi:
Administrativa de Aeronautica Civil, or AeronautiCavil. Colombia is a Category 1 country under E#A’s IASA program.
With respect to domestic aviation, airlines mustsent feasibility studies to secure specific raigfiets, and no airline may
serve the city pairs with the most traffic unlesattairline has at least five aircraft with theimarthiness certificates in force.
In addition, Aeronautica Civil sets maximum fares éach route and a maximum number of competidipesrfor each route
based on the size of the city pairs served. AiglimColombia must also add a surcharge for fudieéd ticket prices. In
addition, since November 2006, airlines have taghan administrative fee (“Tarifa administrativédy each ticket sold
through airlines direct channels. Passengers inr@lola are also entitled by law to compensatiorases of delays in excess of
four hours, over- bookings and cancellations. Gilyethe San Andres, Bogoté, Cali, Cartagena aamdaBquilla airports are
under private management arrangements. Furtherthergovernment is privatizing other airports idento finance necessary
expansion projects and increase the efficiencypefations, which may lead to increases in landees fand facility rentals at
those airports.

Colombia has open-skies agreements with Arubal@mdihdean Pact (Comunidad Andina) nations of Baivi
Ecuador and Peru. AeroRepublica has been grantaasthof 30 of the 56 available route rights fovise by Colombian
carriers between Colombia and Panama and, aslg tegan scheduled service between the two casnimilate 2005. In
addition, AeroRepublica was granted five extratbilal frequencies per week to fly the Bucaramand@anama route. In
November 2007 the Colombian civil aviation authedzAeroRepublica to fly from Bogota to Miami (sevfights per week
and from Cali and/or Medellin to Miami (five timgser week).

u.s.

Operations to the United States by non-U.S. alisech as Copa, are subject to Title 49 of the Od8le, under
which the DOT, the FAA and the TSA exercise regulatuthority. The U.S. Department of Justice &las jurisdiction over
airline competition matters under the federal amitlaws.

Authorizations and LicenseBhe DOT has jurisdiction over international aviatiwith respect to the United States
and related route authorities, subject to reviewhgyPresident of the United States. The DOT a#sojlrisdiction with respect
to unfair practices and methods of competition ibjn@s and related consumer protection matters avéeauthorized by the
DOT to engage in scheduled and charter air tratesgam services, including the transportation afspes, property (cargo) and
mail, or combinations thereof, between points indPaa and points in the United States and beyordrftérmediate points in
other countries). We hold the necessary authoozatirom the DOT in the form of a foreign air carmpermit, an exemption
authority and statements of authorization to cohduc current operations to and from the United&3taThe exemption
authority was granted by the DOT in February 1998 w&as due to expire in February 2000. Howeverathtbority remains in
effect by operation of law under the terms of thimAnistrative Procedure Act pending final DOT antan the application we
filed to renew the authority on January 3, 2000er€rcan be no assurance that the DOT will granapipéication. Our foreign
air carrier permit has no expiration date.
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Our operations to the United States are also sutgeegulation by the FAA with respect to safetgttars, including
aircraft maintenance and operations, equipmertadirnoise, ground facilities, dispatch, commutiares, personnel, training,
weather observation, air traffic control and othmatters affecting air safety. The FAA requires e@chign air carrier serving
the United States to obtain operational specificetipursuant to Part 129 of its regulations anddet operational criteria
associated with operating specified equipment gmagd international routes. We believe that weim@mpliance in all
material respects with all requirements necessanyaintain in good standing our operations spedifinis issued by the FAA.
The FAA can amend, suspend, revoke or terminatethBpecifications, or can suspend temporarily woke permanently our
authority if we fail to comply with the regulationend can assess civil penalties for such failimnodification, suspension or
revocation of any of our DOT authorizations or FAperating specifications could have a material exbreffect on our
business. The FAA also conducts safety audits asdhe power to impose fines and other sanctiangdtations of airline
safety regulations. We have not incurred any maltéiries related to operations.]

Security.On November 19, 2001, the U.S. Congress passedharRfesident signed into law, the Aviation and
Transportation Security Act, (the “Aviation Secyrict”). This law federalized substantially all aspectsiuil @aviation securit
and created the TSA, an agency of the Departmerbofeland Security, to which the security respaiisés previously held
by the FAA were transitioned. The Aviation Secuityt requires, among other things, the implemeotatif certain security
measures by airlines and airports, such as theresgent that all passenger bags be screened ftosixgs. Funding for airline
and airport security required under the Aviatioc8#ty Act is provided in part by a $2.50 per seghygassenger security fee
for flights departing from the U.S., subject tol0%er roundtrip cap; however, airlines are residam$or costs incurred to me
security requirements beyond those provided by®w. There is no assurance this fee will not bsewin the future as the
TSA's costs exceed the revenue it receives frometiiees. Implementation of the requirements ofthiation Security Act has
resulted in increased costs for airlines and thassengers. Since the events of September 11, th@0W,S. Congress has
mandated and the TSA has implemented numerousitygaracedures and requirements that have imposddnl continue to
impose burdens on airlines, passengers and shippers

Passenger Facility Chargeblost major U.S. airports impose passenger fadilitgrges. The ability of airlines to
contest increases in these charges is restrictéedeyal legislation, DOT regulations and judidatisions. With certain
exceptions, air carriers pass these charges asstepgers. However, our ability to pass throughgrager facility charges to
our customers is subject to various factors, inclgianarket conditions and competitive factors. Thaent cap on passenger
facility charges is $4.50 per segment, subjecht8¥8 per roundtrip cap; however, there is legistain Congress to raise the
cap on passenger facility charges.

Airport AccessTwo U.S. airports at which we operate, John F. Kelyrinternational Airport in New York (“JFK”)
and Reagan National Airport in Washington, D.Cyehaeen designated by the FAA as “high densitfitrafrports”. From
time to time, operations at these airports have Isebject to arrival and departure slot restrictidaring certain periods of the
day. Although slot restrictions at JFK were elint@thas of January 1, 2007, on January 15, 2008 AlAeissued an order
limiting the number of scheduled flight operati@is)FK during peak hours to address the over-sdingdaongestion and
delays at JFK during 2007. The DOT also recentlyésl a notice of proposed amendment to its AifRates and Charges
policy that would allow airports to establish noeight based fees during peak hours in a effoiitd tongestion. We cannot
predict the outcome of this potential rule changeor costs or ability to operate in congestedaats

Noise RestrictiondJnder the Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990ABICA, and related FAA regulations,
aircraft that fly to the United States must compith certain Stage 3 noise restrictions, which@nmgently the most stringent
FAA operating noise requirements. All of our Copraraft meet the Stage 3 requirement.

Other RegulationFAA regulations also require compliance with thaffic Alert and Collision Avoidance System,
approved airborne windshear warning system andyagjneraft regulations. Our fleet meets these meguénts. In addition, all
air carriers are subject to certain provisionshef Communications Act of 1934, because of theiersive use of radio and otl
communication facilities, and are required to albti aeronautical radio license from the Federah@anications Commissic
(FCC). To the extent we are subject to FCC requéres) we have taken and will continue to take edlessary steps to comply
with those requirements. Additional U.S. laws aegulations have been proposed from time to timedbald significantly
increase the cost of airline operations by imposidditional requirements or restrictions on aidin€here can be no assurance
that laws and regulations currently enacted or texaia the future will not adversely affect ourldapito maintain our current
level of operating results.
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Other Jurisdictions

We are also subject to regulation by the aviateutatory bodies which set standards and enfordenah aviation
legislation in each of the jurisdictions to whicle Wy. These regulators may have the power toaesf enforce environmental
and safety standards, levy fines, restrict opematimithin their respective jurisdictions or any @tipowers associated with
aviation regulation. We cannot predict how thesgous regulatory bodies will perform in the futuaed the evolving standards
enforced by any of them could have a material abveffect on our operations.

C. Organizational Structure

The following is an organizational chart showingp@d-oldings and its principal subsidiaries.

Copa Holdings, S.A.

(Panama)
04 5%, 04 Q* 1005,
| 1
Compaiiia Panameiia de AcroRepiblica, S.A. Owval Financial Leasing,
Aviacidn, S.A. (Copa) (Colombia) Lid.
(Panama) {British Virgin Islands)

*  Includes ownership by us held through wh-owned holding companies organized in the BritistgWi Islands

Copa is our principal airline operating subsididrgt operates out of our hub in Panama and proyidssenger
service in North, South and Central America and@hebbean. AeroRepublica S.A. is our operatingsiliary that is primarily
engaged in domestic air travel within Colombia. (Riaancial Leasing, Ltd. controls the special msp vehicles that have a
beneficial interest in the majority of our aircraft

D. Property, Plants and Equipment
Headquarters

In 2005, we moved into a newly built headquartengding located six miles away from Tocumen Intetioral
Airport. We have leased five floors consisting ppeoximately 104,000 square feet of the buildirapfrDesarollo Inmobiliario
del Este, S.A., an entity controlled by the sanwgrof investors that controls CIASA, under a 1@+jease at a rate of
$106,000 per month during the first three yeard 03100 per month from year 4 to year 6, $113,00thfyear 7 to year 9 and
$116,000 per month in year 10, which we believed@ market rate. During the fourth quarter of 2006 sold our previous
headquarters building in Panama City to a thirdypar

Other property

At Tocumen International Airport, we lease a maiatgce hangar, operations offices in the termirmlnter space,
parking spaces and other operational properties fhe entity that manages the airport. We pay apmately $82,000 per
month for this leased property. Around Panama @ig/also lease various office spaces, parking spaice other properties
from a variety of lessors, for which we pay appnoately $8,000 per month in the aggregate.
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In each of our destination cities, we also leasesmat the airport for check-in, reservations arpbe ticket office
sales, and we lease space for CTOs in more thaf tBése cities.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica leases most of its airport and adyet offices. Owned properties include one citkéit office, a
warehouse close to the airport and one floor igh-hise building in downtown Bogota.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospest
A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion in confiamcwith our consolidated financial statements dnel related
notes and the other financial information includdgewhere in this annual report.

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlpessenger and cargo service through our two pahoperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRepublica. Copa opefi@esits strategically located position in the Rbfic of Panama, and
AeroRepublica provides service primarily within Gwibia complemented by international flights fromieas cities in
Colombia to Panama’s Tocumen International Airpdfe currently operate a fleet of 50 aircraft, 2GBg 737-Next
Generation aircraft, 18 Embraer 190 aircraft andD-80 aircraft. We currently have firm orders, incluglipurchase and lee
commitments, for ten Boeing 737-Next Generation eigtit Embraer 190s, and purchase rights and apf@rup eight
additional Boeing 737-Next Generation and 22 addél Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 125 daily sakled flights among 40 destinations in 21 countimeNorth,
Central and South America and the Caribbean frerR@nama City hub. Copa provides passengers wadsado flights to
more than 120 other destinations through codesiramagements with Continental pursuant to whichheadine places its
name and flight designation code on the otherghts. Through its Panama City hub, Copa is abt®isolidate passenger
traffic from multiple points to serve each destioateffectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 26 Boeing 737-Rexteration aircraft and 11 Embraer 190 aircrafthait average
age of approximately 3.7 years as of December @17 .2To meet its growing capacity requirements,ogs firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, to ac=pery of 14 additional aircraft through 2012dmas purchase rights and
options that, if exercised, would allow it to actdplivery of up to 22 additional aircraft througB13. Copa’s firm orders are
for ten additional Boeing 737-Next Generation aftand four additional Embraer 190s, and its pasetrights and options are
for up to eight Boeing 737-Next Generation airceaftl up to 14 Embraer 190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Continkeimtd998. Since then, it has conducted joint manigeand code-
sharing arrangements, and participated in the awarding OnePass frequent flyer loyalty programbglily and on a co-
branded basis in Latin America. We believe that&®po-branding and joint marketing activities w@bntinental have
enhanced its brand in Latin America, and that étationship with Continental has afforded it coslted benefits, such as
improving purchasing power in negotiations wittceaft vendors and insurers. Copa’s alliance aratedlservices agreements
with Continental are in effect until 2015.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was tleesd-largest
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbepa$sengers carried in 2006, providing predomingrdlpt-to-point service
among 12 cities in Colombia and to Panama CityoRepublica currently operates a fleet of seven Bebt90 and six MD-
80s. As part of its fleet modernization and expamgilan, AeroRepublica has firm orders, includingghase and lease
commitments, to accept delivery of four Embraer &Boraft through the end of 2009 and options tpase up to eight
additional Embraer 190 aircraft through 2011.
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Fuel is our single largest operating expense and,rasult, our results of operations are likelgdaotinue to be
materially affected by the cost of fuel as compawitti prior periods. Prices for jet fuel have risagnificantly in 2007 and
remained at historically high levels. From 2002087, the average price of West Texas Intermediaige oil, a benchmark
widely used for crude oil prices that is measurebdrrels and quoted in U.S. dollars, increasetid?o from $30.99 per barrel
to $72.44 per barrel. To date, we have managetfgetsome of the increases in fuel prices wittheigoad factors, fuel
surcharges and fare increases. In addition, oativelyoung, winglet-equipped fleet also helps itgyate the impact of higher
fuel prices. We have hedged approximately 14% ofanticipated fuel needs for 2008 and approximadétyof our projected
fuel consumption for the first quarter of 2009. Wil continue to evaluate various hedging strategand we may enter into
additional hedging agreements in the future.

Our 2005 acquisition of AeroRepublica has affe¢tedcomparability of our recent results of operaso

On April 22, 2005 we acquired an initial 85.6% aguwnership interest in AeroRepublica which waofeed by
subsequent acquisitions increasing our total ovinigiiaterest in AeroRepublica to 99.9% as of Decendd, 2007. According
to the Colombian Civil Aviation AdministratiotJnidad Especial Administrativa de Aeronautica Cjuih 2007 AeroRepublica
was the seconliwgest domestic carrier in Colombia in terms afniver of passengers carried, providing service ani@ngjties
in Colombia and to Panama City with a point-to-pegute network.

We began to consolidate AeroRepublica’s resultspefations in our consolidated financial statembetinning
April 22, 2005. We report AeroRepublica’s operati@s a separate segment in our financial stateraedtthe related notes.
See Note 18 to our audited financial statementsidiec! elsewhere in this annual report for segmate tbr AeroRepublica for
the year ended December 31, 2007. As a resuliatyuisition and our consolidation of AeroRepcdk results as of
April 22, 2005, our financial information prior tmd after the acquisition is not comparable.

Regional Economic Environment

Our historical financial results have been, ancewect them to continue to be, materially affedtgdhe general
level of economic activity and growth of per camitaposable income in North, South and Central Acaeand the Caribbean
(drivers of our passenger revenue) and the volummade between countries in the region (the ppalkdriver of our cargo
revenue).

According to data fronThe Preliminary Overview of the Economies of La&tmerica and the Caribbegran annual
United Nations publication prepared by the Econobeeelopment Division, the economy of Latin Amer{galuding the
Caribbean) grew by approximately 5.6% in both 2806@ 2006, while the region’s per capita gross daimpsoduct is
estimated to have risen by approximately 4.2% @720n recent years, the Panamanian economy hsslylvacked the Latin
American economy as a whole. In 2007, howeverP#mgamanian economy grew in real terms by approeim8t5% (versus
8.1% in 2006), according to the International Mamgt-und’s estimates, and significantly exceededgtiowth rate of the
region. Inflation in Panama rose approximately 3i8%007 (versus 2.5% in 2006). Additionally, thel@nbian economy has
experienced relatively stable growth. Accordinghe International Monetary Fund estimates, the @blan gross domestic
product grew by approximately 4.7% in 2005, 6.8%&@nd 6.6% in 2007, with inflation (as indicatgdthe consumer price
index) rising by approximately 5.0% in 2005, 4.3%2D06 and 5.5% in 2007.

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from passengerspartation which represents approximately 94%unfrevenues
with approximately 6% derived from cargo and oftexenues.
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We recognize passenger revenue when transportatppovided and when unused tickets expire. Pagsergenues
reflect the capacity of our aircraft on the routesfly, load factor and yield. Our capacity is maasl in terms of available seat
miles (ASMs) which represents the number of seadable on our aircraft multiplied by the numbémnales the seats are
flown. Our usage is measured in terms of revenssgrager miles (RPMs) which is the number of revgrassengers multipli
by the miles these passengers fly. Load factah@percentage of our capacity that is actuallyldsepaying customers, is
calculated by dividing RPMs by ASMs. Yield is theeeage amount that one passenger pays to fly oiee Wie use a
combination of approaches, taking into accountgiellight load factors and effects on load factfrsonnecting traffic,
depending on the characteristics of the marketgesdeto arrive at a strategy for achieving the pessible revenue per
available seat mile, balancing the average faregeltbagainst the corresponding effect on our laatbfs.

We recognize cargo revenue when transportatioroisigied. Our other revenue consists primarily afess baggage
charges, ticket change fees and charter flights.

Overall demand for our passenger and cargo seriddeghly dependent on the regional economic emvirent in
which we operate, including the GDP of the coustrie serve and the disposable income of the residéthose countries. V
believe that approximately 50% of our passengesetrat least in part for business reasons, andrtheth of intraregional
trade greatly affects that portion of our busing$® remaining 50% of our passengers are tounistseelers visiting friends
and family.

The following table sets forth our capacity, loadtbr and yields for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007

Copa Segmet

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 4,408.¢ 5,239.: 6,297.¢

Load factot 73.8% 77.8% 78.8%

Yield (in cents) 14.47 15.4¢ 15.3¢
AeroRepublica Segme(1)

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 950.t 1,627.: 1,620.¢

Load factot 62.(% 57.%% 57.2%

Yield (in cents)(2] 16.5% 17.7¢ 22.7¢

(1) Since April 22, 2005

(2) AeroRepublica has not historically distindied between revenue passengers and non-reveneagass While we are
implementing systems at AeroRepublica to recorditifarmation, revenue passenger information ahemstatistics
derived from revenue passenger data for the yeteceDecember 31, 2005 has been derived from estntiaat we
believe to be materially accura

Seasonality

Generally, our revenues from and profitability of dlights peak during the northern hemispheretasier season in
July and August and again during the December andaly holiday season. Given our high proportiofixefd costs, this
seasonality is likely to cause our results of ofyena to vary from quarter to quarter.

Operating Expenses

The main components of our operating expensesi@rafafuel, salaries and benefits, passengercan,
commissions, aircraft maintenance, reservationssates and aircraft rent. A common measure of pigrcosts in the airline
industry is cost per available seat mile (CASM)jahhis generally defined as operating expensesiéi/by ASMs.

Aircraft fuel. The price we pay for aircraft fuel varies signifitig from country to country primarily due to local
taxes. While we purchase aircraft fuel at all thpats to which we fly, we attempt to negotiatelfag contracts with
companies that have a multinational presence iardodbenefit from volume purchases. During 2087a aesult of the location
of its hub, Copa purchased approximately 58% ddiitsraft fuel in Panama, where it was able to iobt@tter prices due to
volume discounts. Copa has over eleven supplieagrofaft fuel across its network. In some casesan&er fuel in order to
minimize our cost by fueling in airports where fpelces are lowest. Our aircraft fuel expensesar@ble and fluctuate based
on global oil prices.
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From 2003 to 2007, the average price of West Téxasmediate crude oil, a benchmark widely used:cfade oil prices that is
measured in barrels and quoted in U.S. dollarseased by 134% from $30.99 per barrel to $72.44peel. To date, we have
managed to offset some of the increases in fuekpnvith higher load factors, fuel surcharges ane increases. In addition,
our relative young, winglet-equipped fleet alsopsalis mitigate the impact of higher fuel pricesstbtiically, we have not
hedged a significant portion of our fuel costs. é&e entered into hedging agreements with respegigroximately 14% of
our projected fuel needs for 2008 and 3% of oukrieeds for the first quarter of 2009.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Copa Segmet
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into

plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S. dolla  $ 101 % 132 % 187 $ 21C % 2.2¢
Gallons consumed (in thousan 48,44« 50,83 58,92« 70,77( 85,46
Available seat miles (in millions 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.5C 1.4C 1.34 1.3¢ 1.3¢€
AeroRepublici(1)
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into

plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S. dolla — — % 21z % 2242 % 245
Gallons consumed (in thousani — — 17,88’ 28,32: 26,98¢
Available seat miles (in millions — — 95( 1,621 1,62(
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth — — 1.8¢ 1.7¢ 1.67

(1) Since April 22, 2005

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits expenses have historicalheased at the rate of inflation and by the
growth in the number of our employees. In somes;ase have adjusted salaries of our employeesrtesmond to changes in
the cost of living in the countries where these leyges work. We do not increase salaries baseémiority.

Passenger servicing expens@sir passenger servicing expenses consist of expéorskability insurance, baggage
handling, catering, in-flight entertainment andesthosts related to aircraft and airport servigégse expenses are generally
directly related to the number of passengers wey carthe number of flights we operate.

CommissionsOur commission expenses consist primarily of paymor ticket sales made by travel agents and
commissions paid to credit card companies. Tragehts receive base commissions, not including leackincentive program
ranging from 0% to 9% depending on the country.ifiuthe last few years we have reduced our comanissxpense per
available seat mile as a result of an industry-vitdad of paying lower commissions to travel ages@nd by increasing the
proportion of our sales made through direct chanrwle expect this trend to continue as more otastomers become
accustomed to purchasing through call centerstaodigh the internet. While increasing direct satey increase the
commissions we pay to credit card companies, weaxpat the savings from the corresponding redndti travel agency
commissions will more than offset this increaserelcent years, base commissions paid to traveltag@ve decreased
significantly. At the same time, we have encouragadel agencies to move from standard base conmonis$o incentive
compensation based on sales volume and fare types.

Maintenance, material and repair expeng@ar maintenance, material and repair expensesstafsaircraft repair
and charges related to light and heavy maintenahoar aircraft, including maintenance materialg@iMenance and repair
expenses, including overhaul of aircraft componeares charged to operating expenses as incurretl. Aliaverage age of only
3.7 years as of December 31, 2007, our Copa féeptires a low level of maintenance compared tolter fleets of some of
our competitors. We also currently incur lower nt@mance expenses on our Boeing and Embraer aibarediuse a significant
number of our aircraft parts remain under multiry@arranties. As the age of our fleet increasesvemeh our warranties
expire, our maintenance expenses will increaseolfeconduct line maintenance internally and outselineavy maintenance
to independent third party contractors. In 2003 negotiated with GE Engine Services a maintenanseper hour program for
the repair and maintenance of our CFM-56 enginastwiower our Boeing 737 Next Generation fleet. ©ugine maintenance
costs are also aided by the sea-level elevati@muohub and the use of winglets which allow usgerate the engines on our
Boeing 737-700s with lower thrust, thus puttinglegain on the engines.
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Line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s MD-80s and Eaebfleet is performed by AeroRepublica’s in-house
maintenance staff. Heavy maintenance for the MDi8@&rformed by FAA-certified third-party aviatiomaintenance
companies. The average age of AeroRepublica’s dieef December 31, 2007 was 7.4 years.

Aircraft rent. Our aircraft rental expenses are generally fixethigyterms of our operating lease agreements.
Currently, six of Copa’s operating leases havedfisaes which are not subject to fluctuations terest rates and the seventh is
tied to LIBOR. All of AeroRepublica’s operating &ss have fixed rates which are not subject todhtains in interest rates.
Our aircraft rent expense also includes rental matsrelated to our wet-leasing of freighter aftd@supplement our cargo
operations.

Reservations and sales expen€as: reservations and sales expenses arise prinfiamity payments to global
distribution systems, such as Amadeus and Salaelishour flight offerings on reservation systeansund the world. These
reservation systems tend to raise their rates giegbly, but we expect that if we are successfi@ngouraging our customers to
purchase tickets through our direct sales chantiese costs will decrease as a percentage ofpeuating costs. A portion of
our reservations and sales expense is also cordmrisrur licensing payments for the SHARES reséowaind check-in
management software we use, which is not expeotetiange significantly from period to period.

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rentadse generally directly related to the number @ftfts we operate.

Otherincludes publicity and promotion expenses, experslaged to our cargo operations, technology rdlate
initiatives and miscellaneous other expenses.

Taxes

We are subject to income tax in Panama based apritheple of territoriality. Beginning in 2004, wadopted an
alternate method of calculating tax in Panama. @aseArticle 121 of Executive Decree 170 of 1998amended in 1996,
income for international transportation compangesalculated based on a territoriality method tieérmines gross revenues
earned in Panama by applying the percentage o§fiden within the Panamanian territory againsatotvenues. Under this
method, loss carry-forwards cannot be applied teedtax liability. Prior to 2004, our Panamaniarable income was
estimated using revenues from passengers origgnatiar destined for Panama which typically resiiitelosses for purposes
Panamanian corporate income tax. Dividends fromP@auramanian subsidiaries, including Copa, are atprisubject to a ten
percent tax if such dividends can be shown to biwel: from Panamanian income that has not beermwibe taxed.

AeroRepublica’s taxes are based on Colombian indamé&gislation, which calculates tax based orhib&éer of the
“ordinary” and “presumptive” income. “Ordinary” inme is defined as the company’s operating resaoliguColombian
GAAP and “presumptive” income is defined as 3% ef assets under Colombian GAAP.

We are also subject to local tax regulations irhezche other jurisdictions where we operate,great majority of
which are related to the taxation of our incomesdme of the countries to which we fly, we do r@y pny income taxes
because we do not generate income under the lathes# countries either because they do not haeeria tax or due to
treaties or other arrangements those countries\Wakid?anama. In the remaining countries, we pagnme tax at a rate ranging
from 25% to 34% of our income attributable to thosantries. Different countries calculate our ineoim different ways, but
they are typically derived from our sales in thelagable country multiplied by our net margin or &ypresumed net margin set
by the relevant tax legislation. The determinatibour taxable income in several countries is based combination of
revenues sourced to each particular country andltbeation of expenses to that particular couritlye methodology for
multinational transportation company sourcing oferaue and expense is not always specifically piteesdin the relevant tax
regulations, and therefore is subject to interpi@teby both ourselves and the respective tax aifite®. Additionally, in some
countries, the applicability of certain regulatigm/erning non-income taxes and the determinatiaupfiling status are also
subject to interpretation. We cannot estimate theumt, if any, of the potential tax liabilities thaight result if the allocations,
interpretations and filing positions we use in @uépg our income tax returns were challenged bytakeauthorities of one or
more countries. It is possible that we may becounfgest to tax in jurisdictions in which, for prigears, we had not been
subject to tax and that, in the future, we may bezsubject to increased taxes in the countrieshiohwve fly.

47




Table of Contents

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a bitagreement between Panama and the United Statese
exempt from the U.S. source transportation incaamederived from the international operation of ft

We paid taxes totaling approximately $7.4 millior2005, $11.3 million in 2006 and $16.6 million2@07.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires our ragament to
adopt accounting policies and make estimates afghjents to develop amounts reported in our coreeléetfinancial
statements and related notes. We strive to maiatahocess to review the application of our acdagrpolicies and to evaluate
the appropriateness of the estimates requiredhéopteparation of our consolidated financial staets. We believe that our
estimates and judgments are reasonable; howevea| aesults and the timing of recognition of sachounts could differ from
those estimates. In addition, estimates routinedpire adjustments based on changing circumstamzkthe receipt of new or
better information.

Critical accounting policies and estimates arerdefias those that are reflective of significangjudnts and
uncertainties and potentially result in materigifferent results under different assumptions awebiions. For a discussion of
these and other accounting policies, see Noteolit@nnual consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognitioffassenger revenue is recognized when transportatovided rather than when a ticket is
sold. The amount of passenger ticket sales naegegnized as revenue is reflected in the “Airftcdfability” line on our
consolidated balance sheet. Fares for ticketshinag expired and/or are more than one year oldeamgnized as passenger
revenue upon expiration.

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized wiqmrovide the shipping services and thereby cetapthe
earning process. Other revenue is primarily coreprisf excess baggage charges, commissions earn#ets sold for flights
on other airlines and charter flights and is recogshwhen transportation or service is provided.

Frequent flyer programWe patrticipate in Continental’s frequent flyer prag “OnePass,” through which our
passengers receive all the benefits and privileffesed by the OnePass program. Continental isoresiple for the
administration of the OnePass program. Under ttmst®f our frequent flyer agreement with ContingritmePass members
receive OnePass frequent flyer mileage creditsrémel on Copa and AeroRepublica, and we pay Cental a per mile rate for
each mileage credit granted by Continental, at lvpmint we have no further obligation. The amouhts to Continental under
this agreement are expensed by us as the mileadiscare earned.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived purchased intangillesetsin accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Qthe
Intangible Assets”, we perform impairment testifiggoodwill separately from impairment testing ofl@finitedived intangibles
We test goodwill for impairment, at least annually,comparing the book value to the fair valuehatreporting segment level
and individually test indefinite-lived intangiblest, least annually, by comparing the individual lbeelues to fair values.
Considerable management judgment is necessanatoate the impact of operating and macroeconormaagés and to
estimate future cash flows to measure fair valigsunptions used in our impairment evaluations ansistent with internal
projections and operating plans. We did not reagany impairment charges for goodwill or intanggbassets during the ye
presented. All of our goodwill and indefiniti#ed intangible are allocated in the AeroRepubBegment and are tested annu
for impairment. For the years ended December 20@72806, amounts of goodwill and intangible ashatse changed due to
exchange effect.
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Derivative instruments used for aircraft fuéle periodically enter into crude oil call optioies, fuel zero cost collar
and jet fuel swap contracts to provide for shorninid-term hedge protection (generally three to &gh months) against sudden
and significant increases in jet fuel prices, whilaultaneously ensuring that we are not competitidisadvantaged in the
event of a substantial decrease in the price diigt We do not hold or issue derivative finandngtruments for trading
purposes. Derivative contracts signed during 2086&waccounted for as cash flow hedges for finamef@rting purposes. Th:
are recorded at fair value with changes refleateat€payments and other current assets or othexrtdiabilities in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets withffeetdo “Accumulated other comprehensive losst'ofehedge
ineffectiveness. Hedge ineffectiveness includetDither non-operating income (expense)” in the aqeanying Consolidated
Statement of Income was a gain of $0.7 million arldss of $0.7 million in 2007 and 2006, respetyiv®ur losses related to
fuel hedging instruments included in aircraft firebur Consolidated Statement of Income was $18g¢hod and $3.1 million i
2007 and 2006, respectively. The fair value of\dgive contracts amounted to a gain of $7.0 millim@007 and was recorded
in “Other current assets” and a loss of $6.1 nillio 2006, that was recorded in “Other currentilitds” in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. Our purchases of jet fuel are maloiantially from one supplier. For derivative aawts that do not qualify as
hedges for financial reporting purposes, all charigethe fair value, which amounted to a gain a#%8illion, a loss of
$1.8 million and a gain of $0.2 million in years0Z0 2006, and 2005, respectively, were recordeda@snponent of “Other,
net” within “Non-operating income (expense).” Navfethe derivative contracts we entered into in 286¥ accounted for under
hedge accounting.

Maintenance and repair costslaintenance and repair costs for owned and lediggd €quipment, including the
overhaul of aircraft components, are charged toaijppgy expenses as incurred. Engine overhaul costred by power-by-the-
hour arrangements are paid and expensed as incarrdéde basis of hours flown per the contract. éfritle terms of our power-
by-the-hour agreements, we pay a set dollar ammemengine hour flown on a monthly basis and tirel-gharty vendor
assumes the obligation to repair the engines atddional cost to us, subject to certain speciérdusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreemsesgiecifically provide that we, as lessee, arearsiple for
maintenance of the leased aircraft, we do, undeaioeof our existing lease agreements, pay maamea reserves to aircraft
and engine lessors that are to be applied towhedsdst of future maintenance events. These resareecalculated based on a
performance measure, such as flight hours, andpeifically to be used to reimburse thparty providers that furnish servic
in connection with maintenance of our leased dircifathere are sufficient funds on deposit to jthg invoices submitted, they
are paid. However, if amounts on deposit are ingefit to cover the invoices, we must cover thersalb because, as noted
above, we are legally responsible for maintaintrglease aircraft. Under four of our existing afttease agreements, if there
are excess amounts on deposit at the expiratitimedease, the lessor is entitled to retain anggxamounts. The maintenance
reserves paid under our lease agreements do nefdraither the obligation to maintain the aircoafthe cost risk associated
with the maintenance activities to the aircrafstas In addition, we maintain the right to seley ¢éhird-party maintenance
providers. Therefore, we record these amountsegsafit maintenance within “Other Assets” on our bedasheet and then
recognize maintenance expense when the underlyangtemance is performed, in accordance with ounteaance accounting
policy. Any excess amounts retained by the lesponuhe expiration of the lease, which are not etqzbto be material, would
be recognized as additional aircraft rental expevisen it becomes probable that we would not befrefib such excess, mos
at expiration of the lease.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”) issued Statement No. 15Bhe Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabiég” (“SFAS 159”). This standard allows entities to wathrily choose, at
specified election dates, to measure many finasisdts and financial liabilities (as well as darteon-financial instruments
that are similar to financial instruments) at featue (the “fair value option”). The election is deaon an instrument-by-
instrument basis and is irrevocable. If the falueaoption is elected for an instrument, SFAS Jja€cifies that all subsequent
changes in fair value for that instrument shaltdgorted in earnings. SFAS 159 becomes effectivéhiofiscal years beginnir
after November 15, 2007. We are currently evalggattie potential impact, if any, that the adoptiéi3BAS 159 will have on
our consolidated financial position or results pémtions.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement N.“Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), whictfides
fair value, establishes a framework for measuraigvialue and expands disclosures about fair vialeasurements. SFAS 157
applies to other accounting pronouncements thaiiregr permit fair value measurements, but doeéseguire any new fair
value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for uf danuary 1, 2008; however, in February 2008 RA8B issued a FASB
Staff Position that defers the effective date fotaJanuary 1, 2009 for all nonfinancial assetslabilities, except those that
are recognized or disclosed in the financial stetesat fair value on a recurring basis (thattiggast annually). We are
currently finalizing the evaluation of the potehtrapact the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on oansolidated financial
position and results of operations. Based on oglirppinary analysis we do not expect any significampact.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No(Rétised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (R)1).
SFAS 141(R) will change the accounting for busiressbinations. Under SFAS 141(R), an acquiringtgntill be required to
recognize all the assets acquired and liabilitessimed in a transaction at the acquisitlate fair value with limited exceptior
SFAS 141(R) will change the accounting treatmentdiaclosure for certain specific items in a busgneombination. SFAS
141(R) applies prospectively to business combinatfor which the acquisition date is on or after leginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after Delwend5, 2008. Accordingly, any business combinatitie Company
engages in will be recorded and disclosed follovargting US GAAP until January 1, 2009. We ex®€AS 141(R) will
have an impact on accounting for business comioinaince adopted but the effect is dependent upguisitions at that time.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement Na.“Ngthcontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finaici
Statements—An Amendment of ARB No. 51" (“SFAS 16@BJAS 160 establishes new accounting and repcstargdards for
the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary andtf@ deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160fecéve for fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We belibae SFAS 160 should not have impact on the cadesteld financial
position or results of our operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement No. 1Bisclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hegigin
Activities — an amendment of FASB Statement No."I33FAS 161"). SFAS 161 requires enhanced disaleswabout an

entity’s derivative and hedging activities. SFASL 1§ effective for fiscal years beginning on oeaflovember 15, 2008. We
believe that SFAS 161 should not have impact orctimsolidated financial position or results of operations.

Gain from Involuntary Conversion

In 2007, we recorded an $8.0 million gain on invitéury conversion of non-monetary assets to monetssgts
related to insurance proceeds in excess of airfocafk value.

Special Fleet Charges

In 2007, we decided to terminate early five MD-8@aft leases, in connection with the transitidn o
AeroRepublica’s fleet to Embraer 190. Penaltiesl ffai early termination are recognized as SpedegtfCharges in the
Statement of Income.

Results of Operation

The following table shows each of the line itemgim income statements for the periods indicateal pasrcentage of
our total operating revenues for that period:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007

Operating revenues:
Passenger reveni 92.6% 93.% 94.1%
Cargo, mail and othe 7.4% 6.1% 5.2%

Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.%
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel (24.5% (25.60% (25.9%
Salaries and benefi (11.5% (10.7% (11.9%
Passenger servicir (8.9% (7.6)% (8.1)%
Commission: (7.9% (6.8% (6.49%
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Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007

Reservation and sal (4.8)% (4.5% (4.7%
Maintenance, materials and reps (5.9% (5.9% (5.0%
Depreciatior (3.9% (2.9% (3.9%
Flight operation: (4.1)% (4.0% (4.9%
Aircraft rentals (4.5% (4.5% (3.9%
Landing fees and other rent; (2.9% (2.8% (2.6)%
Other (5.9% (5.9% (5.9%
Special fleet charge — — (0.7%
Gain from involuntary conversic — — 0.8%

Total (82.)% (80.5)% (80.%
Operating incom: 17.%% 19.5% 19.2%
Non-operating income (expense
Interest expens (3.6% (3.9% (4.9%
Interest capitalize 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Interest incom 0.6% 0.%% 1.2%
Other, ne 0.1% 0.C% 1.1%

Total (2.7% (2.9% (1.8)%
Income/(loss) before income tax 15.2% 17.2% 17.4%
Income taxe: (1.6)% (21.9% 1.7%
Net income 13.6% 15.7% 15.€%

(1) Includes results from our AeroRepublica segmentterperiod from April 22, 2005 to December 31, 2(
Year 2007 Compared to Year 2006

Our consolidated net income in 2007 totaled $164ilBon, a 20.9% increase over net income of $138ilion in
2006. We had consolidated operating income of &L8llion in 2007, an 18.9% increase over operaiimgme of
$166.1 million in 2006. Our consolidated operatingrgin in 2007 was 19.2%, a decrease of 0.3 pexgergoints over an
operating margin of 19.5% in 2006.

Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $1.0 billion iB20a 20.7% increase over operating revenue of.888ilion in
2006 due to increases in both passenger and cawgaues.

Copa segment operating revenue

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $806.2 millio2@07, a 19.2% increase over operating revenue 78.8émillion
in 2006 due to increases in both passenger and cavgnues.

Passenger revenuPassenger revenue totaled $756.4 million in 200B.9% increase over passenger revenue of
$631.1 million in 2006. This increase resulted m@niity from the addition of capacity (ASMs increadsd20.2% in 2007 as
compared to 2006) that resulted from an increasierartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avastage length. Revenues ¢
increased due to our higher overall load factoadléactor increased from 77.8% in 2006 to 78.4%2007) during the period,
partially offset by a 1.0 decrease in passengéd yel5.33 cents.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other revenue totaled $49.8 miliilo2007, a 10.5% increase over cargo,
and other revenue of $45.0 million in 2006. Thisréase was primarily the result of higher excesgjage fees and higher
cargo revenue resulting from an increase in bg@lce capacity available.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue

AeroRepublica’s operating revenue totaled $226I0aniin 2007, an increase of $50.2 million overeogting
revenue of $175.9 million registered during 2008uteng from an increase in both passenger anca@genues. This increase
resulted primarily from higher passenger yield Iyi@creased from 17.79 cents in 2006 to 22.749)ehiring the period, part
due to a stronger Colombian currency.
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Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $828li8n in 2007, a 21.1% increase over operatingemses of
$685.0 million in 2006 that was primarily attribbta to the growth of our operations and higher fugst.

In 2007, our operating expenses per availablersdatexcluding aircraft fuel was 7.13 cents, a 4in%ease over
operating expenses per available seat mile exdualitraft fuel of 6.81 cents in 2006. Aircraft fyer available seat mile was
3.35 cents in 2007, compared to 3.17 cents in 2008007, our total operating expenses per avalabhat mile was 10.48 cel
a 5.0% increase over operating expenses per akagaht mile of 9.98 cents in 2006.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $265.4 million in 2007, a 2% increase over aircraft fuel of $217.7 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of higiiel costs and higher fuel consumption.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $116.7 million in206027.7% increase over salaries and benefits
of $91.4 million in 2006. This increase was prirtyaai result of an overall increase in headcourstuipport our operations.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $82.9 million in 2@0Z8.8% increase over passenger servicing of
$64.4 million in 2006. This increase was primaélyesult of an increase in Copa’s capacity andaarédbpassengers.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $65.9 million in 2007, a 14ib¥%ease over commissions of $57.8 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of highessenger revenue.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $298I&mih 2007, an increase of $45.1 million in 2007.
Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per availa@alersile is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 Percent
2006 2007 Change
(in cents)

Operating Expenses per ASM
Salaries and benefi 1.42 1.4t 1.4%
Passenger servicir 1.0¢ 1.0¢ 5.2%
Commission: 0.77 0.74 (4.5%
Reservation and sal 0.5¢ 0.57 (2.0)%
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.52 0.62 18.8%
Depreciatior 0.4t 0.4¢ 7.€%
Flight operation: 0.5¢ 0.5¢ 7.4%
Aircraft rentals 0.4¢€ 0.4< (3.2%
Landing fees and other rent: 0.3t 0.32 (9.9%
Other 0.6 0.61 (4.9%
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.7¢ 6.9C 1.8%
Aircraft fuel 2.9t 3.17 7.€%
Total operating expenses per A 9.7t 10.0¢ 3.6%
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Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $199.7 million in 2007, a 2% increase over aircraft fuel of $154.3 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of &¥ifcrease in the all-in average price per gallojetfuel ($2.29 in 2007
compared to $2.14 in 2006) and the consumptior0&% more fuel due to a 16.2% increase in departamel an increase in
average stage length. Aircraft fuel per availakelat snile increased by approximately 7.6% due tartbeease in average fuel
cost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $91.2 million in 20021.9% increase over salaries and benefits
of $74.9 million in 2006. This increase was maialgesult of an overall increase in operating headtto support increased
capacity deployed during the year. Salaries anéfitsrper available seat mile increased by 1.4%.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $68.6 million in 2@0Z6.7% increase over passenger servicing of
$54.2 million in 2006. This increase was primadlyesult of Cop& 20.2% increase in capacity and the effect offjyto highe
cost destinations. Passenger servicing per avaikdadt mile increased by 5.2%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $46.4 million in 2007, a 14 i@¥ease over commissions of $40.4 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of highessenger revenue partially offset by lower aye@mmission rate.
Commissions per available seat mile decreased39¢.4.

Reservations and saléReservations and sales totaled $35.9 million in72@017.7% increase over reservations and
sales of $30.5 million in 2006. This increase wamarily a result of an 11.3% increase in chargdated to global distribution
systems resulting from a 13.9% increase in on-bpassengers and a 4.3% increase in average rass\vations and sales
expenses per available seat mile decreased by 2.1%.

Maintenance, materials and repaitdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $39li2omin 2007, a 42.8%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa$2a6 million in 2006. This increase was primalyesult of more overhaul
events. Maintenance, materials and repair perablailseat mile increased by 18.8%.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $30.7 million in 2007, a 29.4#rease over depreciation of $23.7 million in &(
as a result of higher depreciation attributableuoacquisition of four new Embraer 190 and two faeing 737700 aircraft ir
2006, and five new Embraer 190 and two new BoeBig800 aircraft in 2007. Depreciation per availablatsrile increased t
7.6%.

Flight operations, aircraft rentalandlanding fees and other rental8ombined, flight operations, aircraft rentals and
landing fees and other rentals increased from $@ln in 2006 to $84.7 million in 2007, primayibs a result of Copa’s
20.2% increase in capacity. Combined flight operssj aircraft rentals and landing fees and oth&rate per available seat mile
remained flat.

Other.Other expenses totaled $38.1 million in 2007, 8%increase over other expenses of $33.3 millic20id6.
This increase was primarily a result of an increasenePass frequent flyer miles earned by custemiering the period, as w
as higher transaction taxes in several of the cmsive fly. Other expenses per available seat det@eased by 4.3%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

AeroRepublica’s operating expenses totaled $20AlBmin 2007, an increase of $24.1 million overevating
expenses of $176.4 million reported during 2006grily due to a 5.7% increase in departures, tleagthening of the
Colombian currency and the effect of special figerges related to costs associated with termstiagggb for the early
termination of three MD-80 aircraft as a resuldeffoRepublica’s ongoing transition to a more fuéteent all Embraer 190
fleet.
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Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaleds$mlion in 2007, a decrease over non-operatixgeeses of
$20.0 million in 2006, attributable primarily toghier other non-operating income and higher inténestme, partially offset by
higher interest expense.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $6.1 million in 2GD@decrease from non-operating expense of $11libmih 2006,
attributable primarily to higher interest incomeddrigher other nowperating income partially offset by higher intérespense

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $36.3 million in 200748% increase over interest expense of
$26.9 million in 2006, primarily resulting from tffiell year effect of the financing related to aaftrpurchased in 2006, as well
as the effect of the financing related to aircpaftchased in 2007. The average effective inteeteson our debt also increased
by 32 basis points from 5.24% during 2006 to 5.56%ng 2007. At period’s end, interest rate on agpnately 49% of our
outstanding debt was fixed at an average effectiteof 4.71%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $2.6 million in 20@750.2% increase over interest capitalized of
$1.7 million in 2006, resulting from higher averagenthly balance relating to pre-delivery paymentsircraft.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $11.7 million in 2007, a2P0 increase over interest income of $6.9 million
in 2006. This increase was mainly a result of aghér average cash and investment balance oveetireand higher interest
rates during the period.

Other, netOther, net income totaled $15.9 million in 2007 $&i7 million increase over other, net income of
$7.2 million in 2005. This change was primarily tiesult of an increase of $9.1 million in the manaue of fuel hedge
instruments.

AeroRepublica segment non-operating income (expense

Non-operating expense totaled $12.2 million in 2Q0Vincrease over non-operating expense of $8l@min 2006,
attributable primarily to higher interest expense.

Year 2006 Compared to Year 2005
Our consolidated net income in 2006 totaled $188IBon, a 61.3% increase over net income of $88illion in
2005. We had consolidated operating income of #168lion in 2006, a 52.1% increase over operatimapme of
$109.2 million in 2005. Our consolidated operatingrgin in 2006 was 19.5%, an increase of 1.6 p&agenpoints over an
operating margin of 17.9% in 2005, primarily agsult of overall operating expenses growing slavan operating revenue.
Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $851.2 millio2@06, a 39.9% increase over operating revenue@§.$amillion
in 2005 due to increases in our Copa segment'spgss and cargo revenues, and the full year effettie consolidation of
operating revenue from our AeroRepublica segmeniieed on April 22, 2005.

Copa segment operating revenue

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $676.2 millio2006, a 33.7% increase over operating revenue @3.$5million
in 2005 due to increases in both passenger and cavgnues.
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Passenger revenuPassenger revenue totaled $631.1 million in 20@%5,.4% increase over passenger revenue of
$466.1 million in 2005. This increase resulted p@niity from the addition of capacity (ASMs increadsd18.8% in 2006 as
compared to 2005) that resulted from an increasieartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avatage length. Revenues &
increased due to our higher overall load factoadléactor increased from 73.4% in 2005 to 77.8%066) during the period
and the simultaneous increase in passenger yididhwose by 7.5% to 15.49 cents in 2006.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other totaled $45.0 million in 2086.3.7% increase over cargo, mail and
other of $39.6 million in 2005. This increase wasnarily the result of higher cargo revenue resigitirom an increase in belly
space capacity available, and to a lesser extghthiother operating revenue from excess baggage fe

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue

AeroRepublica’s operating revenue totaled $175I/fianiin 2006, an increase of $72.9 million oveeogting
revenue of $103.0 million registered during 200Bnarily as result of the full year effect of thensmlidation of its results since
it was acquired on April 22, 2005.

Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $688lidn in 2006, a 37.2% increase over operatingesses of
$499.4 million in 2005 that was primarily attribbte to the growth of our operations, higher fuedtspand the full year effect
of the consolidation of AeroRepublica.

In 2006, our operating expenses per availablersgatexcluding aircraft fuel was 6.81 cents, a 4i2%ease over
operating expenses per available seat mile exdjuaicraft fuel of 6.53 cents in 2005. Aircraft fyer available seat mile was
3.17 cents in 2006, compared to 2.79 cents in 2008006, our total operating expenses per avalabht mile was 9.98 cents,
a 7.1% increase over operating expenses per akadaht mile of 9.32 cents in 2005.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $217.7 million in 2006, a 8% increase over aircraft fuel of $149.3 million in
2005. This increase was primarily a result of higinel costs, higher fuel consumption, and the yelr effect of the
consolidation of AeroRepublica.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $91.4 million in 20081.1% increase over salaries and benefits
of $69.7 million in 2005. This increase was prirhyaa result of an overall increase in headcounttaedull year effect of the
consolidation of AeroRepublica.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $64.4 million in 2@087.2% increase over passenger servicing of
$50.6 million in 2005. This increase was primadlyesult of an increase in Copa’s capacity, are@se in Copa’s on-board
passengers, and the full year effect of the codatitin of AeroRepublica.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $57.8 million in 2006, a 28i2¥ease over commissions of $45.1 million in
2005. This increase was primarily a result of highessenger revenue and the full year effect oEtimsolidation of
AeroRepublica.

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $50liomin 2006, a 54.0%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa$826 million in 2005. This increase was primadlyesult of more overhaul
events at AeroRepublica and the full year effedhefconsolidation of AeroRepublica.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $203ltbmih 2006, an increase of $51.5 million in 2006.
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Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per availaaersile is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 Percent
2005 2006 Change
(in cents)

Operating Expenses per ASM
Salaries and benefi 1.3¢ 1.4 7.2%
Passenger servicir 1.02 1.02 0.2%
Commissions 0.81 0.77 (4.9%
Reservation and sal 0.57 0.5¢ 1.3%
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.4¢ 0.52 8.2%
Depreciatior 0.4 0.4¢ 3.8%
Flight operation: 0.5C 0.5¢4 9.2%
Aircraft rentals 0.5C 0.4¢€ (9.2%
Landing fees and other rent: 0.3¢ 0.3t 4.8%
Other 0.62 0.64 1.9%
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.62 6.7¢ 2.4%
Aircraft fuel 2.52 2.9t 17.1%
Total operating expenses per A 9.1: 9.7t 6.5%

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $154.3 million in 2006, a 2% increase over aircraft fuel of $110.9 million in
2005. This increase was primarily a result of &%6increase in the all-in average price per gabibjet fuel ($2.14 in 2006
compared to $1.84 in 2005) and the consumptior0df% more fuel due to a 17.7% increase in departame an increase in
average stage length. Aircraft fuel per availalelat snile increased by approximately 16.9% due édribrease in average fuel
cost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $74.9 million in 20087.4% increase over salaries and benefits
of $58.8 million in 2005. This increase was maialgesult of an overall increase in operating headcto support increased
capacity deployed during the year as well as du2id@j7, increased profit sharing expenses and ftheteff the stock
compensation program that was implemented pursoahe Company'’s initial public offering. Salari@sd benefits per
available seat mile increased by 7.2%.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $54.2 million in 2@G069.9% increase over passenger servicing of
$45.2 million in 2005. This increase was primaédlyesult of Copa’s 18.8% increase in capacity antherease of 21.0% in on-
board passengers. Passenger servicing per avalediienile increased by 0.9%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $40.4 million in 2006, a 13i6%ease over commissions of $35.6 million in
2005. This increase was primarily a result of higiessenger revenue partially offset by lower ayei@mmission rate.
Commissions per available seat mile decreased49y.4.

Reservations and salgReservations and sales totaled $30.5 million in62@020.4% increase over reservations and
sales of $25.3 million in 2005. This increase wamarily a result of a 25.2% increase in chargéstee to global distribution
systems resulting from a 21.0% increase in on-bpassengers and a 3.6% increase in average rass\vations and sales
expenses per available seat mile increased by 1.3%.

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $27l5min 2006, a 28.6%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa$2.8 million in 2005. This increase was primaslyesult of more flight
hours and additional materials and repairs relaidgde Boeing 737-NG fleet. Maintenance, matead repair per available
seat mile increased by 8.3%.
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Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $23.7 million in 2006, a $rhilion increase over depreciation of $19.3 million
2005, as a result of higher depreciation attribletéd our acquisition of two new Embraer 190 aiftcim 2005, five new
Embraer 190 aircraft in 2006 and two new Boeing-730@ aircraft in 2006. Depreciation per availal#atamile increased by
3.8%.

Aircraft rentals.Aircraft rentals totaled $23.8 million in 2006, &% increase over aircraft rentals of $22.1 million
2005. This increase was a result of the full yéfece of two additional leased Boeing 737-Next Gatien aircraft in
February 2005 and May 2005. Aircraft rentals pexilable seat mile decreased by 9.2%.

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rentalSombined, flight operations and landing fees amgiotentals
increased from $36.8 million in 2005 to $46.9 roifliin 2006, primarily as a result of Copa’s 18.8%réase in capacity.

Other.Other expenses totaled $33.4 million in 2006, 4 %ilincrease over other expenses of $27.5 millic20id5.
This increase was primarily a result of an increas@nePass frequent flyer miles earned by custsmhering the period, as w
as higher implementation fees related to the irterantrols requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley @ttier expenses per
available seat mile increased by 1.9%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

AeroRepublica’s operating expenses totaled $17@I®min 2006, an increase of $79.5 million overevating
revenue of $96.8 million reported during 2005 prityeas result of the full year effect of the colidation of its results since it
was acquired in April 22, 2005.

Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaledd$adlion in 2006, a 20.5% increase over raperating expenst
of $16.6 million in 2005, attributable primarily togher interest expense.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $11.1 million in 20066.1% decrease over non-operating expense3a? $iillion
in 2005, attributable primarily to higher inter@stome and higher other non-operating income ghriiéfset by higher interest
expense.

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $26.9 million in 20068&% increase over interest expense of
$19.4 million in 2005, primarily resulting from tfiell year effect of the financing related to aaftrpurchased in 2005, as well
as the effect of the financing related to aircpaftchased in 2006. The average effective inteetsson our debt also increased
by 74 basis points from 4.50% during 2005 to 5.24%ng 2006. At period’s end, approximately 57%oaf outstanding debt
was fixed at an average effective rate of 4.66%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $1.7 million in 20@657.1% increase over interest capitalized of
$1.1 million in 2005, resulting from higher averagenthly balance relating to pre-delivery paymentsircraft.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $6.9 million in 2006, a 184 increase over interest income of $3.4 million
in 2005. This increase was mainly a result of aghér average cash balance over the year and higfleeest rates during the
period.

Other, netOther, net income totaled $7.2 million in 2006 5a58million increase over other, net income of

$1.7 million in 2005. This increase was primarhg tresult of lower non-recurring expense relatealoinitial public offering
in 2005.
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

In recent years, we have been able to meet ourimgdapital requirements through cash from our afens. Our
capital expenditures, which consist primarily ateaft purchases, are funded through a combinati@ur cash from operatio
and long-term financing. From time to time, we fina pre-delivery payments related to our aircratf wiedium-term
financing in the form of commercial banks loans/antbonds privately placed with commercial banksr &@counts receivable
at December 31, 2007 increased by $13.1 millionpgamed with December 31, 2006, primarily as a resfullhe growth in
operating revenues.

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investnagibecember 31, 2007 increased by $111.0 milbon
$308.4 million. At December 31, 2007 we had avadatvedit lines totaling $34.5 million under whitttere were no amounts
outstanding.

Operating Activities

We rely primarily on cash flows from operationgtovide working capital for current and future ogténs. Cash
flows from operating activities totaled $221.9 ioifl in 2007, $193.5 million in 2006 and $115.4 ioillin 2005. The increase
in operating cash flows over these periods wasamilyndue to the growth of our business.

Investing Activities

During 2007, our capital expenditures were $366illiam, which consisted primarily of expenditureslated to our
purchase of nine Embraer 190 aircraft and two Bp&Bi7-800 aircraft, as well as to expenditurestedli®o advance payments
on aircraft purchase contracts. During 2006, opitahexpenditures were $252.0 million, which cetai primarily of
expenditures related to our purchase of five Emtit@8 aircraft and two Boeing 737-700 aircraftyagl as to expenditures
related to advance payments on aircraft purchaseamts. During 2005, our capital expenditures vir&2.8 million, which
consisted primarily of expenditures related to purchase of two Embraer 190 aircraft, as well asxmenditures related to
advance payments on aircraft purchase contracts.

Financing Activities

Financing activities during 2007 consisted primaof $329.1 million of financing for nine Embraed@aircraft, two
Boeing 737-800 aircraft and aircraft pre-deliveayments, the repayment of $87.3 million in long¥tetebt and $13.6 million
in dividends declared and paid.

Financing activities during 2006 consisted primeaf $254.6 million of financing for Embraer 190@aft, two
Boeing 737-700 aircraft and aircraft pre-deliveayments ($27.5 million of the proceeds of whichevesed to redeem
privately-placed bonds used for pre-delivery paytneelated to those aircraft), the repayment of B2llion in privately-
placed bonds, the repayment of $77.2 million irgkterm debt and $8.3 million in dividends declazed paid.

Financing activities during 2005 consisted of $68iltion, primarily to the financing of two Embraé®0 aircraft,
$27.5 million related to the financing of aircrpfe-delivery payments through privately-placed trlde repayment of
$46.9 million in long-term debt and $10.1 milliandividends declared and paid.

We have generally been able to arrange medium-ieancing for pre-delivery payments through loanthw
commercial banks through a private issuance of ®oalthough we believe that financing on similame should be available
for our future aircraft pre-delivery payments, waymot be able to secure such financing on terimacéit/e to us.

Over the past several months, several banks amd fitlancial institutions in the United States hamaounced multi-
billion dollar write-downs related to their exposuo mortgage-backed securities and other finams&duments. Although we
have not experienced any difficulty obtaining finany, these write downs, combined with other fagtbas led to a tightening
in the credit markets, which could impact our @pito obtain lease or debt financing on terms etiva to us, or at all, in the
future.
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We have financed the acquisition of 19 Boeing 7&N\Generation aircraft and three spare enginesigr
syndicated loans provided by international finahicistitutions with the support of partial guaraggdssued by the Export-
Import Bank of the United States, or Ex-Im, witpagment profiles of 12 years. The Ex-Im guaranseggport 85% of the net
purchase price and are secured with a first pyionbrtgage on the aircraft in favor of a secunitistee on behalf of Ex-Im. The
documentation for each loan follows standard maidens for this type of financing, including stamda&vents of default. Our
Ex-Im supported financings amortize on a quartedsis, are denominated in dollars and originallgrbieterest at a floating
rate linked to LIBOR. Our Ex-Im guarantee facilitigypically offer an option to fix the applicableérest rate. We have
exercised this option with respect to $355.5 millas of December 31, 2007 at an average weightexbst rate of 4.71%. The
remaining $35.2 million bears interest at an avenagighted interest of LIBOR plus 0.03%. At Decenikik 2007, the total
amount outstanding under our Ex-Im-supported fiivagectotaled $390.7 million.

We effectively extend the maturity of our Boeingcaaft financing to 15 years through the use oBaétched Overa
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structurechhprovides serial draw-downs calculated to resudt 100% loan
accreting to a recourse balloon at the maturitthefEx-Im guaranteed loan. The SOAR portions offadailities require us to
maintain certain financial covenants, includinggBITDAR to fixed charge ratio, a long-term obligats to EBITDAR ratio
and a minimum unrestricted cash balance. To comvjilythe first ratio, our EBITDA plus aircraft reekpense, or EBITDAR,
for the prior year must be at least 2.0 times owd charge expenses (including interest, commissees, discounts and other
finance payments) for that year. To comply with $keond ratio, our long-term obligations must bermoe than six times
EBITDAR. Third, our cash, cash equivalents and stesm investment balance should be at least $5®miAs of
December 31, 2007, we complied with all requirederants. We also pay a commitment fee on the izedilportion of our
SOAR loans.

We also typically finance approximately 10% of thechase price of our Boeing aircraft through comaiaéloans
which totaled $15.2 million as of December 31, 200@der the commercial loan agreements for airceafeived in 2002, we
are required to comply with four specific finanatavenants. The first covenant requires our EBITDIARthe prior year to be
at least 2.0 times our finance charge expensekidiimg interest, commission, fees, discounts ahémfinance payments). The
second covenant limits our net borrowings to 85%uwwofcapitalization. The third covenant requirestangible net worth to be
at least $120 million. The last covenant requirg$oumaintain a minimum of $50 million in availatdesh (including cash
equivalents and committed credit facilities). AdD&cember 31, 2007, we complied with all requiredenants.

Our Embraer aircraft purchases are not eligibleEfoim guaranteed financing. During 2005, we sed@rsenior
term loan facility in the amount of $134 millionrfthe purchase of six Embraer 190 aircraft. Th@ddsave a term of twelve
years. During 2005, we utilized $43.8 million ofstifiacility and the remaining $90.1 million was wraduring 2006. During
2006, we secured a senior and junior term loatitia@i the amount of $239.6 million for the purcfeaof ten Embraer 190
aircraft. The loans have a term of twelve yearsiiu2006, we utilized $23.8 million of this fatjliand the remainder was
drawn during 2007. Under this loan agreement weegaired to comply with certain financial coverarhe first covenant
requires our EBITDAR for the prior year to be ade2.5 times our fixed charge expenses (incluthtegest, commission, fees,
discounts and other finance payments) for that.yHse second covenant requires a total liabilityspdperating leases minus
operating cash to tangible net worth ratio of kbss 5.5. The third covenant requires our tangileleworth to be at least
$160 million. The last covenant requires us to n@na minimum of $75 million in available cashskaquivalents and short-
term investments. As of December 31, 2007, we cdptith all required covenants.

During 2006, we secured a medium term loan fadifitthe amount of $36.3 million for the financinge-delivery
payments of two Boeing 737-800 aircraft having\d=ly months of May and November 2008. During 2Q0F secured a
medium term loan facility in the amount of $37.3limin for the financing of pre-delivery paymentstafo Boeing 737-800
aircraft having delivery months of May and OctoB809. We have granted, for the benefit of the barficst priority security
interest in the rights, title and interest over tilve Boeing 737-800 aircraft. Interest on the losngaid on a quarterly basis with
the principal balance to be repaid upon deliverthefaircraft.
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Capital resourcesWe finance our aircraft through long term debt apdrating lease financings. Although we expect
to finance future aircraft deliveries with a comdtion of similar debt arrangements and financirgés, we may not be able to
secure such financing on attractive terms. To gterg we cannot secure financing, we may be requoenodify our aircraft
acquisition plans or incur higher than anticipdiaencing costs. We expect to meet our operatifigatons as they become
due through available cash and internally generfatedss, supplemented as necessary by short-temiit Gres.

We have placed firm purchase orders with The Bo€iampany for eight Boeing 737-Next Generation afitcand
we have purchase rights and options for an additieight Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft. Weehalso placed firm
purchase orders with Embraer for four Embraer 1@0&it and we have options to purchase an additia@ Embraer 190
aircraft. The schedule for delivery of our firm phase orders is as follows: six in 2008, two in@a®o in 2011 and two in
2012. We meet our pre-delivery deposit requiremfartsur Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft by ipgycash, or by using
medium-term borrowing facilities and/or vendor ficéng for deposits required 24 to 6 months priodétivery. Pre-delivery
deposits for our Embraer 190 aircraft are requir@dl2 and 6 months prior to delivery. We fund éhésposits with our own
cash.

We maintain available facilities for letters of ditewith several banks with outstanding balance$3#.8 million and
$27.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respEg. These letters of credit are pledged focift rentals, maintenance
and guarantees for airport facilities. Of this ko#22.1 million are letters of credit opened oh#lé of AeroRepublica for the
same purposes listed above.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licensess;.

We believe that the Copa brand has strong valuenalichtes superior service and value in the LAtimerican travel
industry. We have registered the trademarks “Cepa’“Copa Airlines” with the trademark office infigana and have filed
requests for registration in other countries, idelg the United States. We license certain braloges and trade dress under
trademark license agreement with Continental rdl&deour alliance. We will have the right to congnto use our current logos
on our aircraft for up to five years after the efdhe alliance agreement term. AeroRepublica’srbgsstered its name as a
trademark in Colombia for the next ten years, dadpto register its trademark in Panama, Ecuatenezuela and Peru.

We operate a number of software products undendiee from our vendors, including our booking engme
automated pricing system from SMG Technologies, ABRE revenue management software and our Cargadyéanent
system. Under our agreements with Boeing, we asacalarge amount of Boeing's proprietary inforimatio maintain our
aircraft. The loss of these software systems dmtieal support information from Boeing could negaly affect our business.

D. Trend Information

We seek to expand our Copa Airlines operation liraglfrequencies and new routes with the additiosesen new
aircraft to our fleet in 2008, including two Boeii§7 Next Generation and four Embraer 190 aircWdf.recently announced a
new route for 2008 to Port-of-Spain, Trinidad arabdgo. For the remainder of 2008, we expect toigoatto concentrate on
keeping our operating costs low and pursuing waysdke our operations more efficient.

We intend to continue developing initiatives to noye the operations at AeroRepublica. As part ofpdan to
modernize AeroRepublica’s fleet, we currently expgedake delivery of four Embraer aircraft durid@08. We seek to make
further improvements at AeroRepublica, includingpatinued focus on on-time performance, furthezgnation of Copa’s and
AeroRepublica’s network through codesharing agregsnand improvement of overall efficiency.

We expect jet fuel prices will continue to be higi2008 and expect to continue evaluating fuel reglgrograms to
help protect us against short-term movements idecnil prices.

We expect our operating capacity to increase 172008, primarily as a result of the addition of sew aircraft to
Copa’s fleet, and to a lesser extent due to thé@iadadf AeroRepublica’s four new aircraft.

60




Table of Contents

E. Off-balance sheet arrangements

None of our operating lease obligations are refl@cin our balance sheet and we have no other Effba sheet
arrangements. We are responsible for all maintenansurance and other costs associated with apgthese aircraft;
however, we have not made any residual value @rgharantees to our lessors.
F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Our non-cancelable contractual obligations at Démam31, 2007 included the following:

At December 31, 200°

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in thousands of dollar:
Aircraft and engine purchase commitme 213,53: 172,89! 40,63¢ — —
Aircraft operating lease 292,69t 37,53¢ 81,61« 69,84t 103,69
Other operating leas: 38,92¢ 7,35¢ 12,08: 9,20¢ 10,27¢
Shor-term debt and lor-term debt(1] 1,023,05! 156,27: 202,07: 205,25! 459,44¢
Total 1,568,20: 374,06t 336,40¢ 284,30¢ 573,42!

(1) Includes actual interest and estimated interedidating-rate debt based on December 31, 2007 r

Most contract leases include renewal options. Nimrdt related leases have renewable terms ofyeae and their
respective amounts included in the table above haee estimated through 2012, but we cannot estiamabunts with respect
to those leases for later years. Our leases dimclote residual value guarantees.

The Company has a Prepaid Pension Asset, but éssrtieat contribution payments to the plan, wheftect
expected future services, will be $0.8 million 2208.

Item 6. Directors, senior management and employees
A. Directors and Senior Management

We are managed by our board of directors whichecttly consists of eleven members who serve two-ggars and
may be re-elected. The number of directors eleeteth year alternates between six directors andifreetors. Messrs. Pedro
Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo A. Arias, Makwin and Roberto Artavia were each re-electedviaryear terms at our
annual shareholders’ meeting held in May 2006.rA¢straordinary shareholders’ meeting held in Ddoem2006, Mr. Alfredo
Arias Loredo was elected as an independent diréatoold office until the 2008 annual shareholdengeting. Also at the
December 2006 meeting, Mr. Joseph Fidanque lllelested as a director to hold office until the 2@@nual shareholders’
meeting. Mr. Fidanque filled the vacancy left byo®® Mason who resigned on July 18, 2006. At o@72&nnual
shareholders’ meeting held on May 9, 2007, Mr. Zoastafieda Velez was re-elected as an indepenideciod until the 2009
annual shareholders’ meeting. Also at the May 972 eeting, Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime AriaseAthC. Motta Jr., and
Joseph Fidangue were re-elected as directorstbat?009 annual shareholdenséeting. Our charter does not have a mand
retirement age for our directors.

The following table sets forth the name, age arsitipm of each member of our board of directorsfa&pril 30,
2008. A brief biographical description of each membf our board of directors follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Officer and Direct 50
Stanley Motte Chairman and Directc 62
Osvaldo Heilbror Director 82
Jaime Arias Director 73
Ricardo Alberto Arias Director 68
Alberto C. Motta, Jr Director 61
Mark Erwin Director 52
Joseph Fidanque | Director 41
Jose Castafieda Vel Director 64
Roberto Artavia Loric Director 49
Alfredo Arias Loredc Director 61
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Mr. Pedro Heilbron . See “00 Executive Officers.”

Mr. Stanley Motta has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit286 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. Since 1990, he has sas/éte President of Motta Internacional, S.A. aerimational importer of
alcohol, cosmetics, jewelry and other consumer goblt. Motta is the brother of our director, AlbeE. Motta Jr. He serves
the boards of directors of Motta Internacional, $S@rupo Financiero Continental, S.A., ASSA Compadd Seguros, S.A.,
Televisora Nacional, S.A., Inversiones Bahia, kftd GBM Corporation. Mr. Motta is a graduate ofand University.

Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit286 and a director of Copa Holdings,
since it was established in 1998. Mr. Heilbrorhis father of Mr. Pedro Heilbron, our chief execetofficer. He serves on the
boards of directors of CIASA, Desarrollo Costa Bste, S.A., Harinas Panama, S.A., Televisora Nati&hA., Petroleos
Delta, S.A., and SSA Panama Inc.

Mr. Jaime Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®83 and a director of Copa Holdings, since it
was established in 1998. He is a founding parth&adindo, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias holds a B.Aofn Yale University, a
J.D. from Tulane University and legal studies attmiversity of Paris, Sorbonne. He serves as sisadto the President of t
Republic of Panama and serves on the boards aftdiseof Televisora Nacional, S.A., ASSA ComparéeSeguros, S.A. ,
Empresa General de Inversiones, S.A., PetréleasD®IA., Bac International Bank, Inc., Direct \disj S.A. and Promed, S.A.

Mr. Ricardo Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®85 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. He is a founding parth&adindo, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias currently ses/as Panama’s
ambassador to the United Nations. Mr. Arias hol@sA in international relations from Georgetownigrsity, an LL.B. from
the University of Puerto Rico and an LL.M. from ¥dlaw School. He serves on the boards of directbBanco General, S.A.
and Empresa General de Inversiones, S.A., whittieifiolding company that owns Banco General Si#d,EBmpresa General
de Petréleos, S.A. Mr. Arias is also listed asiagipal or alternate director of several subsidiemynpanies of Banco General,
S.A. and Empresa General de Inversiones, S.A.,

Mr. Alberto Motta, Jr. has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®33 and a director of Copa Holdings,
since it was established in 1998. He is a ViceiBees of Inversiones Bahia, Ltd. Mr. Motta attendeel University of
Hartwick. He is the brother of Mr. Stanley Mottae Eiso serves on the boards of directors of Matirhacional, S.A.,
Inversiones Costa del Este, S.A., ASSA Compafiiaedpiros, S.A., Petroleos Delta, S.A., Productosdalos, S.A.,
Financiera Automotriz, S.A., Televisora Nacionah SHotel Miramar Inter-Continental and IndustrRanama Boston, S.A.

Mr. Mark Erwin has been one of the directors of Copa Airlines@apa Holdings since 2004. He is the Senior \
President—Asia/Pacific and Corporate Developme@aftinental Airlines and the President and Chieddtitive Officer and
serves on the board of directors of Continentalrbtiesia, Inc., the wholly owned western Pacificsdiary of Continental
Airlines, Inc. Mr. Erwin held the position of Senidice President of Airport Services of ContinerAdllines, Inc. from 1995
through 2002.

Mr. Joseph Fidanque Ill has been one of the directors of Copa AirlinesesR@06. He is President of Fidanque
Hermanos e Hijos, S.A., Mobilphone de Panama, &.Star Contact, Ltd. He serves on the boardg@dtdrs of
Multiholding Corporation — Panama, Fundacién Fitépica Fidanque, Colon Import and Export and Skgtfelogies
Network. Mr. Fidanque holds a B.S. in Economicsrfréufts University
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Mr. Roberto Artavia Loria is one of the independent directors of Copa Holslite is the former Chief Executive
Officer of INCAE Business School where he now serae Academic and Business Consultant, Chairmasadiacion
MarViva de Costa Rica and Protector of Viva Trit. Artavia Loria is also an advisor to the Inteennan Development Bal
and to the governments of nine countries in Latinefica, and a strategic advisor to Purdy Motor,.S3%upo Nacion and
FUNDESA. Mr. Artavia Loria serves on the board okdtors of INCAE Business School, Foundation faridgement
Education in Central America, Asociacion MarViva@esta Rica, Viva Trust, Global Foundation for Maement
Development, Compafiia Cervecera de Nicaragua, SUMMKiGnce OBS de Costa Rica and OBS Americas.

Mr. José Castafieda Veleis one of the independent directors of Copa Holslitte is currently director of MMG
Bank Corporation. Previously, Mr. Castafieda Veles #he chief executive officer of Banco Latinoartenio de Exportacione
S.A.—BLADEX and has held managerial and officerelgpositions at Banco Rio de la Plata, Citibank.NBanco de Credito
del Peru and Crocker National Bank. He is a gradofthe University of Lima.

Mr. Alfredo Arias Loredo is one of the independent directors of Copa Hollitg is the former Executive
President of Cerveceria Nacional, S.A. Mr. Ariagddp is Chairman of the Board of Trustees of ANC@ociacion Nacion:
para la Conservacion de la Naturaleza). Mr. Argeived a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering and an M.8dustrial
Management, both from Georgia Institute of Techgglo

The following table sets forth the name, age arsitjpm of each of our executive officers as of A, 2008. A brie
biographical description of each of our executiffecers follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Office 50
Victor Vial Chief Financial Office 42
Lawrence Gans Senior Vice-President of Operatior 65
Daniel Gunr Vice-President of Commercial and Plann 40
Jaime Aguirre Vice President of Maintenan: 47
Vidalia de Casad Vice President of Passenger Servi 51
Leo Marchosky Vice-President of Human Resourc 51
Joe Mohar Vice-President of Marketing and Sa 39
Roberto Junguito Pomt Chief Executive Officer of AeroRepublic 38

Mr. Pedro Heilbron has been our Chief Executive Officer for 19 yebis.received an M.B.A. from George
Washington University and a B.A. from Holy Cross.. Meilbron is the son of Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron, amber of our board of
directors. Mr. Heilbron is a Member of the Board3uvernors of IATA.

Mr. Victor Vial has been our Chief Financial Officer since 2000n2995 until 2000, Mr. Vial served as our
Director of Planning. Prior to his service at Colga, Vial was a Senior Financial Analyst for HBOrTé Warner. Mr. Vial
holds a B.B.A. in International Business from GeoWashington University.

Captain Lawrence Gansehas been our Senior Vice-President of OperatiodsCimief Operating Officer since 2000.
Captain Ganse has 43 years of experience in thieeaindustry, including management positions atAWorthwest Airlines,
and, most recently, Grupo TACA in El Salvador. GapiGanse is a long standing member of the IATAr@fens Committee.
Captain Ganse received a B.B.A. in Aviation Admtiraion from the University of Miami and an M.B.& Management
Science from California State University at Hayward

Mr. Daniel Gunn has been our Vice-President of Commercial and Rigrsince the first quarter of 2008. Prior to
this Mr. Gunn had served as Vice-President of Rienand Alliances since 2002. He joined Copa in9l88d has served as our
Director of Alliances and Senior Director of Plamgiand Alliances. Prior to joining Copa, he spérg ffears with American
Airlines holding positions in Finance, Real Estaitel Alliances. Mr. Gunn received a B.A. in Busin&dsconomics from
Wheaton College and an M.B.A. with an emphasisirafice and International Business from the Unitgisi Southern
California.
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Mr. Jaime Aguirre has been our Vice President of Maintenance sin62.2rior to that, he served as our Directc
Engineering and Quality Assurance. Before joinirgp&, Mr. Aguirre was the Technical Services DireetioAvianca, S.A.
Mr. Aguirre received a B.S. in Mechanical Enginegrirom Los Andes University, a Master of Enginegnivith an emphasis
on Engineering Management from Javeriana Univessity a M.B.A. from the University of Louisville.

Ms. Vidalia de Casadohas been our Vice-President of Passenger Seniitas 5995. She joined Copa in 1989 and
served as our Passenger Services Manager fromt@9®®5. Prior to joining Copa, she spent sevemsyas Human Resource
and Service Director with Air Panama Internacioah. Ms. de Casado received a B.S. in Business faiversidad Latina
and an M.B.A. from the University of Louisville.

Dr. Leo Marchosky has been our Vice-President of Human Resources ielruary 2008. Before joining Copa, he
was CEO and President of Novartis Mexico and preshipheld top management and regional positions thie same company
in Latin America, Asia and Europe. Dr. Marchosky eaMaster in Business Administration from the Baalo Business Schc
in Brazil, and is also an MD with a specialty itdmal Medicine.

Mr. Joe Mohan has been our Vice-President of Marketing and Safes February 2008. Prior to joining Copa, he
was the Senior Vice President of Sales at Amerieard Lease and held several senior positions ati@otal Airlines.
Mr. Mohan received a B.A. in Economics from the Wmsity of Florida and a M.B.A. with an emphasissbrategy from
Georgetown University.

Mr. Roberto Junguito Pombo joined our company on November 8, 2005 as the Ghietutive Officer of our
AeroRepublica operating subsidiary. Mr. Junguitevisusly spent two years with Avianca, holding piosis as the Vice
President of Planning, Chief Operating Officer &tdef Restructuring Officer. Avianca declared bamgtcy in March 2003.
Mr. Junguito received a B.S. in Industrial Enginegrat the Universidad de Los Andes, an M.A. iretnaitional Studies from
the Joseph H. Lauder Institute of the UniversitpPefnsylvania and an M.B.A. with an emphasis oarfoe from the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania.

The business address for all of our senior manageine/o Copa Airlines, Avenida Principal y Aveaide la
Rotonda, Urbanizacién Costa del Este, Complejoriassi Park, Torre Norte, Parque Lefevre Panama Rdtyama.

B. Compensation

In 2007, we paid an aggregate of approximately $#ll€on in cash compensation to our executiveasffs. During
2006, we also set aside $3.0 million for paymersieioior management related to covenants not to e@myith us in the future.
We have not set aside any other funds for futuyeneats to executive officers.

Members of our board of directors that are noteffs of either Copa or Continental receive $2580year plus
expenses incurred to attend our board of directmstings. In addition, members of committees ohibard of directors recei
$1,000 per committee meeting, with the chairmathefaudit committee receiving $2,000 per meetinthefaudit committee.
All of the members of our board of directors aneitlspouses receive benefits to travel on Copatsigs well.

Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan

The Compensation Committee of our board of direcémproved a one time non vested stock bonus ftaice
executive officers and eliminated the existing Ldrgm Retention Plan in 2005. Non vested stockvdedid under this award
program may be sourced from treasury stock, oraaiztbd un-issued shares. In March 2006, in accaelarth this program,
the Compensation Committee of our board of directwanted 935,650 restricted stock awards. Sersoagement were
granted 847,625 non vested stock awards, whichowestfive years in yearly installments equal t84l8f the awarded stock «
each of the first three anniversaries of the gdait¢, 25% on the fourth anniversary and 30% offiftheanniversary.
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Managers, officers and key employees, not on auiosenanagement team, were granted 88,025 nondsegiek awards whic
vest on the second anniversary of the grant datelarch 2007, the Compensation Committee of our@oé Directors grante
16,955 shares of non-vested stock awards to ceréaimed executive officers, which vest over thremryén yearly installments
equal to one-third of the awarded stock on eadhethree anniversaries of the grant date. Noredestock awards were
measured at their fair value, which is the samewsrnfor which a similarly restricted share wouldissued to third party, on
the grant date. The fair value of these non-vestecks award was $53.14 and $21.10 for the 2007ren@006 grants,
respectively.

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of owarB@f Directors granted, for the first time, 35/6Kuity stock
options to certain named executive officers, whiekt over three years in yearly installments etuahe-third of the awarded
stock on each of the three anniversaries of thetglate. The exercise price of the options is $53uhich is the market price
the Company'’s stock at the grant date. The stotkmgphave a contractual term of 10 years.

The weighted-average fair value of the stock oygtianthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimated the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model assuming an expedtgdehd yield of 0.58%, expected volatility of apgimately 37.8% based
on historical volatility, weighted average risk€rimterest rate of 4.59%, and an expected termyefs calculated under the
simplified method.

The Compensation Committee plans to make additieqaity based awards under the plan from timente i
including additional non vested stock and stockaspawards. While the Compensation Committee etidin discretion to var
the exact terms of future awards, we anticipateftitare employee non vested stock and stock ogtwards granted pursuant
to the plan will generally vest over a three yeaniqrd and the stock options will carry a ten yeant

The total compensation cost recognized for nonegestocks and options awards was $4.8 and $3.®mill 2007
and 2006, respectively, and were recorded as a@oemp of “Salaries and benefits” within Operatixpense.

During first quarter of 2008, the Compensation Catiaa of our Board of Directors approved two neackt
compensation plans. Awards were granted under theseplans for 62,935 shares of non-vested stoekdsywhich will vest
over three years. We estimate the fair value afaétevards to be approximately $2.4 million and2B@8 compensation cost"
these plans to be $0.6 million.

C. Board Practices

Our board of directors currently meets quarterlgditionally, informal meetings with Continental dreld on an
ongoing basis, and are supported by quarterly fomegtings of an “Alliance Steering Committee,” ainidirects and reports
on the progress of the Copa and Continental Alka®@ur board of directors is focused on providing @verall strategic
direction and as a result is responsible for eistaiolg our general business policies and for agpmrour executive officers ai
supervising their management.

Currently, our board of directors is comprised lefzen members. The number of directors elected gpaahalternate
between six directors and five directors. Messeslr® Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo Arias, M&rwin, and Roberto
Artavia were each re-elected to two-year termaiataonual shareholders’ meeting held on May 126206 will be seeking re-
election at this yeashareholders meeting scheduled for May 2008. IreBsber 2006, Mr. Alfredo Arias Loredo was electe
an independent Director to hold office until thé@8@nnual shareholders’ meeting. Messrs. Stanleyayidaime Arias, Alberto
C. Motta Jr., Joseph Fidanque and José Castafigdaavelected to two-year terms at our annual $tadders’ meeting held on
May 9, 2007. Our charter does not have a mandadtinement age for our directors.

Pursuant to contractual arrangements with us aA®£&] Continental is entitled to designate one af divectors and
CIASA is entitled to designate seven of our direxto
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Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. The Audit Committees primary function is to assist the board of divestn fulfilling its oversigh
responsibilities by reviewing:

« the integrity of financial reports and other fic#l information made available to the public oya
regulator or governmental boc

« the effectiveness of our internal financial cohtind risk management systems; the effectiverfessro
internal audit function, the independent audit psscincluding the appointment, retention, compémsat
and supervision of the independent auditor;

e the compliance with laws and regulations, as a®lthe policies and ethical codes established by
management and the board of direct

The Audit Committee is also responsible for impletimeg procedures for receiving, retaining and asisiregy
complaints regarding accounting, internal contral auditing matters, including the submission affmtential, anonymous
complaints from employees regarding questionabdewtting or auditing matters.

Messrs. Jose Castafieda, Roberto Artavia and Alfteds, all independent non-executive directorsarrttie
applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange,the current members of the committee, which &reld by Mr. Jose
Castafieda. All members are financially literate kia$srs. Jose Castafieda and Roberto Artavia havedatermined to be
financial experts by the board of directors.

Compensation Committee Our Compensation Committee is responsible for éhection process of the Chief
Executive Officer and the evaluation of all exeeatofficers (including the CEO), recommending teel of compensation ai
any associated bonus. The charter of our Compens@aommittee requires that all its members shatidieexecutive director.
of which at least one member will be an independ@ettor under the applicable rules of the NewkyStock Exchange.
Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias and José Catdadie the members of our Compensation CommitteeMa. Stanley
Motta is the Chairman of the Compensation Committee

Nominating and Corporate Governance CommitteeOur Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee i
responsible for developing and recommending catint selecting new directors, overseeing evaluataf the board of
directors, its members and committees of the bohdirectors and handling other matters that aezifigally delegated to the
compensation committee by the board of directamfiime to time. Our charter documents require tthaite be at least one
independent member of the Nominating and Corpdeateernance Committee until the first shareholderséting to elect
directors after such time as the Class A sharesrgitted to full voting rights. Messrs. Ricardoi@g, Osvaldo Heilbron and
Roberto Artavia are the members of our Nominating @orporate Governance Committee, and Mr. RicAiis is the
Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Govern@uramittee.

Independent Directors Committee Our Independent Directors Committee is createdusyAeticles of Incorporatio
and consists of any directors that the board @fodars determines from time to time meet the inddpece requirements of the
NYSE Act applicable to audit committee membersooéign private issuers. Our Articles of Incorpavatprovide that ther
will be three independent directors at all timesyject to certain exceptions. Under our Articlesrnmforporation, the
Independent Directors Committee must approve:

* any transactions in excess of $5 million betweeandour controlling shareholde

» the designation of certain primary share issustitat will not be included in the calculation bét
percentage ownership pertaining to the Class Bestfar purposes of determining whether the Class A
shares should be converted to voting shares unaiekrticles of Incorporation, an

« theissuance of additional Class B shares ors@ashares to ensure Copa Airline’s compliance with
aviation laws and regulatior
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The Independent Directors Committee shall also laayeother powers expressly delegated by the BofaBdrectors
Under the Articles of Incorporation, these poweas only be changed by the Board of Directors acs@ whole upon the
written recommendation of the Independent Direc@wmmittee. The Independent Directors Committeéamly meet
regularly until the first shareholders’ meetingndich the Class A shareholders will be entitleddte for the election of
directors and afterwards at any time that Claskaes are outstanding. All decisions of the InddpethDirectors Committee
shall be made by a majority of the members of trarnittee. See “ltem 10B. Memorandum and ArticleAs$ociation—
Description of Capital Stock.”

D. Employees

We believe that our growth potential and the aatrieent of our results-oriented corporate goals &eettly linked to
our ability to attract, motivate and maintain thestprofessionals available in the airline businessrder to help retain our
employees, we encourage open communication chabegl®en our employees and management. Our CEG mpagtterly
with all of our Copa employees in Panama in towliv$tgle meetings during which he explains the camys performance and
encourages feedback from attendees. A similar ptaen is made by our senior executives at eacuoforeign stations. Our
compensation strategy reinforces our determinaticetain talented and highly motivated employeesia designed to align
the interests of our employees with our sharehsltieough profit-sharing.

Our profit-sharing program at Copa reflects ourdfehat our employees will remain dedicated to suecess if they
have a stake in that success. We identify key pmdace drivers within each employse&ontrol as part of our annual objecti
plan, or “Path to Success.” Typically, we pay b@wis February based on our performance duringrteeeding calendar year.
For members of management, 75% of the bonus anmbased on our performance as a whole and 25%sidon the
achievement of individual goals. Bonuses for nomaggement employees is based on the company’s perfme, and is
typically a multiple of the employee’s weekly sglaFor 2007, the non-management employees recejyed seven weeks’
salary, depending on their position. The bonus paymare approved by our compensation committeetypieally make
accruals each month for the expected annual bowsies are reconciled to actual payments at thepetsal in February.

We generally maintain good relations with our unéor non-union employees and have not experienoek w
stoppages for the past twenty years. Approximatéi of Copa’s employees are located in Panamae\l remaining 24%
are distributed among our stations. Copa’s empkygae be categorized as follows:

December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Pilots 22C 224 23t 29¢ 37t
Flight attendant 34¢ 37z 44¢ 514 57t
Mechanics 20¢ 18¢ 20C 15E 21z
Customer service agents, reservation

agents, ramp and oth 1,382 1,47(C 1,62¢ 1,861 1,89¢
Management and cleric 48C 49¢ 587 67t 742
Total employee 2,64( 2,75¢ 3,09¢ 3,50« 3,80:

We provide training for all of our employees indhgi technical training for our pilots, dispatchetight attendants
and other technical staff. In addition, we prowideurrent customer service training to frontlireffstas well as leadership
training for managers. In 2005, we leased a LevitigBt simulator for Boeing 73Next Generation training that served 80%
our initial training, transition and upgrade traigiand 100% of our recurrent training needs regatiinthat aircraft. During 20C
we upgraded this simulator to provide 100% of mitidl training. We have also entered into an agrest to lease a flight
simulator for Embraer 190 training, which shoulddvailable for use in Panama in the middle of 2008.

Approximately 57% of Copa’employees are unionized. There are currentlydiiens covering our Copa employ
in Panama: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flightestdants’ union (SIPANAB); the mechanicsiion (SINTECMAP); the traffi
attendants’ union (UGETRACO); and a generalizedmnSIELAS, which represents ground personnel, eregss, drivers,
counter agents and other non-executive adminigérataff. In November of 2007, Copa entered intyegegotiations with its
pilot union, reaching a new collective bargainimgement that will remain in effect for more thanrfyears, with the next
negotiation scheduled for August 2012.
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Copa believes that this new agreement improvesbitity to retain and hire the pilots needed totoare with its expansion
plans without compromising its long term cost stmoe or competitiveness. Copa entered into nevecitille bargaining
agreements with its general union and its fligkgredants’ union on October 26, 2005 and April @0espectively. After
extensive negotiations which did not lead to a ralljwsatisfactory resolution, Copa and the mect&ininion entered into a
government-mandated arbitration and a collectivgdiaing agreement was agreed to on March 29, 28@6result of such
arbitration proceeding. Previously, we have not teagésort to arbitration to resolve negotiationghwur unions. Collective
bargaining agreements in Panama typically extenébfa years. We also have agreements with our @opaloyees in Sao
Paulo, Brazil and Mexico. We have traditionally edpnced good relations with our unions, and weegaly agree to terms in
line with the economic environment affecting Panaowa company and the airline industry generallppfoximately 19% of
Copa'’s employees work part-time.

AeroRepublica’s pilots and flight attendants aggresented by two separate unions. The pilots’ ymgnciacion
Colombiana de Aviadores CiviléACDAC), represents AeroRepublica’s 151 pilots anepilots. The flight attendants’ union,
Asociacion Colombiana de Auxiliares de VU(ACAV), represents all of AeroRepublica’s 196 fligittendants.
AeroRepublica’s entered into a new collective barigg agreement with ACDAC on March 3, 2008 and b effect until
December 31, 2010. Typically, collective bargainaggeements in Colombia are valid for a periodaaf to four years.
AeroRepublica has traditionally experienced godaltiens with its unions.

E. Share Ownership

The members of our board of directors and our eikezofficers as a group own 0.6% of our Class Arsk. See
“Item 7A. Major Shareholders and Related Party $a&tions.”

For a description of stock options granted to ararll of directors and our executive officers, se€Cbmpensation—
Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan”.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transations
A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information relatitthe beneficial ownership of our Class A shagsf March 31,
2008 by each person known to us to beneficially 8%nor more of our common shares and all our direcnd officers as a
group. Class A shares are limited voting shareil@shbnly to vote in certain specified circunstaacSeeltem 10B. Additiona
Information — Memorandum and Articles of Associatie- Description of Capital Stock.”

Class A Shares
Beneficially Owned

Shares (%) ©
CIASA @ — —
Continenta(®) 4,375,001 14.2%
Executive officers and directors as a group (1$qes) 168,48t 0.€%
Others 25,872,95 85.1%
Total 30,416,44 10(%

(1) Based on a total of 30,416,440 Class A sharesamdstg.
(2) CIASA owns 100% of the Class B shares of Copa higlsli representing 29.2% of our total capital st

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the S&éesrand Exchange Commission, dated July 5, 2@0&hich Continental
reported that it had sole voting and dispositivei@oover 4,375,000 of Class A shar

CIASA currently owns 100% of the Class B share€gpa Holdings, representing all of the voting powkeour
capital stock. CIASA is controlled by a group ohBenanian investors representing several promirenilies in Panama. This
group of investors has historically acted togethex variety of business activities both in Panamd elsewhere in Latin
America, including banking, insurance, real estilecommunications, international trade and consmand wholesale.
Members of the Motta, Heilbron and Arias familieldheir affiliates beneficially own approximate&@% of CIASA'’s shares.
Our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Pedro Heilbrondaseveral of our directors, including Messrs. Staiotta and Alberto C.
Motta Jr., Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron, Mr. Jaime Ariagdavir. Ricardo Alberto Arias as a group hold beriafiownership of
approximately 78% of CIASA’s shares.
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The holders of more than 78% of the issued andanding stock of CIASA have entered into a shamrs!
agreement providing that the parties to the agreemil vote all of their shares in CIASA togeth&s a group on all matters
concerning CIASA’s holdings of Class B shares. Aiddally, the shareholders’ agreement restrictssiers of CIASA shares
to non-Panamanian nationals. Messrs. Stanley MoidaAlberto C. Motta Jr. together exercise effextiontrol of CIASA.

One of our directors, Mr. Erwin, is an officer ob@inental and may be deemed to share beneficiabmship with
Continental of our Class A shares held by Contialebut Mr. Erwin disclaims such beneficial ownepsh

The address of CIASA is Corporacion de Inversioh@sas, S.A., c/o Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.
Boulevard Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y Adendle la Rotonda, Urbanizacion Costa del Este, GgmBusiness Park,
Torre Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Panaimaatidress of Continental is Continental Airlirles,, 1600 Smith Street,
Houston, Texas 77002.

B. Related Party Transactions
Shareholders’ Agreement

Copa Holdings is a party to the amended and resshtareholders’ agreement with CIASA and Contirlesmigered
into in connection with our initial public offeringhe amended and restated shareholders’ agre@medes for, among other
things:

e aright of each of CIASA and Continental to destgrecertain number of directors to our board céator:
for so long as they hold a certain amount of oummmn stock. Of the 11 members of our board, culgrent
CIASA has the right to designate seven directotcs@ontinental has the right to designate one dirsct
with the remaining three directors bei“independer” under the rules of the New York Stock Exchar

*  certain limitations on transfers of our common ktbg CIASA or Continental

e subject to certain exceptions, a right of fif§eoin favor of CIASA to purchase any shares of common
stock Continental proposes to sell to any thirdypand

e the ability of Continental to “tag-along” theinares of our common stock to certain sales of comstack
by CIASA to non-Panamanians or, in the case ohaedales of Class B stock by CIASA to Panamanians,
to receive additional registration rights with respto the shares they would otherwise have belertab
sell.

Continental has entered into a lock-up agreemetht @ASA which restricts its sale of common stoaithout the
prior written consent of CIASA and subject to certather exceptions, until June 29, 2008.

A material uncured breach of the Shareholders’ Agrent by CIASA or Copa Holdings will trigger righds

Continental in the Alliance Agreement, Serviceségnent and Frequent Flyer Agreement to terminatgetgreements as
described below.
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Registration Rights Agreement

Copa Holdings is party to an amended and restaggdtration rights agreement with CIASA and Coniiaé
pursuant to which CIASA and Continental were esditto certain demand and piggyback rights withees the registration
and sale of our common stock held by them. Thestegion rights agreement initially permitted ea€iCIASA and Continent:
to make up to two demands on us to register cestaanes of common stock held by them. Continergslused one of its two
demand rights in connection with the 2006 followadfering. Since the 2006 follow-on offering, Cargntal no longer has the
right to register any of our class A shares thhbltls except in the event that CIASA reduceswgstment in us to a level
below that of Continental’s ownership in us. On# bhthe registration expenses incurred in conioactith the first demand
registration requested after the date hereof, whigienses exclude underwriting discounts and cosiomis, will be paid
ratably by each security holder participating istsoffering in proportion to the number of theiasbs that are included in the
offering, and the balance of such expenses wifidid by the Copa Holdings for such demand registrat Thereafter, all such
expenses will be paid ratably by each security éropdrticipating in such offering in proportionttee number of their shares
that are included in the offering. Continental laégb entered into a loakp agreement with the underwriters, which restddts
sale of our common stock until the first anniveysairthe 2006 follow-on offering.

A material uncured breach of the Registration Rigkgreement by CIASA or Copa Holdings will triggeghts of
Continental in the Alliance Agreement, Servicesefgnent and Frequent Flyer Agreement to terminateethgreements as
described below.

Commercial Agreements with Continental

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gaved by several interrelated agreements between &uapa
Continental. Each of the agreements as amendereataded will expire only upon three years’ writtestice by one of the
airlines to the other, which may not be given befglay 2012. Other events of termination are sehforthe descriptions of tt
major alliance-related agreements set forth below.

Alliance AgreementJnder our alliance agreement with Continental, @itlines agree to continue their codesharing
relationship with extensions as they feel are gmpate and to work to maintain our antitrust imntyniith the DOT. In order
to support the codesharing relationship, the albasgreement also contains provisions mandatimgpéncied frequent flyer
relationship between the airlines, setting minimewels of quality of service for the airlines antteuraging cooperation in
marketing and other operational initiatives. Coatital and Copa are prohibited by the alliance ages¢ from entering into
commercial agreements with certain classes of ctimgpairlines, and the agreement requires bothgstd include each other,
as practicable, in their commercial relationshigih wther airlines. Other than by expiration asatlibed above, the agreement
is also terminable by an airline in cases of, amathgr things, uncured material breaches of tharmé agreement by the other
airline, bankruptcy of the other airline, termimetiof the services agreement for breach by the atiéne, termination of the
frequent flyer participation agreement without eimig into a successor agreement by the other @jtermination by
Continental upon the material unremedied breacheghareholders agreement or the registrationtsriagreement by CIASA
or Copa Holdings, termination by Copa upon the ntanremedied breach of the shareholders agreeonehe registration
rights agreement by Continental, certain competisigtivities, certain changes of control of eitbthe parties and certain
significant operational service failures by theesthirline.

Services Agreementinder the services agreement, both airlines agrpeovide to each other certain services over
the course of the agreement at the providing a&sriecremental cost, subject to certain limitasoServices covered under the
agreement include consolidating purchasing poweedaipment purchases and insurance coveragenghaenagement
information systems, pooling maintenance prograngsiaventory management, joint training and empéogechanges, sharing
the benefits of other purchase contracts for gamdsservices, telecommunications and other serv@ir than by expiration
as described above, the agreement is also termibgtdn airline in cases of, among other thingsuted material breaches of
the alliance agreement by the other airline, bapticsuof the other airline, termination of the sers agreement for breach by
the other airline, termination of the frequent flparticipation agreement without entering intaiacessor agreement by the
other airline, termination by Continental upon thaterial unremedied breach of the shareholdersaget or the registration
rights agreement by CIASA or Copa Holdings, terrtioraby Copa upon the material unremedied breatcheo§hareholders
agreement or the registration rights agreementdnti@ental, certain changes of control of eithethef parties and certain
significant operational service failures by theesthirline.
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Frequent Flyer Participation Agreemefinder the frequent flyer participation agreemerg,participate in
Continental’'s OnePass frequent flyer global progesm on a co-branded basis in Latin America. Custsrim the program
receive credit for flying on segments operated &ywhich can be redeemed for award travel on agit8 and those of other
partner airlines. The agreement also governs joarketing agreements under the program, settleprenédures between the
airlines and revenue-sharing under bank card &ffrelationships. Further, if the Services Agreehieterminated or expires,
the compensation structure of the frequent flyegpam will be revised to be comparable to otheComtinentals frequent flye
relationships. We also have the right under theement to participate on similar terms in any sssgeprogram operated by
Continental. Other than by expiration as descrégalve, the agreement is also terminable by amaiii cases of, among other
things, uncured material breaches of the alliaggeeanent by the other airline, bankruptcy of tHeeotirline, termination of
the services agreement for breach by the othéneiiermination of the frequent flyer participatiagreement without entering
into a successor agreement by the other airlinmitation by Continental upon the material unrereddireach of the
shareholders agreement or the registration rigiresemnent by CIASA or Copa Holdings, terminationdgpa upon the materi
unremedied of the shareholders agreement or th&tnagn rights agreement by Continental, certdianges of control of
either of the parties and certain significant operel service failures by the other airline.

Trademark License Agreemebinder the trademark license agreement, we haveghtto use a logo incorporating
globe design that is similar to the globe desig€oitinental’s logo. We also have the right to Gsatinental’s trade dress,
aircraft livery and certain other Continental mauksler the agreement that allow us to more closlkgy our overall product
with our alliance partner. The trademark licenseament is coterminous with the Alliance Agreenand can also be
terminated for breach. In most cases, we will reperiod of five years after termination to ceasadge the marks on our
aircraft, with less time provided for signage amlgdeo uses of the marks or in cases where the agregemterminated for a
breach by us.

Agreements with our controlling shareholders and tleir affiliates

Our directors and controlling shareholders haveynmher commercial interests within Panama anduiiinout Latin
America. We have commercial relationships with salef these affiliated parties from which we puash goods or services,
described below. In each case we believe our tcéinsa with these affiliated parties are at arresgth and on terms that we
believe reflect prevailing market rates.

Banco General, S.A.

We have a strong commercial banking relationship Banco General, S. A. On January 3, 2007 Gruparfgiero
Continental, S. A., which is controlled by somepaf shareholders, agreed to merge the operatioBarafo Continental with
Banco General to form Panama’s largest privatelgemhbank. Since the execution of the merger, theesiolders of Grupo
Financiero Continental S. A. own approximately 38fthe combined entity. We have obtained finané¢mg Banco General
under short to medium-term financing arrangememtért of the commercial loan tranche of one ef@ompany’s Export-
Import Bank facilities. We also maintain generakb of credit and time deposit accounts with BaBeaoeral. Interest paymel
to Banco General totaled $0.6 million, $1.4 milliand $1.6 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respetyivand interest received
from Banco General amounted to $4.5 million, $1iion, and $1.0 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005spectively. The
outstanding debt balance at December 31, 2007, rted®o $4.8 million and $8.5 million in 2007 an@DB, respectively.
These amounts are included in “Current maturitiderg-term debt” and “Long-term debiti the Consolidated Balance She

ASSA Compafiia de Seguros, S.A.

Panamanian law requires us to maintain our insergotcies through a local insurance company. We ha
contracted with ASSA, an insurance company cormdatly our controlling shareholders, to provide saugally all of our
insurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfathe risks under those policies with insuranceaganies around the world.
The net payment to ASSA, after taking into accdbatreinsurance of these risks, is approximate®,@&B per year.
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Petréleos Delta, S.A.

During 2005, we entered into a contract with PewéIDelta, S.A. to supply our jet fuel needs. Theepagreed to
under this contract is based on the two week aeephthe U.S. Gulf Coast Waterborne Mean index [duoal taxes, certain
third-party handling charges and a handling ch&mdgelta. The contract has a one year term thataatically renews for one
year periods unless terminated by one of the ganithile our controlling shareholders do not holtbatrolling equity interest
in Petroleos Delta, S.A., several of our direcames also Board members of Petréleos Delta, S.AmRays to Petrdleos Delta
totaled $126.0 million in 2007, $77.9 million in@®and $26.5 million from August to December of 200

Desarollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A.

During January 2006, we moved into our recentlystmicted new headquarters located six miles aveayg ffocume
International Airport. We lease five floors consigtof approximately 104,000 square feet of thedig from Desarollo
Inmobiliario del Este, S.A., an entity controlleg the same group of investors that controls CIA8#der a 10-year lease at a
rate of $0.1 million per month, which we believebia market rate. Payments to Desarrollo Inmaflidel Este, S.A. totaled
$1.9 million, 1.8 million, $0.6 million in 2007, 2@ and 2005, respectively.

Galindo, Arias & Lopez

Most of our legal work is carried out by the lawnfiGalindo, Arias & Lopez. Messrs. Jaime Arias &ickrdo
Alberto Arias, partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopexze indirect shareholders of CIASA and serve onbmard of directors.
Payments to Galindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.4iom| $0.3 million and $0.3 million in 2007, 20062005, respectively.

Other Transactions

We also purchase most of the alcohol and someedbttier beverages served on our aircraft from Maternaciona
S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., both of which aretoafed by our controlling shareholders. We do hate any formal contrac
for these purchases, but pay wholesale prices lmsedce lists periodically submitted by those ortprs. We paid
approximately $0.6 million in 2007, $0.5 million 2006 and $0.4 million in 2005 to these entities.

Since February 2003 our telecommunications sertiege been provided by Telecarrier. Some of thérabing
shareholders of CIASA have a controlling interestélecarrier. Payments to Telecarrier totaled $@iléon, $0.5 million and
$0.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The advertising agency that we use in Panama, RoD&z Publicidad (RDP), is owned by the brothedaw of our
chief executive officer. Gross invoices for all\sees performed through RDP totaled $1.6 millioh,3million and
$1.5 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We have received services from Call Center Corpmrad call center that operates Copa’s reservagonl sales
services and handles calls from Panama as well m®s$t other countries to which Copa flies. Onewfdirectors, Joseph

Fidanque lll, is one of the owners of this calltegnPayments to Call Center Corporation totale® $&llion and $2.4 million
in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable.
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Item 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Infomation

See “ltem 3. Key Information—Selected Financial®atnd “ltem 18. Financial Statements.”
Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we areyarvarious legal actions, which we believe a@dantal to the
operation of our business. While legal proceedarmgsinherently uncertain, we believe that the aueof the proceedings to
which we are currently a party are not likely taed@ material adverse effect on our financial pasjtresults of operations and
cash flows. The Antitrust Administrative Agency (@ision de Libre Competencia y Asuntos del ConsumidoCLICAC),
together with a group of travel agencies, has filedntitrust lawsuit against Copa, Continental efican Airlines, Grupo
TACA and Delta Airlines in the Panamanian CommérEiédunal alleging monopolistic practices in rethgtravel agents’
commissions. The outcome of this lawsuit is stiltertain and may take several years. We believartiihe worst scenario the
airlines could be required to pay up to $20 millionaddition, ACES, a now-defunct Colombian aglifiled an antitrust
lawsuit against Copa, Avianca and SAM, alleging omwlistic practices in relation to their code-shgragreements. This case
is currently in the discovery period and could takeeral years to be resolved. If Copa, Aviancdar®iAM were found at fat
and in breach of antitrust legislation, they cooddpotentially liable for up to $11 million.

Dividends and Dividend Policy

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgettte discretion of our board of directors. Undan&manian law,
we may pay dividends only out of retained earniaugs capital surplus. So long as we do not defawur payments under our
loan agreements, there are no covenants or otteict®ns on our ability to declare and pay divids. Our Atrticles of
Incorporation provide that all dividends declargdoorr board of directors will be paid equally wittspect to all of the Class A
and Class B shares. See “Item 10B. Additional mfation —Memorandum and Articles of AssociatioBescription of Capite
Stock—Dividends.”

Our board of directors has adopted a dividend pdhat provides for the payment of approximatel§ysl6f our
annual consolidated net income to shareholdersdasdend to be declared at our annual sharehdldeegeting and paid short
thereafter. Our board of directors may, in its sbéeretion and for any reason, amend or discoattha dividend policy. Our
board of directors may change the level of dividepibvided for in this dividend policy or entiraljscontinue the payment of
dividends. Future dividends with respect to shafemur common stock, if any, will depend on, amatiger things, our results
of operations, cash requirements, financial cooujtcontractual restrictions, business opportusiteovisions of applicable
law and other factors that our board of directoay meem relevant.

On May 9, 2007, our board of directors declaredmmmual dividend of $0.31 per share payable Jun2a® to
shareholders of record as of May 31, 2007 whichesgnted an aggregate dividend payment of $13l&miOn May 11, 200t
our board of directors declared an annual dividefr0.19 per share payable June 15, 2006 to shdekmf record as of
May 31, 2006 which represented an aggregate didigayment of $8.3 million. In addition, we paidextraordinary dividend
of $10 million to our shareholders in December 2804 another extraordinary dividend of $10 milliordune 2005. Prior to
the December 2004 dividend payment, we had notgdididend since the formation of Copa Holding4 %98.

B. Significant Changes

None
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing
A. Offer and Listing Details

Our Class A shares have been listed on the New 8tw&k Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CPACsi
December 14, 2005. The following table sets fdidhthe periods indicated, the high and low clossate prices for the Class A
shares on the NYSE for the periods indicated.

Low High

2005

Annual @) 21.9¢ 27.4(

2006

Annual 20.31 49.0¢
First quartel 20.31 27.1(
Second quarte 20.9¢ 24.2¢
Third quartel 21.5¢ 35.2:
Fourth quarte 33.1¢ 49.0¢

2007

Annual 30.2¢ 73.3¢
First quartel 46.7( 66.4%
Second quarte 50.5¢ 71.0C
Third quartel 38.31 73.3%
Fourth quarte 30.2¢ 45.2¢

Last Six Months
November 200° 30.2¢ 37.3%
December 200 35.27 39.2¢
January 200: 32.5¢ 40.2¢
February 200t 36.01 41.97
March 200¢ 30.0C 38.3¢
April 2008 34.5¢ 40.7¢

(1) Period beginning December 14, 2005 through Dece@ibe?005
B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.
C. Markets

Our Class A shares have been listed on the NYSEnthd symbol “CPA” since December 14, 2005. Ows€B
shares are not listed on any exchange and areubbtly traded. We are subject to the NYSE corpmgavernance listing
standards. The NYSE requires that corporations ghtres listed on the exchange comply with cetaiporate governance
standards. As a foreign private issuer, we are m@dyired to comply with certain NYSE rules relgtio audit committees and
periodic certifications to the NYSE. The NYSE atsquires that we provide a summary of the significtifferences between
our corporate governance practices and those thaltdvepply to a U.S. domestic issuer. We belieesftiiowing to be the
significant differences between our corporate geance practices and those that would typicallyyappb U.S. domestic isst
under the NYSE corporate governance rules.

In addition, companies that are registered in Panara required to disclose whether or not they dpmvjih certain
corporate governance guidelines and principlesatatecommended by the National Securities ConmomgsComision
Nacional de Valore, or CNV). Statements below referring to Panamagmmrernance standards reflect these voluntary
guidelines set by the CNV rather than legal reqméets or standard national practices. Our Cladsakes are registered with
the CNV, and we comply with the CNV’s disclosurguigements.
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NYSE Standards

Our Corporate Governance Practice

Director Independence
Majority of board of directors must be independ:
§303A.01

Executive SessioniNon-management directors must meet
regularly in executive sessions without management.
Independent directors should meet alone in an ekex
session at least once a year. §303/

Nominating/corporate governance committe
Nominating/corporate governance committee of inddpat
directors is required. The committee must haveateh
specifying the purpose, duties and evaluation piaces of
the committee. 8303A.04

Compensation committe€€ompensation committee of
independent directors is required, which must appro
executive officer compensation. The committee haw a
charter specifying the purpose, duties and evatumati
procedures of the committee. 8303A

Equity compensation plansEquity compensation plans
require shareholder approval, subject to limitecewptions

Code of EthicsCorporate governance guidelines and a code
of business conduct and ethics is required, wiigcldsure of
any waiver for directors or executive officers. 88010
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Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthsnd
one in every five directors should be an indepehdeactor.
The criteria for determining independence under the
Panamanian corporate governance standards diftemsthe
NYSE rules. In Panama, a director would be consiti
independent as long as the director does not direct
indirectly own 5% or more of the issued and outditag
voting shares of the company, is not involved i dhaily
management of the company and is not a spouséateddo
the second degree by blood or marriage to the psnsamed
above.

Our Atrticles of Incorporation require us to haveesth
independent directors as defined under the NY S&st

There are no mandatory requirements under Panamiama
that a company should hold, and we currently dchotd,
such executive sessions.

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthand
registered companies have a nominating committee
composed of three members of the board of direcabisast
one of which should be an independent directoss the
chief executive officer and the chief financialioff. In
Panama, the majority of public corporations dohrete a
nominating or corporate governance committee. Qticlas
of Incorporation require that we maintain a Nomimgiand
Corporate Governance Committee with at least one
independent director until the first shareholdengeting to
elect directors after such time as the Class Aeshare
entitled to full voting rights

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthand
the compensation of executives and directors beseee by
the nominating committee but do not otherwise asklthe
need for a compensation committee.

While we maintain a compensation committee thatates
under a charter as described by the NYSE governance
standards, currently one of the members of thatnoitiee is
independent

Under Panamanian law, shareholder approval isewptired
for equity compensation plar

Panamanian corporate governance standards doquotere
the adoption of specific guidelines as contemplatethe
NYSE standards, although they do require that corneg
disclose differences between their practices dist af
specified practices recommended by the C

We have not adopted a set of corporate governaridelme:
as contemplated by the NYSE, although we will ipineed
to comply with the disclosure requirement of the\Cl

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthand
registered companies adopt a code of ethics caystinh
topics as its ethical and moral principles, howddress
conflicts of interest, the appropriate use of reses,
obligations to inform of acts of corruption and hagism to
enforce the compliance with established rules oficat.
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D. Selling Shareholders

Not applicable.
E. Dilution

Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.
Item 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital

Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a cator(sociedad anénimajuly incorporated under the laws of
Panama with an indefinite duration. The Registimnégistered under Public Document No. 3.989 of /821998 of the Notary
Number Eight of the Circuit of Panama and recoiidettie Public Registry Office, Microfilm (Mercangi) Section, Microjacke
344962, Film Roll 59672, Frame 0023.
Objects and Purposes

Copa Holdings is principally engaged in the investirin airlines and aviation-related companies\aerdures,
although our Articles of Incorporation grant us gexh powers to engage in any other lawful businesgther or not related to
any of the specific purposes set forth in the AeSmf Incorporation.

Description of Capital Stock

The following is a summary of the material term€opa Holding's capital stock and a brief summafygertain
significant provisions of Copa Holding's ArticleSlacorporation. This description contains all mas information
concerning the common stock but does not purpdsetoomplete. For additional information regarditige common stock,
reference is made to the Articles of Incorporatiamcopy of which has been filed as an exhibit éorégistration statement of
which this prospectus forms a part.

For purposes of this section only, reference tor"aar “the company” shall refer only to Copa Holdgs and
references to “Panamanians” shall refer to thoséitegs or natural persons that are considered Pamaran nationals under
the Panamanian Aviation Act, as it may be amendécterpreted.

Common Stock
Our authorized capital stock consists of 80 mill&trares of common stock without par value, divioiéd Class A
shares, Class B shares and Class C shares. Agefriber 31, 2007, we had 30,965,444 Class A sheseed, 12,778,125

Class B shares issued and outstanding, and no Clalares outstanding. Class A and Class B shakesthe same economic
rights and privileges, including the right to reeedividends, except as described in this section.
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Class A Shares

The holders of the Class A shares are not entitiedte at our shareholders’ meetings, except imeotion with the
following specific matters:

* atransformation of Copa Holdings into another ooage type
e amerger, consolidation or s-off of Copa Holdings

* achange of corporate purpo

* voluntarily delisting Class A shares from the NY

. approving the nomination of Independent Directaminated by our board of director's Nominatinglan
Corporate Governance Committee following our nextual general shareholders meeting;

« any amendment to the foregoing special votingigions adversely affecting the rights and privle@f the
Class A share:

At least 30 days prior to taking any of the actibsted above, we must give notice to the Classié @lass B shareholders of
our intention to do so. If requested by sharehaldepresenting at least 5% of our outstanding sh#re board of directors st
call an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to appisuch action. At the extraordinary shareholdeestting, shareholders
representing a majority of all of the outstandihgres must approve a resolution authorizing thpgsed action. For such
purpose, every holder of our shares is entitleah® vote per share. See “—Shareholders Meetings.”

The Class A shareholders will acquire full votinghts, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon
which shareholders are entitled to vote, if infiliteire our Class B shares ever represent fewerkf&of the total number of
shares of our common stock and the Independent®@meCommittee shall have determined that sucktiaddl voting rights ¢
Class A shareholders would not cause a triggennegtereferred to below. In such event, the righthef Class A shareholders
vote on the specific matters described in the pliegeparagraph will no longer be applicable. Thébsltreshold described in
the first sentence of this paragraph will be calted without giving effect to any newly issued &lsasold with the approval of
the Independent Directors Committee.

At such time, if any, as the Class A shareholdeguize full voting rights, the Board of Directoiisadl call an
extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to be heldiwi@® days following the date as of which the Classhares are entitled to
vote on all matters at our shareholders’ meetiAghe extraordinary shareholders’ meeting, theelhalders shall vote to elect
all eleven members of the board of directors ilreesecommended by the Nominating and Governawocendttee. The terms
of office of the directors that were serving pitiorthe extraordinary shareholders’ meeting shathteate upon the election held
at that meeting.

Class B Shares

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to aote per share on all matters for which shareholdersntitled to
vote. Class B shares will be automatically conwei¢o Class A shares upon the registration ofsfiemof such shares to
holders which are not Panamanian as described heider “—Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stdgknversion of
Class B Shares.”

Class C Shares

Upon the occurrence and during the continuancetioggering event described below in “—Aviation Rig
Protections,” the Independent Directors Committieeun board of directors, or the board of direc®ssa whole if applicable,
are authorized to issue Class C shares to the Blastders pro rata in proportion to such ClassoRiérs’ ownership of Copa
Holdings. The Class C shares will have no econalice and will not be transferable, but will possesch voting rights as the
Independent Directors Committee shall deem necgssansure the effective control of the companylbyamanians. The
Class C shares will be redeemable by the compasycattime as the Independent Directors Commitiéerdhines that such a
triggering event shall no longer be in effect. Tsass C shares will not be entitled to any divideadany other economic
rights.
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Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stock; Convernsiof Class B Share

The Class B shares may only be held by Panamardadsjpon registration of any transfer of a Clash&e to a
holder that does not certify that it is Panamarsaich Class B share shall automatically conveotan€lass A share.
Transferees of Class B shares will be requirecktiver to us written certification of their statas a Panamanian as a condition
to registering the transfer to them of Class B eba€lass A shareholders will not be required ditled to provide such
certification. If a Class B shareholder intendset any Class B shares to a person that has heedsl a certification as to
Panamanian nationality and immediately after givffgct to such proposed transfer the outstandiagg<®B shares would
represent less than 10% of our outstanding stoaky@ing newly issued shares sold with the approfalur Independent
Directors Committee), the selling shareholder nmfstrm the board of directors at least ten dayero such transfer. The
Independent Directors Committee may determinefissesto register the transfer if the Committee @@ably concludes, on the
basis of the advice of a reputable external aetarewounsel, that such transfer would be reasigritdely to cause a
triggering event as described below. After thet ifgareholders’ meeting at which the Class A shadelns are entitled to vote
for the election of our directors, the role of thdependent Directors described in the precedintesee shall be exercised by
the entire board of directors acting as a whole.

Also, the board of directors may refuse to regiateransfer of stock if the transfer violates anyvsion of the
Articles of Incorporation.

Tag-along Rights

Our board of directors may refuse to register aagdfer of shares in which CIASA proposes to s&Ek€B shares
pursuant to a sale at a price per share that &eréhan the average public trading price pereshithe Class A shares for the
preceding 30 days to an unrelated third partywmatld, after giving effect to such sale, have tigatrto elect a majority of the
board of directors and direct our management afidig®, unless the proposed purchaser agrees te,raakpromptly as
possible, a public offer for the purchase of alistanding Class A shares and Class B shares ateagar share equal to the
price per share paid for the shares being soldIBB&. While our Articles of Incorporation providenited rights to holders of
our Class A shares to sell their shares at the gaite as CIASA in the event that a sale of Clash&es by CIASA results in
the purchaser having the right to elect a majaritgur board, there are other change of controls@ations in which holders of
our Class A shares would not have the right toigpete, including the sale of interests by a péngt had previously acquired
Class B shares from CIASA, the sale of interestarmyther party in conjunction with a sale by CIA$#e sale by CIASA of
control to more than one party, or the sale of mdliig interests in CIASA itself.

Aviation Rights Protection:

As described in “Regulation—Panama,” the Panama#idation Act, including the related decrees anguitations,
and the bilateral treaties between Panama and ctletries that allow us to fly to those countrieguire that Panamanians
exercise “effective control” of Copa and maintasighificant ownership” of the airline. The Indepent Directors Committee
have certain powers under our Articles of Incorfiorato ensure that certain levels of ownership eortrol of Copa Holdings
remain in the hands of Panamanians upon the ocm@@f certain triggering events referred to below.

In the event that the Class B shareholders représsnthan 10% of the total share capital of tragany (excluding
newly issued shares sold with the approval of adependent Directors Committee) and the Indeperidieettors Committee
determines that it is reasonably likely that Coma’€opa Holdings’ legal ability to engage in thviasion business or to
exercise its international route rights will besked, suspended or materially inhibited in a manvteéch would materially and
adversely affect the company, in each case asui tfsuch non-Panamanian ownership (each a tiiggevent), the
Independent Directors Committee may take eithdroth of the following actions:

. authorize the issuance of additional Class Beshtir Panamanians at a price determined by theéndent
Directors to reflect the current market value aftsshares c

. authorize the issuance to Class B shareholdetsraumber of Class C shares as the Independenttfise
Committee, or the board of directors if applicaloleems necessary and with such other terms andtiomsd
established by the Independent Directors Commiktaedo not confer economic rights on the Clasb&es
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Dividends

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgettte discretion of our board of directors. Undan&manian law,
we may pay dividends only out of retained earnimgs capital surplus. Our Articles of Incorporatfmovide that all dividends
declared by our board of directors will be paid&tyuwith respect to all of the Class A and ClassHares. Our board of
directors has adopted a dividend policy that presifbr the payment of approximately 10% of our ahiconsolidated net
income to Class A and Class B shareholders. Oudhafadirectors may, in its sole discretion andday reason, amend or
discontinue the dividend policy. Our board of dicgs may change the level of dividends providedrichis dividend policy or
entirely discontinue the payment of dividends.

Shareholder Meeting:
Ordinary Meetings
Our Articles of Incorporation require us to hold@dinary annual meeting of shareholders withinfitst five
months of each fiscal year. The ordinary annualtmg®f shareholders is the corporate body thattelthe board of directors,
approves the annual financial statements of Copéiiys and approves any other matter that doesegpiire an extraordinary
shareholders’ meeting. Shareholders representilegstt 5% of the issued and outstanding commork stotitled to vote may
submit proposals to be included in such ordinagresholders meeting, provided the proposal is subthit least 45 days prior
to the meeting.
Extraordinary Meetings
Extraordinary meetings may be called by the bo&directors when deemed appropriate. Ordinary aticherdinary
meetings must be called by the board of directdrsnwequested by shareholders representing ati#&asef the issued shares
entitled to vote at such meeting. Only matters tizate been described in the notice of an extraardimeeting may be dealt
with at that extraordinary meeting.
Vote required

Resolutions are passed at shareholders meetindgpe [affirmative vote of a majority of those shaeestled to vote &
such meeting and present or represented at thengeet

Notice and Location
Notice to convene the ordinary annual meeting tra@xdinary meeting is given by publication ine@adt one nation
newspaper in Panama and at least one national apesswidely read in New York City not less thandz®s in advance of the
meeting. We intend to publish such official notices national journal recognized by the NYSE.

Shareholders’ meetings are to be held in Pananya@ainama unless otherwise specified by the bdaditextors.

79




Table of Contents

Quorum

Generally, a quorum for a shareholders’ meetirgstablished by the presence, in person or by pahbshareholders
representing a simple majority of the issued sheliggle to vote on any actions to be considerteslah meeting. If a quorum
is not present at the first meeting and the origiotice for such meeting so provides, the meetarg be immediately
reconvened on the same day and, upon the meeting tezonvened, shareholders present or represahtkd reconvened
meeting are deemed to constitute a quorum regardfebe percentage of the shares represented.

Proxy Representation

Our Atrticles of Incorporation provide that, for mg as the Class A shares do not have full vatigigts, each holde
by owning our Class A shares, grants a generalypimihe Chairman of our board of directors or geyson designated by our
Chairman to represent them and vote their sharéisednbehalf at any shareholders’ meeting, pravitfeit due notice was
made of such meeting and that no specific proxpkizg or replacing the general proxy has been veckirom such holder
prior to the meeting in accordance with the indtous provided by the notice.

Other Shareholder Rights

As a general principle, Panamanian law bars thenityjof a corporation’s shareholders from imposiegolutions
which violate its articles of incorporation or tlaev, and grants any shareholder the right to chgéewithin 30 days, any
shareholders’ resolution that is illegal or thatlates its articles of incorporation or laws, by requesting the annulment of ¢
resolution and/or the injunction thereof pendingigial decision. Minority shareholders represengngeast 5% of all issued
and outstanding shares have the right to requudge to call a shareholders’ meeting and to afsirindependent auditor
(revisor) to examine the corporate accounting bptilesbackground of the company’s incorporatioitooperation.

Shareholders have no pre-emptive rights on theie§new shares.

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that directawill be elected in staggered two-year terms, winiay have the
effect of discouraging certain changes of control.
Listing

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE undesyéol “CPA.” The Class B shares and Class C shailénot
be listed on any exchange unless the board oftdnredetermines that it is in the best intereshefcompany to list the Class B
shares on the Panama Stock Exchange.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our Classakeshis Mellon Investor Services LLC. Until the lbaf directors
otherwise provides, the transfer agent for our €Bishares and any Class C shares is Galindo, &riagpez which maintains

the share register for each class in Panama. B@nsf Class B shares must be accompanied byifiozagion of the transferee
that such transferee is Panamanian.
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Summary of Significant Differences between Sharetiets’ Rights and Other Corporate Governance Matters Ud
Panamanian Corporation Law and Delaware Corporatidaw

Copa Holdings is a Panamanian corporatisadiedad andénima The Panamanian corporation law was originally
modeled after the Delaware General Corporation lAsvsuch, many of the provisions applicable to Reardan and Delaware
corporations are substantially similar, includidy 4 director’s fiduciary duties of care and loyat the corporation, (2) a lack

of limits on the number of terms a person may servéhe board of directors, (3) provisions allowst@reholders to vote by
proxy and (4) cumulative voting if provided fortime articles of incorporation. The following talblighlights the most
significant provisions that materially differ betere Panamanian corporation law and Delaware coiiparktw.

Panama

Delaware

Directors

Conflict of Interest Transactionslransactions involving a
Panamanian corporation and an interested directoffioer
are initially subject to the approval of the boafdlirectors.

At the next shareholders’ meeting, shareholderstiaéh have
the right to disapprove the board of directors’isien and to
decide to take legal actions against the direciorfficers
who voted in favor of the transaction.

Terms. Panamanian law does not set limits on the leafythe
terms that a director may serve. Staggered terenallnwed
but not required.

Number. The board of directors must consist of a mininafm
three members, which could be natural personsgat le
entities.

Authority to take Action. In general, a simple majority of the
board of directors is necessary and sufficienake any actio
on behalf of the board of directo

Conflict of Interest Transactionslransactions involving a
Delaware corporation and an interested directohaif
corporation are generally permitted

(1) the material facts as to the interested directelationship
or interest are disclosed and a majority of disegted
directors approve the transaction;

(2) the material facts are disclosed as to theeésted
director’s relationship or interest and the stoddbos approve
the transaction; or

(3) the transaction is fair to the corporationhe time it is
authorized by the board of directors, a commitfeth® board
of directors or the stockholdel

Terms. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally
provides for a one-year term for directors. Howetles
directorships may be divided into up to three @assith up tc
three-year terms, with the years for each classiagpn
different years, if permitted by the articles of@nporation, an
initial by-law or a b-law adopted by the shareholde

Number. The board of directors must consist of a mininafm
one member.

Authority to take Action. The articles of incorporation or by-
laws can establish certain actions that requiregpgoval of
more than a majority of directoi

Shareholder Meetings and Voting Right:

Quorum. The quorum for shareholder meetings must beys
the articles of incorporation or the by-laws. I¢tarticles of
incorporation and the notice for a given meetingsavide, if
quorum is not met a new meeting can be immediaglgd
and quorum shall consist of those present at seshmeeting

Action by Written Consel. Panamanian law does not permit
shareholder action without formally calling a megti

Quorum. For stock corporations, the articles of incorpiora
or bylaws may specify the number to constitute argon but
in no event shall a quorum consist of less thanthind of
shares entitled to vote at a meeting. In the akesefisuch
specifications, a majority of shares entitled teevshall
constitute a quorun

Action by Written Consel. Unless otherwise provided in the
articles of incorporation, any action required ermitted to bt
taken at any annual meeting or special meetingockbolders
of a corporation may be taken without a meetingheuit prior
notice and without a vote, if a consent or consanteriting,
setting forth the action to be so taken, is sigmgthe holders
of outstanding shares having not less than themim
number of votes that would be necessary to autharizake
such action at a meeting at which all shares edtith vote
thereon were present and not
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Panama

Delaware

Other Shareholder Rights

Shareholder ProposalsShareholders representing 5% of the Shareholder ProposalsDelaware law does not specifically

issued and outstanding capital of the corporatewretthe righ
to require a judge to call a general shareholdeegting and
to propose the matters for vote.

grant shareholders the right to bring businessrbefo annual
or special meeting. If a Delaware corporation igject to the
SEC's proxy rules, a shareholder who owns at 824800 in
market value, or 1% of the corporation’s securigastled to
vote, may propose a matter for a vote at an arongpecial
meeting in accordance with those ru

Appraisal Rights. Shareholders of Panamanian corporation déppraisal Right:. Delaware law affords shareholders in

not have the right to demand payment in cash ojuthieially
determined fair value of their shares in connectiith a
merger or consolidation involving the corporation.
Nevertheless, in a merger, the majority of shamdgrsl coulc
approve the total or partial distribution of casistead of
shares, of the surviving entity.

Shareholder Derivative ActionsAny shareholder, with the
consent of the majority of the shareholders, canasubehalf
of the corporation, the directors of the corponafior a breach
of their duties of care and loyalty to the corpmnabr a
violation of the law, the articles of incorporationthe by-
laws.

Inspection of Corporate Recor. Shareholders representing
least 5% of the issued and outstanding sharesof th
corporation have the right to require a judge tpoapt an
independent auditor to examine the corporate adoain
books, the background of the company’s incorponatioits
operation

certain cases the right to demand payment in césteo
judicially-determined fair value of their shares in connectio
with a merger or consolidation involving their coration.
However, no appraisal rights are available if, aghother
things and subject to certain exceptions, sucheshaere
listed on a national securities exchange or design@ational
market system or such shares were held of recorddrg thai
2,000 holders

Shareholder Derivative ActionsSubject to certain
requirements that a shareholder make prior demartteo
board of directors or have an excuse not to makk damanc
a shareholder may bring a derivative action on betizhe
corporation to enforce the rights of the corporatigainst
officers, directors and third parties. An individlnzay also
commence a class action suit on behalf of himselfather
similarly-situated stockholders if the requiremefois
maintaining a class action under the Delaware Géner
Corporation Law have been met. Subject to equitable
principles, a three-year period of limitations gedig applies
to such shareholder suits against officers anctdirs.

Inspection of Corporate Recor. A shareholder may inspect
or obtain copies of a corporatieshareholder list and its otl
books and records for any purpose reasonably celate
person’s interest as a shareholder.
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Panama

Delaware

Anti-takeover Provisions

Panamanian corporations may include in their asiclf
incorporation or by-laws classified board and supajority
provisions.

Panamanian corporation law’s anti-takeover prownsiapply
only to companies that are(1) registered with th&/Gor a
period of six months before the public offering (Ve over
3,000 shareholders, and(3) have a permanent affitanama
with full time employees and investments in therttopfor
more than $1,000,000.

These provisions are triggered when a buyer malehkc
offer to acquire 5% or more of any class of sharndls a
market value of at least $5,000,000. In sum, theebmust
deliver to the corporation a complete and accwstttement
that includes(1) the name of the company, the nummbthe
shares that the buyer intends to acquire and trehpse price;
(2) the identity and background of the person aaugithe
shares;(3) the source and amount of the fundsher gioods
that will be used to pay the purchase price;(4)thes or
project the buyer has once it has acquired theralootft the
company;(5) the number of shares of the comparyttiea
buyer already has or is a beneficiary of and tluvaeed by
any of its directors, officers, subsidiaries, ortpers or the
same, and any transactions made regarding thessinatee
last 60 days;(6) contracts, agreements, busin&sore or
negotiations regarding securities issued by thepamy in
which the buyer is a party;(7) contract, agreemdnisiness
relations or negotiations between the buyer anddénegtor,
officer or beneficiary of the securities; and(8y ather
significant information. This declaration will be@mpanied
by, among other things, a copy of the buyer’s faiain
statements

If the board of directors believes that the statedees not
contain all required information or that the sta¢ens
inaccurate, the board of directors must send titersient to
the CNV within 45 days from the buyerinitial delivery of th
statement to the CNV. The CNV may then hold a publi
hearing to determine if the information is accuratel
complete and if the buyer has complied with theleg
requirements. The CNV may also start an inquirg thie case
having the power to decide whether or not the affay be
made.

Regardless of the above, the board of directorsheas
authority to submit the offer to the consideratidrihe
shareholders. The board should only convene alsblakss’
meeting when it deems the statement delivered éytieror
to be complete and accurate. If convened, the bhhters’
meeting should take place within the next 30 dayshe
shareholders’ meeting, two-thirds of the holderthefissued
and outstanding shares of each class of sharée of t
corporation with a right to vote must approve tffercand the
offer is to be executed within 60 days from therehalders’
approval. If the board decides not to convene lizeeholders’
meeting within 15 days following the receipt of@mplete an
accurate statement from the offeror, shares mayltke
purchased. In all cases, the purchase of shareskamplace
only if it is not prohibited by an administrative jodicial orde
or injunction.

Delaware corporations may have a classified baanger-
majority voting and shareholders’ rights plan.

Unless Delaware corporations specifically eleceothise,
Delaware corporations may not enter into a “busines
combination,” including mergers, sales and leas$essets,
issuances of securities and similar transactioith, an
“interested stockholder,” or one that beneficiailyns 15% or
more of a corporation’s voting stock, within thryesars of
such person becoming an interested shareholdesaa

(1) the transaction that will cause the personetmoime an
interested shareholder is approved by the boadirettors of
the target prior to the transactions;

(2) after the completion of the transaction in vihibe person
becomes an interested shareholder, the interelséediolder
holds at least 85% of the voting stock of the coafion not
including shares owned by persons who are direatotsalso
officers of interested shareholders and shares d\lpe
specified employee benefit plans; or

(3) after the person becomes an interested shaehaohe
business combination is approved by the boardrettirs of
the corporation and holders of at least 66.67%ef t
outstanding voting stock, excluding shares helthiey
interested shareholder.
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Panama Delaware

The law also establishes some actions or recoofsbs
sellers against the buyer in cases the offer isentad
contravention of the lav

Previously Acquired Rights

In no event can the vote of the majority sharehsldeprive ~ No comparable provisions exist under Delaware
the shareholders of a corporation of previowstyguired rights

Panamanian jurisprudence and doctrine has estadlisiat th:

majority shareholders cannot amend the articles of

incorporation and deprive minority shareholdergraviously-

acquired rights nor impose upon them an agreerhahig

contrary to those articles of incorporatit

Once a share is issued, the shareholders becoitiecetd the
rights established in the articles of incorporat@onml such
rights cannot be taken away, diminished nor existyed
without the express consent of the shareholdeidezhto sucl
rights. If by amending the articles of incorporatithe rights
granted to a class of shareholders is somehovedltar
modified to their disadvantage, those shareholdétsieed to
approve the amendment unanimou

C. Material Contracts
Commercial Agreements with Continental Airlines

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gaved by several interrelated agreements. We havadedeand
restated each of these agreements and extendedhtmmgh 2015 in connection with our initial pubtiffering in
December 2005.

Alliance Agreement between Continental and Copbngs. Under the alliance agreement, both airlines agree t
continue their codesharing relationship with exitems as they feel are appropriate and to work tmtaim our antitrust
immunity with the DOT. In order to support the celaring relationship, the alliance agreement abstiains provisions
mandating a continued frequent flyer relationstépaeen the airlines, setting minimum levels of gyaif service for the
airlines and encouraging cooperation in marketimg) @her operational initiatives.

Services Agreement between Continental and CopiaésrUnder the services agreement, both airlines agree t
provide to each other certain services over thessoaf the agreement at the providing carrier’'samental cost, subject to
certain limitations. Services covered under theagrent include consolidating purchasing power @oigment purchases and
insurance coverage, sharing management informagistems, pooling maintenance programs and invemtaryagement, joint
training and employee exchanges, sharing the bsroéfother purchase contracts for goods and ssytelecommunications
and other services.
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Frequent Flyer Participation Agreement between @uattal and Copa AirlinedJnder the frequent flyer
participation agreement, we participate in Contiaks OnePass frequent flyer global program and op-branded basis in
Latin America. Customers in the program receivelitifer flying on segments operated by us, which ba redeemed for aw:
travel on flights and those of other partner agdinThe agreement also governs joint marketingeageats under the program,
settlement procedures between the airlines andhueveharing under bank card affinity relationships.

Trademark License Agreement between ContinentaCapé AirlinesUnder the trademark license agreement, Copa
has the right to use a logo incorporating a glodsigh that is similar to the globe design of Cattital’'s logo. Copa also has 1
right to use Continental’s trade dress, aircrattrly and certain other Continental marks undeatireement that allow us to
more closely align our overall product with ouiiatice partner.

Aircraft General Terms Agreement between The Boeingompany and Copa Airlines

In 1998, Copa entered into an agreement with trerBpCompany for the purchase of aircraft, instalfaof buyer
furnished equipment provided by Copa, customer sigervices and product assurance. In additidghea@ircraft supplied,
The Boeing Company will provide maintenance tragrémd flight training programs, as well as operaiengineering support.
The agreement has been amended several timedisamenost recently in February 2008.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Airlines

In 2003, Copa entered into a purchase agreememtBmitpresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A (Embrimerthe
purchase of aircraft, customer support servicestertthical publications.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A.

In February 2006, we entered into a purchase agneewith Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A IfExer) for
the purchase of aircraft, customer support senacestechnical publications.

D. Exchange Controls

There are currently no Panamanian restriction$ierexport or import of capital, including foreigacdange controls,
and no restrictions on the payment of dividendsi@rest, nor are there limitations on the rightfooeign stockholders to hold
or vote stock.

E. Taxation
United States

The following summary describes the material Unialtes federal income tax consequences of thershipeand
disposition of our Class A shares as of the datedieThe discussion set forth below is applicablenited States Holders (as
defined below) that beneficially own our Class Ausds as capital assets for United States federaivia tax purposes
(generally, property held for investment). This suany does not represent a detailed descriptioheofhnited States federal
income tax consequences applicable to you if yewsabject to special treatment under the UniteteSfaderal income tax
laws, including if you are:

. a bank;
. a dealer in securities or currenci

. a financial institution
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e aregulated investment compal
* areal estate investment tru

e aninsurance compan

e ata-exempt organizatior

. a person holding our Class A shares as parheflging, integrated or conversion transaction,resicactive sale
or a straddle

e atrader in securities that has elected the -to-market method of accounting for your securit
e aperson liable for alternative minimum t;

e aperson who owns 10% or more of our voting st

* apartnership or other pi-through entity for United States federal incomegarposes; o

e aperson whos"functional currenc” is not the United States doll:

The discussion below is based upon the provisiftiseolnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended‘@bde”),
and regulations, rulings and judicial decisionse¢beader as of the date hereof, and such authonitéggsbe replaced, revoked or
modified so as to result in United States federabine tax consequences different from those disdusslow.

If you are considering the purchase, ownership oridposition of our Class A shares, you should consuylour
own tax advisors concerning the United States fedarincome tax consequences to you in light of yoyarticular
situation as well as any consequences arising undie laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, “United States Holder” means afi@akowner of our Class A shares that is for \@ditStates
federal income tax purposes:

. an individual citizen or resident of the United 88

e acorporation (or other entity treated as a c@fian for United States federal income tax purppseeated or
organized in or under the laws of the United Staiay state thereof or the District of Columt

* an estate the income of which is subject to UnBtates federal income taxation regardless of iiscgg or

e atrustifit (1) is subject to the primary sugsion of a court within the United States and onenore United
States persons have the authority to control &l$untial decisions of the trust or (2) has a vel@ttion in effec
under applicable United States Treasury regulatiote treated as a United States per

Taxation of Dividends

Distributions on the Class A shares (including antswvithheld to reflect Panamanian withholding &xeany) will
be taxable as dividends to the extent paid outiocarrent or accumulated earnings and profitsieaisrmined under United
States federal income tax principles. Such incamauding withheld taxes) will be includable in yogross income as ordinary
income on the day actually or constructively reediby you. Such dividends will not be eligible fbe dividends received
deduction allowed to corporations.

With respect to non-corporate United States Ho|dmrgain dividends received in taxable years b@gmbefore
January 1, 2011 from a qualified foreign corpomatisay be subject to reduced rates of taxation.réigm corporation general
is treated as a qualified foreign corporation wéhpect to dividends paid by that corporation arehthat are readily tradable
on an established securities market in the UnitateS. United States Treasury Department guidantieates that our Class A
shares, which are listed on the NYSE, are readilyable on an established securities market ilthieed States. There can be
no assurance, however, that our Class A sharebevitbnsidered readily tradable on an establisbedriies market in later
years.
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Non-corporate United States Holders that do not meeinamum holding period requirement during whicleyhare not
protected from the risk of loss or that elect &atrthe dividend income as “investment income” pans to Section 163(d)(4) of
the Code will not be eligible for the reduced rasétaxation regardless of our status as a qudlffieeign corporation. In
addition, the rate reduction will not apply to diends if the recipient of a dividend is obligatedrtake related payments with
respect to positions in substantially similar dated property. This disallowance applies evehéf minimum holding period
has been met. You should consult your own tax advieegarding the application of these rules tar yuticular circumstance

Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Reanian withholding taxes on dividends may be tretateforeign
taxes eligible for credit against your United Sédfederal income tax liability. For purposes ofccgdting the foreign tax credit,
dividends paid on the Class A shares will be trbateincome from sources outside the United Statdswill generally
constitute passive income. Further, in certainuritstances, if you:

* have held Class A shares for less than a spécifisimum period during which you are not protedi®an risk
of loss, or

* are obligated to make payments related to the elndd,

you will not be allowed a foreign tax credit foréign taxes imposed on dividends paid on the Qlasisares, if any.
The rules governing the foreign tax credit are clempYou are urged to consult your tax advisorsarding the availability of
the foreign tax credit under your particular circiances.

To the extent that the amount of any distributinoeeds our current and accumulated earnings affitisfiar a
taxable year, as determined under United Statesdeohcome tax principles, the distribution willst be treated as a tax-free
return of capital, causing a reduction in the amjd$asis of the Class A shares (thereby increabsgmount of gain, or
decreasing the amount of loss, to be recognizegbyn a subsequent disposition of the Class Aeshaand the balance in
excess of adjusted basis will be taxed as capitial @cognized on a sale or exchange (as discheded under “—Taxation of
Capital Gains”). Consequently, such distributiamgxcess of our current and accumulated earnirgjpnfits would generally
not give rise to foreign source income and you Wa@enerally not be able to use the foreign taxitegting from any
Panamanian withholding tax imposed on such disiohs unless such credit can be applied (subjeappticable limitations)
against United States federal income tax due oerdtiteign source income in the appropriate catefmrforeign tax credit
purposes. However, we do not intend to keep easrang profits in accordance with United Statesri@dacome tax principle
Therefore, you should expect that a distributioh generally be treated as a dividend (as discuabedste).

Passive Foreign Investment Company

We do not believe that we are a passive foreigastment company (a “PFIC”) for United States feim@me tax
purposes (or that we were one in 2007), and weaxpeperate in such a manner so as not to beedd#dC. If, however, we
are or become a PFIC, you could be subject to iaddit United States federal income taxes on gaingeized with respect to
the Class A shares and on certain distributionss ph interest charge on certain taxes treateevaschbeen deferred under the
PFIC rules. Further, non-corporate United Statelsléts will not be eligible for reduced rates ofadgn on any dividends
received from us in taxable years beginning poalanuary 1, 2011, if we are a PFIC in the taxgb#r in which such
dividends are paid or the preceding taxable year.

Taxation of Capital Gains

For United States federal income tax purposeswithuiecognize taxable gain or loss on any salehexge or
redemption of a Class A share in an amount equiietdifference between the amount realized foiGlass A share and your
tax basis in the Class A share. Such gain or ldsg@nerally be capital gain or loss. Capital gaof individuals derived with
respect to capital assets held for more than oaeare eligible for reduced rates of taxation. @hductibility of capital losses
is subject to limitations. Any gain or loss recamgd by you will generally be treated as United&taource gain or loss.

87




Table of Contents

Information reporting and backup withholding

In general, information reporting will apply to d#ends in respect of our Class A shares and theepds from the
sale, exchange or redemption of our Class A shhe¢sare paid to you within the United States (Bnckrtain cases, outside 1
United States), unless you are an exempt recipigett as a corporation. A backup withholding tax mpgly to such payments
if you fail to provide a taxpayer identification mber or certification of other exempt status ok tiaireport in full dividend and
interest income.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholdinlgs will be allowed as a refund or a credit agajesir United
States federal income tax liability provided thgquieed information is timely furnished to the Imat Revenue Service.

Panamanian Taxation

The following is a discussion of the material Paaaian tax considerations to holders of Class Aeshander
Panamanian tax law, and is based upon the taxdadisegulations in force and effect as of the Hateof, which may be
subject to change. This discussion, to the extesthies matters of Panamanian tax law or legatlosions and subject to the
qualifications herein, represents the opinion ofir@a, Arias & Lopez, our Panamanian counsel.

General principles
Panama'’s income tax regime is based on territtriptinciples, which define taxable income onlytlaat revenue
which is generated from a source within the ReputifliPanama, or for services rendered outside wéfa, but which, by their
nature, are intended to directly benefit the lazahmercial activities of individuals or corporatsowhich operate within its
territory. Said taxation principles have governeel Panamanian fiscal regime for decades, and heare dpheld through
judicial and administrative precede
Taxation of dividends
Distributions by Panamanian corporations, whethéhé form of cash, stock or other property, atgest to a 10%
withholding tax for the portion of the distributidhat is attributable to Panamanian sourced incaseégfined pursuant to the
territoriality principles that govern Panamaniax l&w. Distributions made by a holding company vhiorrespond to
dividends paid by its subsidiary for which the diid tax was paid, are not subject to any furthighhelding under
Panamanian law. Therefore, distributions on thes€hashares would not be subject to withholdingsato the extent that said
distributions are attributable to dividends recdif®m any of our subsidiaries.
Taxation of capital gains
As long as the Class A shares are registered hatlCNV and are sold through an organized marketaanian
taxes on capital gains will not apply either to &aanians or other countries’ nationals. As pathefoffering process, we have
registered the Class A shares, with both the Nevk ¥tock Exchange and the CNV.
Other Panamanian taxes

There are no estate, gift or other taxes imposetidPanamanian government that would affect aghafithe
Class A shares, whether such holder were Panaman&national of another country.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.
G. Statement by Experts

Not applicable.
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H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementthefU.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whichl$® known as
the Exchange Act. Accordingly, we are requiredil®reports and other information with the Commassiincluding annual
reports on Form 20-F and reports on Form 6-K. Yay imspect and copy reports and other informatioet filed with the
Commission at the Public Reference Room of the Cissiom at 100 F Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20%4%@l copies of the
materials may be obtained there at prescribed.ratespublic may obtain information on the openatid the Commission’s
Public Reference Room by calling the CommissiothénUnited States at 1-800-SEC-0330. In additio@,Gommission
maintains a website at www.sec.gov, from which gan electronically access the registration statémue its materials.

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subjet¢héosame disclosure requirements as a domestiaégiStrant under
the Exchange Act. For example, we are not requogepare and issue quarterly reports. Howeverfuwash our shareholde
with annual reports containing financial statemenisited by our independent auditors and make adaito our shareholders
quarterly reports containing unaudited financigbdar the first three quarters of each fiscal y®¥de file such quarterly reports
with the SEC within two months of each quarter wff fiscal year, and we file annual reports on F@Gd- within the time
period required by the SEC, which is currentlyrsianths from December 31, the end of our fiscal year

I. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures bout Market Risk

The risks inherent in our business are the potdpsaes arising from adverse changes to the pfifeel, interest
rates and the U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Aircraft Fuel.Our results of operations are affected by changésa price and availability of aircraft fuel. Tcamage
the price risk, we use crude oil option contrazesp cost collars and swap agreements. Marketgigktimated as a hypotheti
10% increase in the December 31, 2007 cost pesrgafl fuel. Based on projected 2008 fuel consunmptsoich an increase
would result in an increase to aircraft fuel exgeasapproximately $35.3 million in 2008, not tadsiimto account our derivati
contracts. We currently have hedged approximaté®p bf our projected 2008 fuel requirements and 3%uo projected fuel
consumption for the first quarter of 2009. We magee into additional hedging agreements in therfuto reduce volatility in
our fuel expenses.

Interest.Our earnings are affected by changes in interéss$ due to the impact those changes have on ihteres
expense from variable-rate debt instruments andatipg leases and on interest income generateddrorsash and investment
balances. If interest rates average 10% more i8 2@ they did during 2007, our interest expenselevincrease by
approximately $2.9 million and the fair value of @ebt would decrease by approximately $5.9 millibmterest rates average
10% less in 2008 than they did in 2007, our inteireome from marketable securities would decrdgsapproximately
$1.4 million and the fair value of our debt woufttiease by approximately $6.2 million. These am®ant determined by
considering the impact of the hypothetical interagts on our variablete debt and marketable securities equivalennhbataz
December 31, 2007.

Foreign CurrenciesThe majority of our obligations are denominated)i. dollars. Since Panama uses the U.S.
dollar as legal tender, the majority of our opemgxpenses are also denominated in U.S. dollansfaeign exchange risk is
limited as approximately 40% of our revenues and.i. dollars. While a significant part of our reves are in foreign
currency, no single currency represented more T8&f our operating revenues in 2007, except ferGblombian Peso which
represented 24%. Generally, our exposure to masiesk foreign currencies, besides the Colombian Re AeroRepublica, is
limited to the period of up to two weeks betweesn ¢bmpletion of a sale and the conversion to Uo8axs. The Colombian
Peso is the functional currency of AeroRepublical therefore any revenue exposure is mitigatedbyoperating expenses,
which we also denominate in Colombian Peso.
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Argentinean Pes
Brazilian Rea
Chilean Pes:
Colombian Pes
Costa Rican Colo
Mexican Pest

U.S. Dollar
Venezuelan Boliva
Other(1)

2007 Revenues and Expenses Breakdown by Currency

Revenue Expense
5.1% 2.2%
7.2% 3.5%
3.3% 1.4%
23.8% 14.5%
3.1% 1.2%
3.5% 1.€%
40.5% 69.2%
5.5% 2.1%
7.5% 3.6%

(1) Dominican Peso, Euro, Guatemalan Quetzal, Jam&o#lar, Honduran Lempira, Haitian Gourde, Uruguafasc

Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equiy Securities

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquecies
None.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Seurity Holders and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedure

Disclosure controls and procedures are designedduore that information required to be disclosetheyCompany i
reports filed or submitted under the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, sumnubaizéd reported within tk
time periods specified in the SEC'’s rules and forviie carried out an evaluation under the supemisfoour management,
including our chief executive officer and chiefdimcial officer, of the effectiveness of the desagud operation of our disclost
controls and procedures as of December 31, 20G3teTdre inherent limitations to the effectivendsasny system of disclosure
controls and procedures, including the possibdfthuman error and the circumvention or overridifighe controls and
procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclostortrols and procedures can only provide reasoregsarance of achieving
their control objectives. Based upon our evaluat@m chief executive officer and chief financiéficer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effecty@avide reasonable assurance that informationimedj to be disclosed by
in the reports that we file or submit under the liamge Act is recorded, processed, summarized paodteel, within the time
periods specified in the applicable rules and foramsl that it is accumulated and communicated tar@nagement, including
our chief executive officer and chief financialioéfr, as appropriate to allow timely decisions re@ey required disclosure.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repadrtg

Management of the Company is responsible for @stdbf and maintaining effective internal contrgkofinancial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under theuBities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s ir@écontrol over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasdmalssurance to the Company’s management and bbdnectors regarding
the preparation and fair presentation of publisfireghcial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements.
Therefore, even those systems determined to betieffecan provide only reasonable assurance withae to financial
statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgipaternal control over financial reporting asécember 31,
2007. In making this assessment, management usetitaria set forth by the Committee of Sponsofdrganizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—¢meged Framework. Based on this assessment, maeagbelieves
that, as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s iatemontrol over financial reporting is effectivedeal on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal controls oveafiaial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has bediteal by Ernst
& Young, the independent registered public accagnfirm who also audited the Company’s consoliddieahcial statements.
Ernst & Young'’s attestation report on the effeatiges of the Company'’s internal controls over finalmeporting is included
herein.

Changes in internal control
No significant changes in our internal controlsroother factors that could significantly affecesie controls

subsequent to the date of the evaluation, includmgcorrective actions with regard to significeeficiencies and material
weaknesses, were made as a result of the evaluation
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

We have audited Copa Holdings, S.A. (the “Compasmayil] its subsidiaries’ internal control over fineshceporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria establishédémal Control—Integrated Framework issued iy @ommittee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisg@iuen COSO criteria). Copa Holdings, S. A. andsitbsidiaries’
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and fr assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting, included in the accompanying ManagemeRé&port on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilit to express an opinion on the company’s intezaatrol over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadslof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&@nited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenadidit to obtain reasonable assurance about wteffeetive internal
control over financial reporting was maintainechihmaterial respects. Our audit included obtairangunderstanding of inter
control over financial reporting, assessing thk tigt a material weakness exists, testing andiatiag the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control basedhe assessed risk, and performing such otheeduwes as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaaudit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A companiyiternal control over financial reporting inclsdbose policies and procedures
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records thate@sonable detail, accurately and fairly refleetttiansactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reaseradsurance that transactions are recorded assaecé&s permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance withaaizgditions of management and directors of the cawypand (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetBction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opasstion of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on ttanéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutufe periods are subject to the risk that contrdy become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the éegfreompliance with the policies or procedures metgriorate.

In our opinion, Copa Holdings S. A. and its suleigis maintained, in all material respects, effectnternal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, basethe COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Copa Holdings, &4.its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 afid,2hd related
consolidated statements of income, shareholdetstye@nd cash flows for each of the three yeatsénperiod ended
December 31, 2007 of Copa Holdings, S.A. and ibssliaries and our report dated May 5, 2008 exprkas unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst and Young

Panama City, Republic of Panama
May 5, 2008
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Item 16. Reserved
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. ftsstafieda qualifies as an “audit committee firdreipert” as
defined by current SEC rules and meets the indege&requirements of the SEC and the NYSE listiagdards. For a
discussion of the role of our audit committee, ‘$&en 6C. Board Practices—Audit Committee.”

Item 16B. Code of Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Basi@®nduct and Ethics applicable to our direcuffgers,
employees and consultants. The Code of Businesdugcband Ethics can be found at www.copaair.coneutite heading
“Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.” Inforiorafound at this website is not incorporated Hgmence into this
document.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth by category of seevihe total fees for services performed by ouejrahdent auditors
Ernst & Young during the fiscal years ended Decan3ie 2006 and 2007:

2006 2007
Audit Fees $ 959,42¢ $ 823,08!
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total $ 959,42¢ $ 823,08!
Audit Fees

Audit fees for 2007 included the audit of our arrfimancial statements and internal controls aredréfview of our
quarterly reports.

Audit fees for 2006 included the audit of our arrfirancial statements and internal controls, #éndew of our
quarterly reports, and $64 thousand related tacesvrendered in connection with our follow-on diffg of Class A shares in
June 2006.

Audit-Related Fees

There were no audit-related fees for 2007.
Tax Fees

There were no tax fees.

All Other Fees

There were no other fees for services performefrogt & Young during the fiscal years ended Decem3fie 2006
and 2007.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee approves all audit, audit-esdatervices, tax services and other services ped\bg Ernst &
Young. Any services provided by Ernst & Young theg not specifically included within the scopeltd tiudit must be pre-
approved by the audit committee in advance of amagement. Pursuant to Rule 2-01 of Regulation 8u¥jt committees are
permitted to approve certain fees for audit-relaexices, tax services and other services pursaatte minimisexception
prior to the completion of an audit engagemen0@7, none of the fees paid to Ernst & Young weraved pursuant to the
de minimisexception.
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Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards forAudit Committees

None.

Item 16E. Purchase of Equity Securities by the Is®r and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

PART Ill

Item 17. Financial Statements

See “ltem 18. Financial Statements.”

Item 18. Financial Statements

See our consolidated financial statements beginmingage F-1.

Item 19. Exhibits

1.1**

2.1*

2.2%

10.1%*t

10.2**t

10.3**t

10.4**t

10.5%*t

10.6**t

10.7**t

10.8**t

10.9**t

10.10**%

English translation of the Articles of IncorporatipPacto Socia) of the Registrar

Form of Second Amended and Restated Shareholdgreefment among Copa Holdings, S.A.,
Corporacion de Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Comntihdirlines, Inc.

Form of Amended and Restated Registration Righteément among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacién
de Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Aigljriec.

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 981Between First Security Bank and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®@3’-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgrircraft Lease Agreement, dated October 1,
1998, between First Security Bank and CompafiarRafa de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of One Boeing
Model 73°-71Q Aircraft, Manufactures Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of RIgy2004 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank aneh@iia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 981Between First Security Bank and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®@3’-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgmircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank anch@diia Panamefa de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of RIgy2003 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank aneh@iia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl 888, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8¢€-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 188108%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @wnpafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 1998itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Confipd&fanamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Model 737-
700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated &grdf30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement,
dated November 18, 1998, between Aviation Finari@alices Inc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
S.A., Boeing Model 72-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860
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10.11**%

10.12**%

10.13**f

10.14**1

10.15**%

10.16**t

10.17*+%

10.18**t

10.19**f

10.20**t

10.21*t

10.22*t

10.23**t

10.24**%

10.25**%

10.26**t

10.27**%

10.28**1

10.29**t

10.30**t

10.31**f

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl 888, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8e-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 188108%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @odnpafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 1998itcraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conf@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-
700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrof30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement,
dated November 18, 1998, between Aviation Finar®@lices Inc. and Compaifiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
S.A., Boeing Model 72-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembe2803, between International Lease Finance
Corporation and Comparia Panamefa de Aviacion, 8&w B73-700 or 800, Serial No. 306"

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of March 4, 20@fween International Lease Finance Corporatial
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., New [-700 or 800, Serial No. 328(

Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December @34 2between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respeBbeing B73-800 Aircraft, Serial No. 2967

Embraer 190LR Purchase Agreement DCT-006/2003 dated May 2003 between Embraer— Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional Airckébldings Ltd.

Letter Agreement DCT-007/2003 between Embraémpresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Reg
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase Agream DC1-006/2002

Letter Agreement DCT-008/2003 between Embraémpresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Reg
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase Agremmh DC1-006/2002

Embraer 190 Purchase Agreement COM 0028-06 datedifiey 2006 between Embraer—Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Copa Holding8, &lating to Embraer 190LR aircr:

Letter Agreement COM 0029-06 to the Embraer Agregrdated February 2006 between Embraer—
Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and CopaiHgs, S.A. relating to Embraer 190LR airci

Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated Novemberl298, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A.

Purchase Agreement Number 2191, dated Novembei928, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A., Inc. relating to Boeing Model -7V3 & 737-8V3 Aircraft

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of June(, & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Decenthe2@1 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of June@Bg, & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Decenthe2aD2 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated as of Octobe?(®13 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Septe)2804 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of Decem{26® to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,
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10.32**%

10.33*t

10.34*t

10.35**t

10.36**t

10.37**

10.38**

10.39**

10.40**
10.41%
10.42**
10.43**

10.44**1

10.45*+1

10.46**1

10.47tt

10.48t%

121

12.2

131
13.2

21.1*

Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated as of April2D®5 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of Marct2066 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of May 86 20 the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Maintenance Cost per Hour Engine Service Agreenuated March 5, 2003, between G.E. Engine
Services, Inc. and Copa Holdings, S

English translation of Aviation Fuel Supply Agreemedated July 18, 2005, between Petroleos Delfa, S
and Compafiia Panamerfia de Aviacion, :

Form of Guaranteed Loan Agreem

Form of Amended and Restated Alliance Agreementéen Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compariia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.

Form of Amended and Restated Services Agreemewebet Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compariia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.

Form of Amended and Restated Frequent Flyer Pro@articipation Agreemel
Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. 2005 Stock Incentivarf

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. Restricted Stock AwAgteemen’

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s directors

Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus2@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Febi2&r2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of Apri2®7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated as of Augus2@17 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated as of Feb2r2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesu to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsidiaries of the Registre

*  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit andorporated by reference from our Registraticatehent on Form F-1,
filed June 15, 2006, File No. 3-135031.

**  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibitdaimcorporated by reference from our Registratitateé®nent on Form F-1,
filed November 28, 2005, as amended on Decemi#305 and December 13, 2005, File No.-129967.

T The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenpértions of this exhibii
Tt The Registrant has requested confidential treatfioeqortions of this exhibit
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SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets fhe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly caused
and authorized the undersigned to sign this amepalrt on its behalf.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
By: /s/ Pedro Heilbroi

Name: Pedro Heilbron
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Dated: May 9, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Compang9 &s subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the relatedbtidated statements of income, shareholders’ egaity cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Dece&ih@007. These consolidated financial statememtshe responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility Exjaress an opinion on these consolidated finastaééments based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf8aUnited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoematidit to obtain reasonable assurance about witathénancial statemen
are free of material misstatement. An audit inctueeamining, on a test basis, evidence suppoti@gmounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includssessing the accounting principles used andfis@gni estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall fiigdustatement presentation. We believe that oditaprovide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetageferred to above present fairly, in all mateespects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company and its subsigmat December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the coasatidesults of their
operations and their cash flows for each of thedtyears in the period ended December 31, 20@bnformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
effectiveness of the Compamyinternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2007, based on criteria establist
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issuedhgy@ommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of thexdweay Commission
and our report dated May 5, 2008 expressed an lifigdapinion thereon.

/sl Ernst and Young

Panama City, Republic of Panama
May 5, 2008
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivale
Shor-term investment

Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of of $8,157 and $7,30¢

of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respecti
Accounts receivable from related part

Expendable parts and supplies, net of allowancelfsolescence of of $35 and $21 as

of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respecti
Prepaid expenst
Other current asse
Total Current Assel
Investments
Property and Equipment:
Owned property and equipme

Flight equipmen
Other

Less: Accumulated depreciati

Purchase deposits for flight equipm:

Total Property and Equipme
Other Assets:

Prepaid pension ass

Goodwill

Other intangible asse

Other asset
Total Other Asset

Total Assets

F-3

As of December 31

2007 2006
28585 $ 169,88
22,50( 27,50(
308,35¢ 197,38
73,38¢ 60,31¢
78C 1,81¢
14,08¢ 8,661
25,57¢ 16,59(
13,547 5,87
435,73t 290,65
17,03¢ 29,03:
1,188,64 857,59t
50,90¢ 43,71
1,239,55| 901,31
(137,36) (104,179
1,102,18; 797,13
64,07¢ 65,15(
1,166,26: 862,28
1,03¢ 645
24,20! 21,77¢
35,48¢ 31,03
27,49¢ 18,69:
88,21t 73,04¢
1,707,25. $ 1,255,01
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Accounts payabl
Accounts payable to related part
Air traffic liability
Taxes and interest payal
Accrued expenses payal
Other current liabilitie:

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities:
Long-term debt
Post employment benefits liabili
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Total Nor-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Shareholders’ Equity:

Class A common stock — 30,966,430 shares issued,

30,159,719 outstanding, no par va

Class B common stock — 12,778,125 shares issued

and outstanding, no par val
Additional paid in capita
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive Income (I

Total Shareholde’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financatke8tents are an integral part of these statements.

2007 2006
$ 110,65 91,45:
57,46¢ 47,62;
10,82 8,81¢
153,42 116,81
36,641 31,49(
52,23: 32,10

3,74 11,26t
424,98 339,57
732,20¢ 529,80;
1,89¢ 1,707

9,77t 7,71%

6,747 4,557
750,62! 543,77:
1,175,61 883,34
20,58¢ 20,50:

8,72z 8,72z

8,06 3,34(
491,59 343,39(
2,66¢ (4,289
531,63° 371,66¢

$ 1,707,25 1,255,01
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenue:
Passenger reveni $ 967,06t $ 798,90: $ 563,52(
Cargo, mail and othe 60,19¢ 52,25¢ 45,09¢
1,027,26. 851,16( 608,61«
Operating Expenses:
Aircraft fuel 265,38" 217,73l 149,30:
Salaries and benefi 116,69: 91,38: 69,73(
Passenger servicir 82,94¢ 64,38( 50,62:
Commissions 65,93( 57,80¢ 45,087
Maintenance, material and repe 51,24¢ 50,057 32,50t
Reservations and sal 48,22¢ 38,21: 29,21
Aircraft rentals 38,63¢ 38,16¢ 27,63:
Flight operation 43,95¢ 33,74( 24,94
Depreciatior 35,32¢ 24,87« 19,857
Landing fees and other rent: 27,015 23,92¢ 17,90¢
Other 55,09¢ 44,75¢ 32,62:
Special fleet charge 7,30¢ — —
Gain from involuntary conversic (8,019 — —
829,75¢ 685,03! 499,42:
Operating Income 197,50¢ 166,12: 109,19:.
Non-operating Income (Expense)
Interest cost (44,33)) (29,15() (21,629
Interest capitalize 2,57( 1,712 1,08¢
Interest incomt 12,19: 7,257 3,54«
Other, ne 10,981 18t 39t
(18,587) (19,99¢) (16,607)
Income before Income Taxes 178,92¢ 146,12! 92,59:
Provision for Income Taxe 17,10¢ 12,28¢ 9,59:¢
Net Income $  161,82( $ 133,83¢ $ 82,99¢
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 3.77 $ 3.1% $ 1.94
Diluted $ 3.7z $ 3.1C $ 1.9¢
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

(US$ Thousands'
Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other
(Nor-par value) Issued Capita Paid in Retained  Comprehensive
Class A Class B Class A ClassB Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Total
At December 31, 2004 30,034,37 12,778,12 $20,50: $ 8,72z $ — $14493. $ —  $174,15!
Net Income 82,99¢ 82,99¢
Other comprehensive los
Foreign currency translatic (1,219 1,21¢)
Total comprehensive incon 81,78:
Dividends declare (10,06¢) (10,06¢)
At December 31, 200! 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50! 8,72 — 217,86 (1,21¢) 245,86
Net Income 133,83¢ 133,83¢
Other comprehensive los
Net change in fair value of derivati
instruments (3,999 (3,99¢)
Foreign currency translatic 1,861 1,861
Total comprehensive incon 131,70:
Restricted stock Pla 3,34( 3,34(
Actuarial loss (Adoption of FAS 158),
net of tax of $8¢ (929) (929
Dividends declare: — — (8,31)) (8,31))
At December 31, 2006 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50: 8,722 3,34( 343,39( (4,289 371,66
Issuance of stoc 125,34« 85 (85 —
Net Income 161,82( 161,82(
Other comprehensive income (los
Net change in fair value of derivati
instruments 3,99¢ 3,99¢
Foreign currency translatic 2,95¢ 2,95
Total comprehensive incon 6,952
Restricted stock pla 4,80¢ 4,80¢
Actuarial loss, net of current period loss
and amortizatiol 2) )
Other (50) (50)
Dividends declare (13,567) (13,567)
At December 31, 200" 30,159,71 12,778,12 $20,58¢ $ 8,72: $ 8,060 $49159¢ $ 2,666 $531,63

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financek8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In US$ thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 161,82( $ 13383¢ $ 82,99¢
Adjustments for
Deferred income taxe 2,352 (32§) (88E)
Depreciatior 35,32¢ 24,87« 19,857
(Gain) / Loss on sale of property, equipment andlimtary conversiol (9,579 (612) (1,340
Special fleet charge 6,30( — —
Provision for doubtful accoun 4,27¢ 3,76¢ 81z
Provision for obsolescence of expendable partssapglies 12 12 3
Derivative instruments mark to marl (6,29)) 4,49¢ (165)
Stock compensatio 4,80¢ 3,34( —
Changes in
Accounts receivabl (14,80%) (15,31) (11,25¢)
Accounts receivable from related part 1,25¢ (1,667 (44¢)
Other current asse (14,149 (8,690 282
Restricted cas () 11C (3,699
Other asset (7,835 (3,417 (7,607
Accounts payabl 7,611 2,69¢ (4,33¢)
Accounts payable to related part 1,671 97t 4,017
Air traffic liability 35,21t 30,65¢ 27,76¢
Other liabilities 13,95! 18,72: 9,36(
Net cash provided by operating activities 221,94: 193,46¢ 115,36¢
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment (500) (32,98¢) (48,29%)
Proceeds from redemption of investme 17,49 22,90¢ 20,66:
Advance payments on aircraft purchase conti (62,12%) (58,69 (49,46))
Acquisition of property and equipme (304,01 (293,33() (63,309
Disposal of property and equipme 2,35¢ 3,12¢ 2,80¢
Insurance proceeds on involuntary conver: 12,03¢ —
Purchase of AeroRepublica, net of acquired — — (22,28%)
Net cash flows used in investing activitie (334,759 (258,98() (159,88¢)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowir 329,14 254,55¢ 68,42
Payments on loans and borrowir (87,29)) (77,24¢) (46,929
Issuance of bonc — — 27,50¢
Redemption of bonc — (27,509 —
Dividends declared and pe (13,567) (8,31) (10,069
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 228,29! 141,49¢ 38,92¢
Effect of exchange rate change on cash 50C (212) 28
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 115,97¢ 75,77+ (5,560
Cash and cash equivalents at Januest 169,88 94,10¢ 99,66¢
Cash and cash equivalents at December . $ 28585( $ 169,88( $  94,10¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid, net of amount capitaliz $ 40,106 $ 26,77¢ $  21,12¢
Income taxes pai 16,55 11,28« 7,411
Investing and financing activities not affectinghe
Settlement of debt through insurance proceed oolum¢ary conversiol 22,82( — -

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financek8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corporate Information

Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Company”) is a leadiragib American provider of international airline paager and cargo
services. The Company was incorporated accorditigettaws of the Republic of Panama. The Companysd®.8% of the
shares of Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S. ApdQp100% of the shares of Oval Financial Leasind, (“OVAL"), and
99.9% of the shares of AeroRepublica, S.A. (“AepiRdica”).

Copa, the Company’s core operation, is incorporaterding to the laws of the Republic of Pananthmovides international
air transportation for passengers, cargo and @ajpa operates from its Panama City hub in the RepobPanama, from
where it offers approximately 125 daily schedulégghts among 40 destinations in 21 countries inthlo€entral and South
America and the Caribbean. Additionally, Copa pdeg passengers with access to flights to morelB@rother international
destinations through codeshare agreements withir@urtéal Airlines, Inc. (“Continental’and other airlines. The Company hi
broad commercial alliance with Continental whichlirdes joint marketing, code-sharing arrangemgaatdicipation in
Continental's OnePass frequent flyer loyalty progi@nd access to Continental’s VIP lounge programsiBent’s Club, along
with other benefits such as improved purchasinggram negotiations with service providers, airckafhdors and insurers. In
2007, Copa became an Associate member of the SkyAdlance. Copa passengers earn OnePass mile$ftighdas operated
by SkyTeam partners as well as are eligible toerdtheir OnePass miles for free reward ticketsmynad SkyTeam'’s 790
global destinations.

As of December 31, 2007, Copa operated a flee? @iigraft with an average age of 3.7 years; ctingi®f 26 modern Boeing
737-Next Generation aircraft and 11 Embraer 19€rai.

OVAL is incorporated according to the laws of thetiBh Virgin Islands, and controls the specialymse vehicles that have a
beneficial interest in 34 aircraft, with a carryinglue of $1.0 billion, all of which are leasedeither Copa or AeroRepublica.
The aircraft are pledged as collateral for thegailon of the special-purpose vehicles, which #recmsolidated by the
Company for financial reporting purposes; howethee,creditors of the special-purpose vehicles maveecourse to the general
credit of the Company, Copa or AeroRepublica.

AeroRepublica is a domestic Colombian air carrigrich is incorporated according to the laws of Republic of Colombia ar
provides domestic service to 12 cities in Colombidn a point-to-point route network as well as migional service to Panama
City from five (5) different cities. AeroRepublicgerates a fleet of six (6) leased MDs and seven (7) Embraer 190 aircra
of December 31, 2007.

On December 15, 2005, the Company concluded thelipublic listing on the New York Stock Exchan@YSE”) and its
principal shareholders sold 18,112,500 shares ag<CA common stock held by them. Cost relatedisaititial public listing
amounted $3.7 million which are included as a comepw of “Other, net” within Non-operating incomexgense) in the
Consolidated Statements of Income for 2005.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On June 28, 2006, the Company concluded a followffering on the NYSE whereby Continental Airlinesie of the
Company'’s principal shareholders, sold 6,562,5@0eshof Class A common stock at $21.75 per shaoeeBds of

$136.0 million, net of the commissions and discewit$6.8 million, were received directly by thdlisg shareholder with no
proceeds being received by the Company. Cost tketatthis follow-on offering amounted $0.3 millievhich are included as a
component of “Other, net” within Non-operating imee (expense) in the Consolidated Statements ofiedor 2006.

A substantial portion of the Company’s assets@catkd in the Republic of Panama, a significanppribon of the Company’s
customers are Panamanian, and a significant piopat the Company’s flights operate through ité fat Tocumen
International Airport in Panama City. As a restliie Company depends on economic and political ¢ondi prevailing from
time to time in Panama.

As used in these Notes to Consolidated FinancéakSBtents, the terms “the Company”, “we”, “us”, “0and similar terms
refer to Copa Holdings, S.A. and, unless the cdntalicates otherwise, its consolidated subsidsarie

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements were pedgaraccordance with U.S. generally accepted adtowyprinciples for
financial reporting using the U.S. Dollar as thparing currency.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements compris@tioeunts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Fam¢ial statements of
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reportinggas the parent company, using consistent attgupolicies. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which contrtiaesferred to the Company and cease to be coasatidrom the date on
which control is transferred from the Company. iAtercompany accounts, transactions and profisrayifrom consolidated
entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial $tates requires management to make estimates amuhjgssns that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated finarstetements and accompanying notes. Actual results dliffer from those
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bdrks;term time deposits, asset-backed commercjzpand securities, and
U.S. agency securities with original maturitiestoee months or less when purchased.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments

The Company invests in short-term time depositsetalsacked commercial paper and securities, anddd\v@rnment agency
securities with original maturities of more thaneth months but less than one year. Additionally,Glompany invests in long-
term time deposits and U.S. government agency siesuwvith maturities greater than 365 days. Thagestments are classifi
as short-term and long-term investments respegtiiethe accompanying Consolidated Balance Shédtsf these
investments are classified as held-to-maturity sees, and are stated at their amortized costesthe Company has
determined that it has the intent and ability t&dttbe securities to maturity. Restricted casHassified within long-term
investments, and is primarily held as collateralléters of credit.

Expendable Parts and Supplies

Expendable parts and supplies for flight equipnaeatcarried at average acquisition cost and areresqu when used in
operations. An allowance for obsolescence is pexviover the remaining estimated useful life ofrélated aircraft, plus an
allowance for expendable parts currently identifisdexcess to reduce the carrying cost to nezedad value. These
allowances are based on management estimates, afeictubject to change.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost andegreciated to estimated residual values over #stimated useful lives

using the straight-line method. Jet aircraft, jegiees and aircraft rotables are assumed to haestanated residual value of
15% of original cost; other categories of propenty equipment are assumed to have no residual. vidheeestimated useful

lives for property and equipment are as follows:

Years
Building 20 to 40
Jet aircraft 30
Jet engine 30
Ground property and equipme 5to0 10
Furniture, fixture, equipment and othi 5to 10
Software rights and licens 3t08
Aircraft rotables 10to 30
Leasehold improvements Lesser of remaining

lease term or useful lif
Measurement of Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company records impairment losses on long-lassts used in operations, consisting princigsdlfyroperty and
equipment, when events or changes in circumstandeste, in management’s judgment, that the assight be impaired and
the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be gestetat those assets are less than the carrying drabthose assets. Cash
flows estimates are based on historical resultssaeljl to reflect the Company’s best estimate afrfumarket and operating
conditions. The net carrying value of assets nobverable is reduced to fair value. Estimates iofi@ue represent the
Company’s best estimate based on industry trendisefarence to market rates and transactions ansiudject to change.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognition
Passenger Reveni

Passenger revenue is recognized when transportatovided rather than when a ticket is sold. &h®unt of passenger
ticket sales not yet recognized as revenue isatefieas “Air traffic liability” in the ConsolidateBalance Sheets. Fares for
tickets that have expired and/or are one year @decognized as passenger revenue. A significatiop of the Company’s
ticket sales are processed through major credit campanies, resulting in accounts receivable warehgenerally shoterm in
duration and typically collected prior to when reue is recognized. The Company believes that thditarisk associated with
these receivables is minimal.

We are required to charge certain taxes and feesiopassenger tickets. These taxes and fees entladsportation taxes,
airport passenger facility charges and foreigrvatiand departure taxes. These taxes and feesgakassessments on the
customer. As we have a legal obligation to act esllection agent with respect to these taxes aerd,fwe do not include such
amounts in passenger revenue. We record a liabilign the amounts are collected and relieve thditiawhen payments are
made to the applicable government agency or operatrrier.

Cargo and Mail Services Revenue

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized tieeBompany provides the shipping services amgliyecompletes the
earning process.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of excess hgggharges, commissions earned on tickets softigbts on other airlines
and charter flights, and is recognized when trariafion or service is provided.

Frequent Flyer Progran

The Company participates in Continental’s “OneP#&ssjuent flyer program, for which the Company’sgengers receive all
the benefits and privileges offered by the OnePasgram. Continental is responsible for the adnviai®n of the OnePass
program. Under the terms of the Company’s freqtigat agreement with Continental, OnePass memiseeive OnePass
frequent flyer mileage credits for travel on Copa &eroRepublica and the Company pays Continerpak anile rate for each
mileage credit granted by Continental, at whicmptie Company has no further obligation. The an®doe to Continental
under this agreement are expensed by the Compahyg asileage credits are earned.

Passenger Traffic Commissions
Passenger traffic commissions are recognized anegpwvhen the transportation is provided and tlagedtrevenue is

recognized. Passenger traffic commissions paichbuyet recognized as expense are included in @degxpenses” in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The Company'’s functional currency is the U.S. Doliee legal tender in Panama. Assets and liaslith foreign currencies are
translated at end-of-period exchange rates, eXoepbn-monetary assets and liabilities, whichteaeslated at equivalent U.S.
dollar costs at dates of acquisition and maintaateustorical rate. Operations are translated/ateye exchange rates in effect
during the period. Foreign exchange gains and $ogseincluded as a component of “Other, net” wition-operating income
(expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The financial statements of AeroRepublica are meakusing the Colombian Peso as the functionakagsr;, adjustments to
translate those statements into U.S. Dollars amerded in other comprehensive income (loss).

In 2007, approximately 69% of the Company’s expsras®l 40% of the Comparsytevenues were denominated in U.S. Do
The remainder of the Company’s expenses and resemeie denominated in the currencies of the vamousitries to which
the Company flies, with the largest non-dollar amtalenominated in Colombian pesos for which the gGamy hedges the risk
of fluctuation from time to time (see Note 7). Gelly, the Company’s exposure to other foreign encies is limited to a
period of up to two weeks, from the time a saledsipleted to the time funds are converted into D@lars.

Maintenance and Repair Costs

Maintenance and repair costs for owned and lediggd équipment, including the overhaul of aircredmponents, are charged
to operating expenses as incurred. Engine ovedusts covered by power-by-the-hour arrangementpaideand expensed as
incurred, on the basis of hours flown per the amttrUnder the terms of our power-by-the-hour agesds, we pay a set dollar
amount per engine hour flown on a monthly basistaedhird-party vendor assumes the obligatiorefmir the engines at no
additional cost to us, subject to certain speciérdusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreemsesgecifically provide that we, as lessee, areorsiple for maintenance of
the leased aircraft, we do, under certain of oistigrg lease agreements, pay maintenance resereg<taft and engine lessors
that are to be applied towards the cost of futuagtenance events. These reserves are calculaded ba a performance
measure, such as flight hours, and are specifitalbe used to reimburse third-party providers thatish services in
connection with maintenance of our leased airctathere are sufficient funds on deposit to pag itivoices submitted, they ¢
paid. However, if amounts on deposit are insuffiti® cover the invoices, we must cover the shibtifecause, as noted above,
we are legally responsible for maintaining the éeaiscraft. Under four of our existing aircraft $esagreements, if there are
excess amounts on deposit at the expiration detime, the lessor is entitled to retain any exapssunts. The maintenance
reserves paid under our lease agreements do nefdraither the obligation to maintain the aircoafthe cost risk associated
with the maintenance activities to the aircrafstas In addition, we maintain the right to selewy ¢éhird-party maintenance
providers. Therefore, we record these amountsegsaft maintenance within Other Assets on our Cadesteld Balance Sheets
and then recognize maintenance expense when tleglying maintenance is performed, in accordanch wifr maintenance
accounting policy. As of December 31, 2007, basethe experience of the Company’s maintenance peet@nd industry
available data, management determined that it watsaple that all maintenance deposits recordedegmja maintenance in t
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets will bd tsfund the cost of maintenance events ancharefore recoverable.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employee Profit Sharing

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing program étin management and non-management personnel. Fobeng of
management, profit-sharing is based on a combimmatithe Company’s performance as a whole and¢hi@ement of
individual goals. Profit-sharing for non-managememiployees is based solely on the Company’s pedoce. The Company
accrues each month for the expected profit-shavitich is paid annually in February. Amounts exgehfor the Company’s
profit-sharing program were $8.4 million, $8.4 naiti and $5.8 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, retipely.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Téragainy recognized as advertising expense $6.6omil$#4.8 million, and
$3.7 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided under the Itgbiiethod and reflect the net tax effects of terappdifferences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and thegiorted amounts in the financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangibles

The Company performs impairment testing of goodwrillaccordance with SFAS No. 142Gbodwill and Other Intangible
Asset¢”, separately from impairment testing of indefiriiteed intangibles. The Company tests goodwillifapairment, at least
annually, by comparing the book value to the failue at the reporting segment level and tests ididially indefinite-lived
intangibles, at least annually, by reviewing théividual book values compared to the fair valuen§iderable management
judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact ofabipg and macroeconomic changes and to estimateefoash flows t
measure fair value. Assumptions used in the Conmipampairment evaluations are consistent with inéprojections and
operating plans. The Company did not recognizeimpgairment charges for goodwill or intangibles asskiring the years
presented.

All of the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-livedtangibles are allocated to its AeroRepublica segfrand are tested
annually for impairment. Indefinite-lived intangébassets consist primarily of the fair value altedao the routes and the
AeroRepublica trade name, valued at $29.8 milliod $5.7 million, respectively. For the years enBedember 2007 and 20!
amounts of goodwill and intangible assets have gbdmlue to exchange effects.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Gain from Involuntary Conversion

In 2007, the Company recorded an $8.0 million gairinvoluntary conversion of non-monetary assetatoetary assets
related to insurance proceeds in excess of airfocafk value.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in thar gaars’ Consolidated Financial Statement amoamndsrelated note
disclosures to conform with the current year's prgation.

2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Stand@dard (“FASB”) issued Statement No. 159, “Ther &ilue Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS9”),. The standard allows entities to voluntachoose, at specified
election dates, to measure many financial assetéigancial liabilities (as well as certain nondimcial instruments that are
similar to financial instruments) at fair valuedttfair value option”). The election is made oniastrument-byinstrument basi
and is irrevocable. If the fair value option isal for an instrument, the Statement specifiesathaubsequent changes in fair
value for that instrument shall be reported in Beym SFAS 159 becomes effective for the fiscaty&aginning after
November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evalgahe potential impact, if any, that the adoptidrSFAS 159 will havt

on the consolidated financial position or resuftsperations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement N.“Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), whicHides fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valu expands disclosures about fair value measurermr®ffsS 157 applies to
other accounting pronouncements that require anipéair value measurements, but does not requiyenaw fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for us asrofalg 1, 2008; however, in February 2008, the FAsSBed a FASB Staff
Position that defers the effective date for usatoudry 1, 2009 for all nonfinancial assets andlites, except those that are
recognized or disclosed in the financial statemanfair value on a recurring basis (that is, asteannually). The Company is
currently finalizing the evaluation of the potehtrapact the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on tleasolidated financial
position and results of operations. Based on efipmary analysis management does not expectignyfisant impact.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No(Rétised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (R)1). SFAS 141
(R) will change the accounting for business comtoams. Under SFAS 141(R), an acquiring entity Wil required to recognize
all the assets acquired and liabilities assumedtmansaction at the acquisition-date fair valuthwinited exceptions. SFAS
141(R) will change the accounting treatment andldsire for certain specific items in a businesslmoation. SFAS 141(R)
applies prospectively to business combinationsviuich the acquisition date is on or after the beiig of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after December2®8. Accordingly, any business combinations tbenfany engages in
will be recorded and disclosed following existin® BAAP until January 1, 2009. The Company expeEsS141(R) will

have an impact on accounting for business combinaince adopted but the effect is dependent upguisitions at that time.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement Na.“Nafhcontrolling Interests in Consolidated Final&tatements—An
Amendment of ARB No. 51" (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160astshes new accounting and reporting standardshéor
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for tkeeonsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is ¢iffedor fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Compalieves that SFAS 160 should not have impadherconsolidated
financial position or results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement No. 1Bisclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heglgiativities — an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133" (“SFAS 16$HAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about &p'€derivative
and hedging activities. SFAS 161 is effective fecél years beginning on or after November 15, 200@ Company believes
that SFAS 161 should not have impact on the codisteld financial position or results of operations.

3. Special Fleet Charges
In 2007, the Company decided to terminate earky MD-80 aircraft leases, in connection with thegiion of

AeroRepublica’s fleet to EMBRAER-190. Penaltiesdpofir early termination is recognized as SpeciaeFCharges in the
Statement of Income.
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4. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, long-term debt consisted of thim¥ahg (in millions):

2007 2006
Long-term fixed rate det $ 376.¢ $ 347.¢
(Secured fixed rate indebtedness due through 2019
Effective rates ranged from 3.98% to 6.7%
Long-term variable rate del 431.¢ 247.¢
(Secured variable rate indebtedness due through 201
Effective rates ranged from 4.25% to 7.2(
Mediurmr-term variable rate del 34.¢ 26.2
(Unsecured variable rate indebtedness due in 2009
Weighted average rate of 4.71% to 6.4:

Sut-total 842.¢ 621.:
Less current maturitie 110.7 91.t
Long-term debt less current maturiti $ 732.2 $ 529.¢
Maturities of lon¢-term debt for the next five years are as followsnfillions):

Year ending December 3
2008 $ 110.7
2009 67.%
2010 60.¢
2011 60.5
2012 84.;
Thereaftel $ 459.¢

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company B&6.$ million and $365.4 million of outstanding éfifedness,
respectively, that is owed to financial institutsomnder financing arrangements guaranteed by therEkmport Bank of the
United States. The Export-lmport Bank guaranteppsti 85% of the net purchase price of the airaaét are secured with a
first priority mortgage on the aircraft in favor afsecurity trustee on behalf of Export-Import Bank

The Company’s Export-Import Bank supported finagsiare amortized on a quarterly basis, are dendedrna U.S. Dollars
and originally bear interest at a floating ratééd to LIBOR. The Export-Import Bank guaranteedliiées typically offer an
option to fix the applicable interest rate. The @amy has exercised this option with respect to $&5#llion as of
December 31, 2007.
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The Company effectively extends the maturity ofiteraft financing to 15 years through the usa t$tretched Overall
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structurechkhprovides serial draw-downs calculated to rasudt 100% loan
accreting to a recourse balloon at the maturitthefExport-Import Bank guaranteed loan which tat&#1d2 million as of
December 31, 2007.

The Company also typically finances a portion @ purchase price of the Boeing aircraft through memtial loans which
totaled $15.2 million as of December 31, 2007.

During 2006, the Company secured a senior andrjteim loan facility in the amount of $239.6 mihidor the purchase of ten
(10) Embraer 190 aircraft. The loans have a tertwefve years. During 2006, the Company utilize®.82million of this
facility and the remainder was drawn during 2007.

During 2006, the Company secured a medium termfiacility in the amount of $36.3 million for thenfincing of pre-delivery
payments of two (2) Boeing 737-800 aircraft hawitedivery months of May and November 2008. Durin@2ahe Company
secured a medium term loan facility in the amoudr3y.5 million for the financing of pre-deliveryapments of two (2) Boeing
737800 aircraft having delivery months of May and @&n2009.The Company has granted, for the berfetfiteobanks, a firs
priority security interest in the rights, title amderest over the four (4) Boeing 737-800 aircrhfterests on the loans are paid
on a quarterly basis with the principal balancbeaepaid upon delivery of the aircraft.

Assets, primarily aircraft, subject to agreemeetsusing the Company'’s indebtedness amounted tolllidh and
$736.0 million as of December 31, 2007 and 200 eetively.

As of December 31, 2007 the Company has two uncseunitments for long-term financing agreementsafmproximately
$166 million to acquire four (4) Embraer model E@raft, two (2) Boeing 737-800 aircraft and ofig CFM 56-7B22 engine
to be delivered between April and November 2008.

5. Investments

The Company invests in time deposits, asset-backeanercial paper and securities, and U.S. goverhagency securities.
These investments are classified within short-tamt longterm investments in the accompanying Consolidatddize Sheet
Investments are classified as held-to-maturity sees since the Company has the intent and théyatn hold them until
maturity. These investments are stated at theirgged cost which is essentially the same as fa@ivalue. Long-term
investments mature within three (3) years. Restiiiciash classified within long-term investment# fretime deposits,
amounted to $7.5 million as of December 31, 200¥ 2006.

As of December 31, 2007 investments hold by the @zom are composed principally of time deposits.
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6. Leases

The Company leases certain aircraft and othersasseler long-term lease arrangements. Other leesseds include real
property, airport and terminal facilities, salefagfs, maintenance facilities, training centers gaderal offices. Most contract
leases include renewal options. Non-aircraft reléeses, primarily held with local governments)agally have renewable
terms of one year. In certain cases, the rentahpays during the renewal periods would be greatar the current payments.
Because the lease renewals are not consideredrémbenably assured, as defined in SFAS No. A8cbunting for Leases”,
the rental payments that would be due during thewal periods are not included in the determinatibrent expense until the
leases are renewed. Leasehold improvements ardizedoover the contractually committed lease temmich does not include
the renewal periods. The Company’s leases do phtde residual value guarantees.

At December 31, 2007, the scheduled future mininease payments under operating leases that hdia ariremaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year doll@ss (in millions):

Operating Leases

Aircraft Non-Aircraft

Year ending December 3

2008 $ 37.t $ 7.4

2009 41.1 6.5

2010 40.t 5.5

2011 37.5 4.8

2012 32.¢ 4.4

Later year: 103.7 10.5
Total minimum lease paymer $ 292.% $ 38.¢

Total rent expense was $50.2 million, $48.7 milleowd $35.4 million for the years ended Decembef80y, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
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7. Financial Instruments and Risk Management
Fuel Price Risk Manageme

The Company periodically enters into crude oil cgifions, jet fuel zero cost collars, and jet fsmhp contracts to provide for
short to mid-term hedge protection (generally thiceeighteen months) against sudden and significanéases in jet fuel
prices, while simultaneously ensuring that the Canypis not competitively disadvantaged in the ewérat substantial decrease
in the price of jet fuel. The Company does not hmiissue derivative financial instruments for treppurposes.

Derivative contracts signed during 2006, where anted as cash flow hedges for financial reportingppses. They are
recorded at fair value with changes reflected eppyments and other current assets or other cuiabilties in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets withffeetdo “Accumulated other comprehensive losst,ofehedge
ineffectiveness. Hedge ineffectiveness includetDither non-operating income (expense)” in the aqeanying Consolidated
Statement of Income was $0.7 million and $(0.7)iamk in 2007 and 2006 respectively. Our loss egldb fuel hedging
instruments included in aircraft fuel in our Condated Statement of Income was $(19) thousand éhd)$million in 2007 an
2006 respectively.

The fair value of derivative contracts amounte@d million in 2007 was recorded in “Other currassets“and $(6.1) million
in 2006 was recorded in “Other current liabilities'the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Companychases of jet fuel are
made substantially from one supplier.

Changes in the fair value of derivative contrabts tlid not qualify as hedges for financial repwtpurposes, which amounted
to $8.4 million, $(1.8) million and $0.2 million iyears 2007, 2006, and 2005 respectively, weradedoas a component of
“Other, net” within Non-operating income (expenseépmmencing with new contracts entered into in 20@ne of our
derivative contracts are accounted under hedgeuatiog.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company held deriedtistruments on 11% of its projected 2008 fuekcamption, as
compared with derivatives held on 29% of actual éemsumed in 2007.

Financial derivative instruments expose the Compargyedit loss in the event of nonperformancehgydounterparties to the
agreements. However, the Company does not expgdadure of the counterparties to meet their oaligns, as the Comparsy’
policy to manage credit risk is to engage in bussngith counterparties who are financially stalvd wellversed in the matte
of energy risk management. The amount of such tceggiosure is generally the unrealized gain, if, amguch contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk Managem

The Company uses forward contracts to hedge agamsisk associated with its forecasted Colomipieso-denominated cash
flows. This derivative does not qualify as hedgesfihancial reporting purposes in accordance \Bi#AS No. 133, “
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities”. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of sudridative
contracts, which amounted to $2.6 million and $(@dlion in 2007 and 2006, respectively were reteat as a component of
“Other, net” within Non-operating income (expensg)e fair value of forward contracts amounted t®$illion at

December 31, 2007 was recorded in “Other Curresefss and $(2.1) million at December 31, 2006, vee®rded in “Other
Current Liabilities” in the Consolidated BalanceeSts.

F-19




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Debt

The fair value of the Company’s debt with a cargyiralue of $842.9 million and $621.3 million asDécember 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, was approximately $842.9 millamd $613.0 million. These estimates were basatediscounted amount
of future cash flows using the Company’s currentémental rate of borrowing for a similar liability

Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalentsjaesl cash, investment, accounts receivable aoduats payable
approximate fair value due to their short-term ratu

8. Cash and Stock Based Compensation Plans

The Company has established equity compensatiors plader which it administers non-vested stoclckstptions and certain
other equity-based awards to attract, retain antivate executive officers, certain key employeed monemployee directors
compensate them for their contributions to the ghoand profits of the Company. Shares delivereceuttis award program
may be sourced from treasury stock, or authorizegsued shares.

The Company’s equity compensation plans are aceduot under SFAS No. 123RShare-Based Paymen{SFAS 123R).
SFAS 123R requires companies to measure the ceshplbyee services received in exchange for anchefaequity
instruments (typically stock options) based ongtentdate fair value of the award or at fair value af #ward at each reporti
date, depending on the type of award granted. ainevdlue is estimated using option-pricing mod&lse resulting cost is
recognized over the period during which an emplageequired to provide service in exchange foraward, which is usually
the vesting period. For those awards issued subsétp the adoption of SFAS 123R that allow foreheration of vesting upon
retirement, total compensation cost is recognizext the period ending on the first eligible retiemhdate.

The total compensation cost recognized for nonegestock and options awards was $4.8 and $3.3milfi 2007 and 2006,
respectively, and were recorded as a componer8alfties and benefits” within Operating expense.
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Nor-vested Stock

In March 2006, the Compensation Committee of ouarBf Directors granted 935,650 non-vested stockrds for senior
management, officers, managers and key employefed@s:

Senior management were granted 847,625 non-vetstelkd awvards which vest over five (5) years in ygarstallments equal to
15% of the awarded stock on each of the first tii@@@nniversaries of the grant date, 25% on thetticanniversary and 30%
the fifth anniversary. Managers, officers and keypbyees, not on our senior management team, wargegl 88,025 non-
vested stock awards which vest on the second arisaieof the grant date.

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of ouarBmf Directors granted 16,955 shares of non-destieck awards to
certain named executive officers, which vest olieze (3) years in yearly installments equal to timet of the awarded stock
on each of the three anniversaries of the graet dat

Non-vested stock awards were measured at their faieyavhich is the same amount for which a similaégtricted share
would be issued to third party, on the grant dake fair value of these non-vested stocks awardae $83.14 and $21.10 for
the 2007 and the 2006 grants, respectively.

A summary of non-vested stock award activity urttierplan as of December 31, 2007 and changes dilméngear are as

follows:
2007 2006

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Grant-Date Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at beginning of ye 917,05( $ 21.1C — —
Grantec 16,95¢ 53.1¢ 935,65( 21.1(C
Vested (125,344 21.1¢ — —
Forfeited (1,950) 21.1( (18,600 21.1(
Non-vested at end of ye. 806,71: $ 21.7i 917,05( $ 21.1(

The Company uses the straight-line attribution metio recognize the compensation cost for awartts gvaded vesting
periods. The Company estimates that the remairongpensation cost, not yet recognized for the nategestock plan, is
$12.3 million with a weighted average remainingtcactual life of 1.9 years. Additionally, the Conmyeestimates that the 20
compensation cost related to this plan will be $dilion.

The total fair value of shares vested during ther yeded December 31, 2007 was $2.6 million.

Stock Options

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of owarBf Directors granted, for the first time, 35/G5uity stock options
certain named executive officers, which vest olieze (3) years in yearly installments equal to teet of the awarded stock

on each of the three anniversaries of the graet ddite exercise price of the options is $53.14chviwas the market price of t
Company'’s stock at the grant date. The stock optimve a contractual term of 10 years.
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The weighted-average fair value of the stock optianthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimated the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model assuming an expected dividgiettl of 0.58% based on our historical dividendgmants, expected
volatility of approximately 37.8% based on our bigtal volatility, weighted average risk-free irgst rate of 4.59% based on
the yield of the U.S. Treasury ten year bond, andxpected term of 6 years calculated under thplgied method.

A summary of options award activity under the pdarof December 31, 2007 and changes during theiyaarfollows:

Shares
Outstanding at January 1, 20 —
Grantec 35,657
Exercisec —
Forfeited or expirer —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 35,65

The Company uses the straight-line attribution meétlo recognize the compensation cost for stoclongt The Company
estimates that the remaining compensation costyatatcognized for stock options, is $0.6 millisith a weighted average
contractual life of 9.2 years and zero intrinsituea Additionally, the Company estimates that td8&compensation cost
related to this plan will be $0.3 million.

9. Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the income asttare data used in the basic and diluted earpeigshare computations for
the dates indicated (in millions, except share strate data):

December 31

2007 2006 2005

Income available to common stockholders for bo#isiband diluted EP US¢ 161.¢ 133.¢ 83.C
Weighted average common shares outstanding apf@itabasic EP! 42,907,96 42,812,50 42,812,50
Basic earnings per she us¢ 3.71 3.1 1.94
Weighted average common shares outstanding aplaitabiluted EP¢ 42,907,96 42,812,50 42,812,50
Effect of dilutive shares

Nor-vested Stock Pla 555,79. 422,05! 0
Adjusted weighted average common shares outstamagiplicable to diluted EF 43,463,75 43,234,55 42,812,50
Diluted earnings per sha Us¢ 3.72 3.1C 1.94
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Options to purchase 35,657 shares of common stdék3a14 per share outstanding at the end of 208 wxcluded in the
computation of diluted EPS because the options’ase price was greater than the average market pfithe common shares.

10. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006 the componeras@mfmulated other comprehensive income (loss)safallaws (in

millions):

Foreign Derivatives

Currency Financial

Translation Pensions Instruments Total

Balance as of December 31, 20( $ 1.2 — — $ 1.2
Foreign Currency Translatic 1.8 — — 1.8
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives instrume — — (4.0 4.0)
Impact of adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax of $ — (0.9 — (0.9)
Balance as of December 31, 20( 0.€ (0.9 (4.0 4.9
Foreign Currency Translatic 3.C 3.C
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives instrume — 4.C 4.C
SFAS 158 Unrecognized actuarial loss of the pe — (0.7 — (0.7
Amortization of actuarial los — 0.1 — 0.1
Balance as of December 31, 2007 $ 3.€ $ 09 $ 0.C $ 2.7

11. Issued Capital and Corporate Reorganization

On November 23, 2005, the Company’s Board of Dimecapproved a reorganization of the Compaugpital stock. Followir
the reorganization, the Company’s authorized chgiteck consists of 80 million shares of commorcktaithout par value,
divided into Class A shares, Class B shares anss@ashares. Immediately following the reorganizgtthere were 30,034,3
Class A shares outstanding, 12,778,125 Class Bsloatstanding, all owned by CIASA (a Panamanigity¢nand no Class C
shares outstanding. The reorganization did not anihee operations or financial condition of the G@my in any respect and,
such, does not result in a new basis of accounfiighare and per share information for the pegog retroactive effect to tt
reorganization. Class A and Class B shares havsatine economic rights and privileges, includingripkt to receive
dividends, except that the holders of the Clashaes are not entitled to vote at the Company’setivdders’ meetings, except
in connection with a transformation of the Comparty another corporate type; a merger, consolidatiospin-off of the
Company; a change of corporate purpose; voluntdalisting Class A shares from the NYSE; approtirggnomination of
independent directors nominated by the Companya®of Director's Nominating and Corporate Govegw@ommittee; and
any amendment to the foregoing special voting sioms adversely affecting the rights and privilegethe Class A shares.
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The Class A shareholders will acquire full votinghts, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon which
shareholders are entitled to vote, if in the futilne Companys Class B shares ever represent fewer than 108 abtal numbe
of shares of the Company’s common stock outstaraiimgthe Independent Directors Committee of the @omy’'s Board of
Directors (the “Independent Directors Committedialshave determined that such additional votigipts of Class A
shareholders would not cause a triggering eveetnmed to below. In such event, the right of thes€la shareholders to vote on
the specific matters described in the precedinggraph will no longer be applicable. At such tifi@ny, as the Class A
shareholders acquire full voting rights, the Boafr®irectors shall call an extraordinary sharehmdtimeeting to be held within
90 days following the date as of which the ClasshAres are entitled to vote on all matters at tmgany’s shareholders’
meetings. At the extraordinary shareholders’ meetine shareholders shall vote to elect all elemembers of the Board of
Directors in a slate recommended by the Nominadimd) Governance Committee. The terms of office efdinectors that were
serving prior to the extraordinary shareholdersetimg shall terminate upon the election held at theeting.

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to aote per share on all matters for which shareholdersntitled to vote. Class B
shares will be automatically converted into Classhares upon the registration of transfer of sheties to holders which are
not Panamanian.

The Class C shares will have no economic valuenalhdiot be transferable, but will possess suchngtights as the
Independent Directors Committee shall deem necgssansure the effective control of the Companyhypamanians. The
Class C shares will be redeemable by the Compaswchttime as the Independent Directors Commitgterchines that a
triggering event, shall no longer be in effect. Tlass C shares will not be entitled to any dividieor any other economic
rights.

12. Income Taxes

The Company pays taxes in the Republic of Panamanasther countries in which it operates, basedegulations in effect in
each respective country. The Company’s revenue® g@imcipally from foreign operations and accordioghe Panamanian
Fiscal Code these foreign operations are not sttjgncome tax in Panama.

The Company has elected to calculate its Panamariame tax with the alternative gross tax electldnder this method,
based on Article 121 of the Panamanian Fiscal Godeme for international transportation comparsesalculated based on a
territoriality method that determines gross revene@ned in Panama by applying the percentageles fiown within the
Panamanian territory against total revenues. Utidemethod, loss carry forwards cannot be appbeaffset tax liability.
Dividends from the Company’s Panamanian subsidiaiieluding Copa Airlines, are separately subject ten percent tax if
such dividends can be shown to be derived fromnreéom sources in Panama.
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The Company is also subject to local tax regulationeach of the jurisdictions where it operatke,dgreat majority of which a
related to the taxation of income. In some of thentries to which the Company flies, the Compangsdaot pay any income
taxes because it does not generate taxable incoder the laws of those countries or because diiesear other arrangements
those countries have with Panama. In the remaicongtries, the Company pays income tax at a raigimg from 25% to 34%
of income. Different countries calculate incomalifierent ways, but they are typically derived fresaies in the applicable
country multiplied by the Company’s net margin grébpresumed net margin set by the relevant taglé&mn. The
determination of the Company'’s taxable income iresal countries is based on a combination of regsrsourced to each
particular country and the allocation of expendab® Company’s operations to that particular counthe methodology for
multinational transportation company sourcing aferaue and expense is not always specifically piteesdin the relevant tax
regulations, and therefore is subject to interpiateby both the Company and the respective taaintorities. Additionally, in
some countries, the applicability of certain regjoles governing non-income taxes and the determoinaif the filing status of
the Company are also subject to interpretation.

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a biktagreement between Panama and the United Stat€ompany is exem
from the U.S. source transportation income taxveerirom the international operation of its airtraf

The provision for income taxes recorded in the @bdated Statements of Income was as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Panam:i

Current $ 1.3 $ 1.1 $ 0.6

Deferred — — —
Foreign

Current 13.4 ilil 2 7.€

Deferred 2.4 (0.9 0.c
Total 17.1 12.2 $ 9.€

The Company paid taxes of $16.6 million, $11.3immlland $7.4 million in years 2007, 2006 and 2@@Spectively.

Pre-tax income, based on the Copa Airlines’ interoate profitability measures, related to Panamamiperations was
$49.7 million, $44.9 million, and $32.3 million 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, and relatédriign operations was
$129.3 million, $101.2 million, and $60.3 million 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

AeroRepublica’s benefit from operating loss carryfards amounted to $0.6 million and $0.8 milliorca®ecember 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The benefit from operakirsg carryforwards are available for a period akse(7) years from when
they were generated in 2005.

Income tax returns for all companies incorporatethe Republic of Panama are subject to revievakyatithorities up to the
last three (3) years, including the year ended Béee 31, 2007 according to current tax regulatiéios.other countries where
the Company operates, it is subject to review leyr tespective tax authorities for periods randiagn the last two (2) to six
(6) years.
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The amount of income tax expense incurred in Paneamas from the statutory rate because of the fRan&n gross tax
election. Income taxes outside of Panama are géndegermined on the basis of net income or reegand all of the countrit
have rates that vary from the Panamanian statusoey

The reconciliations of income tax computed at taadPnanian statutory tax rate to income tax expfmgbe years ended
December 31 are as follows (in millions):

Amount Percentage
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Provision for income taxes at

Panamanian statutory raf $ 537 $ 43¢& $ 27.¢ 30.(% 30.(% 30.(%
Panamanian gross tax elect (13.¢) (12.9) (8.9) (7.€%) (8.5%) (9.€%)
Difference in Panamanian statutc

rates and non-Panamanian

statutory rate (23.0 (29.0) 9.9 (12.£%) (13.1%) (10.0%)
Provision for income taxe $ 171 $ 12: $ 9.€ 9.6% 8.4% 10.4%

Deferred income taxes are provided under the Itgbiilethod and reflect the net tax effects of terappdifferences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and thegiorted amounts in the consolidated financial statgs.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferreditbilities and assets are as follows (in milsyn

2007 2006
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible Asset $ 117 % (10.5)
Maintenance reserve (1.8 1.7
(13.5) (12.2)
Deferred tax asset
Property and Equipme 6.3 6.8
Pos-employment benefit obligatic 0.0 0.1
Allowance for doubtful accoun 0.9 1kt
Expendable parts and suppl 0.4 0.€
Prepaid expenst 0.1 0.4
Others 2.9 21
10.€ 11.
Net deferred tax liabilitie (2.9 0.9)
Less: Current deferred tax ass 3.8 3.€
Non current deferred tax liabilitie $ 6.7 $ (4.6)

The Company’s deferred tax assets recognized i€tmsolidated Balance Sheets, within other cumsséts, for
AeroRepublica segment was $3.4 million and $3.8aniffor 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Company adopted Financial Accounting StandBodsd’s Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Umtznty in Income
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. (69N 48), effective January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clesfthe accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in finansiatements and requires the impact of a tax positi be recognized in the
financial statements if that position is more likéhan not of being sustained by the taxing authofihe adoption of FIN 48 d
not have a material effect on our consolidatedrfama position or results of operations. Interasl penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits are recognized withierggt expense and other non-operating income (sgparspectively, in our
consolidated statement of operations.

13. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company, in accordance with Panamanian lala, Is required to establish and fund both a sewerdund and a
termination indemnity plan.

The Company contributes to the Severance Fund lmas@®2% of applicable wages paid annually. Upessation of the labor
relationship, regardless of cause, the Comparsggired to pay the employee the amount accumulgidd the cessation of t
labor relationship. This plan is accounted for agfned benefit pension plan under SFAS No. &niployers’ Accounting for
Pension¢” (SFAS 87), as amended, whereby pension bengfi¢rese is recognized over the employees’ approxiseatace
periods.
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The Company contributes to the Termination IndeynRlan based on 0.33% of total applicable wages ganually. Upon
cessation of the labor relationship due to ternmmathe Company is required to pay 6.54% of apjplie wages earned over
duration of the employment period of the terminagatployee. This plan is accounted for as a post@myent benefit plan
under SFAS No. 112,Employers’ Accounting for Post-employment Benefi&AS 112), whereby post-employment benefit
expense is recognized over the employees’ appragisgvice periods.

In Panama, all employees are covered by one or ofdhese plans. In Colombia, all employees hirefbke April 1, 1994 are
covered by a defined benefit pension plan. The fitsnender these plans are based on years of geavid an employee’s
accumulated compensation. Pension obligations essured as of December 31 of each year.

Panama Pension and Post Employment Plans

Pension Plar

The following table sets forth the defined benpéihsion plan’s change in projected benefit oblagatin millions) at
December 31:

2007 2006
Accumulated benefit obligatic $ 3.1 $ 2.8
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of y $ 34 $ 2.¢
Service cos 04 &
Interest cos 0.2 0.2
Actuarial losse: 0.0 0.4
Benefits paic (0.4 (0.9
Projected benefit obligation at end of y: $ 3.6 $ 34

The following table sets forth the defined benpéihsion plan’s change in the fair value of plaresén millions) at
December 31:

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y $ 4.0 $ 34
Actual return on plan asse 0.2 0.2
Employer contribution 0.8 0.8
Benefits paic (0.4) (0.4)
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $ 4.7 $ 4.C
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The following table sets forth the amounts (in ioilk) recognized in the consolidated balance sme@the funded status of the
plan at December 31:

2007 2006
Noncurrent benefit ass $ 1.1 $ 0.€
Net overfunded amount recognized in balance ¢ 11 0.€
Unrecognized net actuarial gain (lo — —
Funded status of the pla— net overfunde $ 1.1 $ 0.€

The amount of net actuarial loss, net of tax, réedrin “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income g)othat have not yet
been recognized as components of net periodic hexgiense are $0.9 million for the years endingé»eber 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively.

The amount of unrecognized net actuarial loss dembm accumulated other comprehensive loss expéatee recognized as
components of net periodic benefit expense durf@gas $ 0.1 million.

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligatecognized in other comprehensive income foyéaes ended December
are as follow (in millions):

2007
Actuarial losses of current perit $ 0.1
Amortization of actuarial losses into net periobéenefit expens (0.9
Total recognized in other comprehensive incc $ 0.C
Net periodic benefit expense for the years endexéBer 31 included the following components (inliomk):
2007 2006 2005
Service cos $ 04 $ 0.2 $ 3
Interest cos 0.2 0.2 0.1
Expected return on plan ass 0.2 (0.2) (0.7)
Actuarial loss 0.1 0.C 0.C
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 0.5 $ 0.4 $ 5

The following actuarial assumptions were used temene the actuarial present value of projecteteheobligation at
December 31:

2007 2006
Weighted average assumed discount 5.5% 5.5%
Weighted average rate of compensation incr 3.25% 3.25%
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The following actuarial assumptions were used terdeine the net periodic benefit expense for ther g;mded December 31:

2007 2006 2005
Weighted average assumed discount 5.5% 5.5(% 5.7%%
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 5.0(% 4.5(% 4.0(%
Weighted average rate of compensation incr 3.25% 3.25% 3.5(%

The Company'’s discount rate is determined based tiporeview of high quality corporate bond rathe,change in these rates
during the year, and year-end rate levels.

The Company holds its Seniority Premium funds Witbfuturo, a Panamanian pension fund managememniamrbacked by
various banks and insurance companies. The SgnRmgtmium is invested in Proahorro, a conservdtine which invests in
instruments such as savings accounts (0.03%), pEmamcommercial paper (4.74%) and time deposE2@b), with return
on funds amounting to 5.8% in 2007. The expectadmeon plan assets is based upon an evaluatitredompanys historica
trends and experience taking into account curnedtexpected market conditions.

Estimated future contribution and benefit paymewtsich reflect expected future service, for thergeanded December 31, are
as follows (in millions):

Future contribution payment

2008 $ 0.€
Future benefit payment
2008 $ 0.7
2009 $ 0.€
2010 $ 0.7
2011 $ 0.€
2012 $ 0.€
Remaining five year $ 2.€

Pos-employment Benefit Plan

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, &b&| &ftal expense for the post-employment benefits $0.4 million,
$0.5 million, and $0.4 million, respectively.
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14. Fleet Impairment Charges

The Company re-evaluated the value of its BoeirgZ®0 aircraft, rotable and expendable parts imatance with SFAS
No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetsin 2003.

In 2004, the Company entered into a sales agreeimeit$ remaining Boeing 737-200 aircraft. Gaimstbe sale of the aircraft
of $1.1 million in each of 2004 and 2005 are inelddvithin Other, net . In 2005, the Company soldgpeelated to its Boeing
737-200, resulting in a gain of $0.3 million whishalso included within Other, net.

15. Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of significant relateaty transactions that occurred during 2007, 26@62005. Except as
otherwise discussed, the payments to and fromextlzérties in the ordinary course of business Wwased on prevailing mark
rates.

Continental AirlinesSince 1998, Continental has implemented a compeerommercial and services alliance with Copa.
Key elements of the alliance include: similar bramdges, code sharing, co-branding of the OneRegaént flyer program in
Latin America, joint construction and operatiortled Panama Presidents Club VIP lounge, joint pwiciga maintenance and
engineering support and a number of other markesialgs and service initiatives.

As a result of these activities, the Company padtibental $29.4 million, $25.1 million, and $16ér8llion in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, and Continental paid Copa $&1illton, $17.8 million, and $16.1 million in 2002006 and 2005,
respectively. The Company owed Continental $0.%aniland $0.9 million at December 31, 2007 and 2088pectively.
Continental owed the Company $0.5 million and $hifion at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectivEihe services
provided are considered normal to the daily openatiof both airlines.

Banco General, S. A*Banco Generd). The Company has a strong commercial banking relsttip with Banco General, S.
On January 3, 2007 Grupo Financiero Continental. Swhich is controlled by the Company’s shareleodd agreed to merge
the operations of Banco Continental with Banco @&rte form Panama’s largest privately owned bafter the execution of
the merger, the shareholders of Grupo FinancierttiGental S. A. own approximately 39% of the congirentity.

The Company obtains financing from Banco Generdkeushort to medium-term financing arrangementpéot of the
commercial loan tranche of one of the Company’sdexfmport Bank facilities. The Company also mainsageneral lines of
credit and time deposit accounts with Banco General

Interest payments to Banco General totaled $0.8omjl$1.4 million and $1.6 million in 2007, 2006cx2005, respectively, al
the Company received interest income of $4.5 mmi|lg1.5 million, and $1.0 million in 2007, 2006 a2@D5, respectively. The
debt balance outstanding at December 31 amount®4i8million and $8.5 million in 2007 and 2006spectively. These
amounts are included in “Current maturities of ldagn debt” and “Long-term debt” in the Consolida®alance Sheets.
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ASSA Compaiiia de Seguros, S. BASSA”"). Panamanian law requires the Company to maintainstgance policies through
a local insurance company. The Company has coattak8SA, an insurance company controlled by the @omy's controlling
shareholders, to provide substantially all ofitsurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfah@risks under those polici
with insurance companies in Europe. The net paynweASSA, after taking into account the reinsuraotthese risks totaled
$0.03 million in each of 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Petréleos Delta, S. A!Delta Petroleurt). During 2005, the Company entered into a contratt Retroleos Delta, S.A. to
supply its jet fuel needs. The price agreed to uttde contract is based on the two week averagheot).S. Gulf Coast
Waterborne Mean index plus local taxes, certairltparty handling charges and a handling chardetta. The contract has a
one year term that automatically renews for one pedod unless terminated by one of the partielsil&\the Company’s
controlling shareholders do not hold a controlléguity interest in Petréleos Delta, S.A., variotithe Company’s Board of
Directors also are Board members of Petréleos D8lta. Payments to Petréleos Delta totaled $126l@®min 2007,

$77.9 million in 2006 and $26.5 million from AugustDecember of 2005.

Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S. A\fesarrollo Inmobiliari®). During January 2006, the Company moved into its new
headquarters, a recently constructed building émtaix miles away from Tocumen International Aitpdhe Company leases
five floors consisting of approximately 104,000 arpifeet of the building from Desarrollo Inmobil@ran entity controlled by
the same group of investors that controls CIASAJarra ten-year lease at a rate of $0.1 millionnpenth. Payments to
Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A. totaled $inflion, $1.8 million, $0.6 million in 2007, 200&nd 2005, respectively.

Galindo, Arias & LopezMost of the Company’s legal work, including passamgthe validity of the shares offered, is carried
out by the law firm Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Certgartners of Galindo, Arias & Lopez are indirecatholders of CIASA an
serve on the Company’s Board of Directors. Paymien@alindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.4 million, 80million and $0.3
million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Other Transaction§.he Company purchases most of the alcohol and btherrages served on its aircraft from Motta
Internacional, S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., bdtiwvbich are controlled by the Company’s controllsttareholders. The
Company does not have any formal contracts fortipeschases, but pays wholesale prices based amlistis periodically
submitted by those importers. The Company paid 0lén, $0.5 million and $0.4 million in 2007, 26 and 2005,
respectively.

The Company’s telecommunications and other datacgsrhave been provided by Telecarrier, Inc.,esiebruary 2003. Some

of the controlling shareholders of CIASA have atcolfing interest in Telecarrier. Payments to Teleier totaled $0.6 million,
$0.5 million and $0.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 20€espectively.
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The Company receives services from Call Center @atjon, a call center that operates Copa’s reiensand sales services
and handles calls from Panama as well as most othatries Copa flies to. One of the Company’saoes, Joseph Fidanque
11, is one of the owners of this call center. Payits to Call Center Corporation totaled $2.6 milland $2.4 million in 2007
and 2006, respectively.

The advertising agency that the Company uses iafRanRogelio Diaz Publicidad (RDP), is owned byhtather-intaw of the
Company'’s chief executive officer. Gross invoicesdll services performed through RDP totaled $diléon, $1.5 million and
$1.5 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has a purchase contract with Boeingidoeing 737-Next Generation aircraft, under Wwhitee Company has
eight (8) firm orders, three (3) purchase optioms fave (5) purchase rights. Additionally, the Ccany has a purchase contract
with Embraer for 26 Embraer 190 aircraft, underchtthe Company has four (4) firm orders, sixteed) furchase options and
six (6) purchase options rights.

The firm orders have an approximate value of $76édllllon based on aircraft list prices, includinstienated amounts for
contractual price escalation and pre-delivery déposhe Company is scheduled to take delivenhefdircraft underlying the
12 firm orders between 2008 and 2012.

Covenants

As a result of the various aircraft financing cats entered into by the Company, the Companygisined to comply with
certain financial covenants. These covenants, arotirgy things, require the Company to maintain BITBAR to fixed charg
ratio of at least 2.5 times, a minimum tangiblewetth of $160 million, an EBITDAR to finance chargxpense ration of at
least 2.0 times, a net borrowings to Company’staéipation ratio of less than 85%, a total lialilgtlus operating leases minus
operating cash to tangible net worth ratio of kbsm 5.5, a longerm obligations to EBITDAR ratio of less than éa0ninimun
unrestricted cash balance of $50 million and a mim of $75 million in available cash, cash equintdeand short-term
investments.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company was in compdiavith all required covenants.
Labor Unions

Approximately 49% of the Company'’s 5,145 employaesunionized. There are currently seven (7) uniganizations; five
(5) covering employees in Panama and two (2) cogezmployees in Colombia.

The five (5) unions covering employees in Panarolude: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight atteamtts’ union (SIPANAB);
the mechanics’ union (SINTECMAP); the traffic atlants’ union (UGETRACO); and a generalized unioiE(#S), which
represents ground personnel, messengers, drivenstes agents and other non-executive adminiseatiaff. Copa Airlines
entered into a new collective bargaining agreemathit SIPAC on October 31, 2007 which will end Aug84, 2012. Typically
collective bargaining agreements in Panama hawestef four years. Copa Airlines has traditionabyperienced good relations
with its unions.
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The two (2) unions covering employees in Colombe& the pilots’ union (ACDAC) and the traffic attant’s union (ACAV).
AeroRepublica is now negotiating a new collectiaedaining agreement with ACAV, this negotiatioreigpected to finish
during second quarter of 2008. AeroRepublica’sreaténto a new collective bargaining agreement W@DAC on March 3,
2008 that will be effect until December 31, 201@pitally, collective bargaining agreements in Colwanhave terms of two to
four years. AeroRepublica has traditionally expeed good relations with its unions.

Lines of Credit for Working Capital and LettersQrfedit

The Company maintained available facilities for king capital with several banks with available Inakes of $34.5 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

The Company maintained available facilities fotdet of credit with several banks with outstandda¢ances of $33.8 million
and $27.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 20Geetively. These letters of credit are pledgedhfaraft rentals,
maintenance and guarantees for airport facilitifghis total, $22.1 million are letters of credjiened on behalf of
AeroRepublica for the same purposes listed above.

These lines of credit have been put in place tideriiquidity gaps and for other potential continges. Due to the Company’s
current cash position, the lines of credit do retéhoutstanding balances.

Termination of General Sales Agent

The Company historically outsourced sales functiorsome outstations through agreements with gésales agents (GSA).
Over the past few years, the Company has beenrdisning existing agreements in order to reductitligion costs and take
direct control over these functions. As a resulhig process, the Company terminated general aglest agreements in 2004.
Payments relating to the termination of the gensalds agent agreements amounted to $1.3 millidmas expensed in 2005.
The Company has no remaining GSA agreements wgthifigiant termination contingencies.

17. Subsequent Events

Stock Grants

During first quarter of 2008, the Compensation Catiam of the Company’s Board of Directors approtwed (2) new awards.
Awards were granted under these new plans for 6%8ares of non-vested stock, which will vest dhege (3) years. The

Company estimates the fair value of these awartie @mpproximately $2.4 million and the 2008 compéina cost for these
plans is $0.6 million.
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Investment in subsidiai

During the first quarter of 2008, the Company itedsan additional $4.3 million in its subsidiaryrARepublica Airlines.

18. Segment Reporting

The Company determined it has two reportable setgnire Copa segment and the AeroRepublica segprémgrily because:
(1) management evaluates the financial and opesdtresults of the Copa segment and AeroRepubdigenent separately for
internal reporting and management performance atialupurposes; and (2) management intends to sllenwRepublica’s
existing management to continue operating thenaiis a point-to-point Colombian carrier. The actiog policies of the

segments are the same as those described in N@arimary of Significant Accounting Policies”. Geakcorporate and other
assets are allocated to the Copa segment.
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Operating information for the Copa segment andi@RepUblica segment for the period ended Dece®ibe2007, 2006 and
2005 is as follow (in millions):

2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenues:
Copa Segmer $ 806.2 $ 676.: $ 505.7
AeroRepublica segme 226.( 175.¢ 103.(
Elimnations (4.9 (0.9) (0.7)
Consolidatec $  1,027.: $ 851.2 $ 608.¢
Depreciation:
Copa Segmer $ 30.7 $ 23.7 $ 19.:
AeroRepublica segme 4.6 1.2 0.€
Consolidatec $ 35.2 $ 24.¢ $ 19.¢
Aircraft Rentals:
Copa Segmer $ 27.¢ $ 23.¢ $ 22.1
AeroRepublica segme 14.¢ 14.€ 5.E
Elimnations (4.0 0.3 0.C
Consolidatec $ 38.€ $ 38.2 $ 27.€
Operating income:
Copa Segmer $ 1715 $ 166.€ $ 103.(
AeroRepublica segme 25.¢ (0.5 6.1
Consolidatec $ 197.t $ 166.] $ 109.]
Interest expense:
Copa Segmer $ (33 % (25.290 % (18.9)
AeroRepublica segme (8.0 (2.2 (2.2
Consolidatec $ (41 $ (27,9 % (20.5)
Interest income:
Copa Segmer $ 11.7 $ 6.€ $ 34
AeroRepublica segme 0.5 0.4 0.2
Consolidatec $ 12.2 $ 7.2 $ 3.€
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Copa Segmer $ 165.¢ $ 155.t $ 89.¢
AeroRepublica segme 13.5 (9.9 2.8
Consolidatec $ 178.¢ $ 146.1 $ 92.€
Total Assets at End of Period:
Copa Segmer $ 1,546.¢ $ 1,168.:
AeroRepublica segme 256.3 132.¢
Elimnations (95.6€) (46.0
Consolidatec $ 1,707.C $ 1,255.(
Capital Expenditures:
Copa Segmer $ 250.t $ 222.( $ 109.¢
AeroRepublica segme 115.€ 30.C 2.¢
Consolidatec $ 366.1 $ 252.( $ 112.¢
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Information concerning operating revenue by priatigeographic area for the period ended Decembéex 84 follow (in

millions):

2007 2006 2005
North America $ 152.1 $ 131.2 $ 86.¢
Central America and Caribbe 162.c 157.C 125.c
South Americe 573.¢ 450.: 303.2
Panam: 139.: 112.% 93.2
Total operating revent $  1,027.: $ 851.2 $ 608.¢

We attribute revenue among the geographical ar@sedbupon point of sales. Our tangible assets apithtexpenditures
consist primarily of flight and related ground soppequipment, which is mobile across geographicketa and, therefore, has
not been allocated.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

We have audited the consolidated financial statésnefiCopa Holdings, S.A. (the “Company”) and sdizsies as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and for each of tlee tyears in the period ended December 31, 200haralissued our report
thereon dated May 5, 2008 (included elsewhereinAhnual Report Form 20F). Our audits also inctuittee financial
statement schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifyingéuants listed in Item 18 of this Annual Report. Shchedule is the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion based on audlita.

In our opinion, the financial statement scheduferred to above, when considered in relation tdosic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly imaterial respects the information set forth therei

/s/ Ernst & Young

Panama City, Republic of Panama
May 5, 2008
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Additions Deductions
Beginning of Charged Tc from Balance at
Description Year Expense Reserves End of Year
(in thousands)
2007
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 7,30t 427¢ $ (342H)@ % 8,157
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts a
Supplies 21 14 0 35
2006
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 4,911 3,76¢ $1370 @ 3 7,30%
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts and
Supplies 9 12 0 21
2005
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 4,71 81z ($619) @ % 4,911
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts a
Supplies 1,73¢ 3 (2,739 9
General Sales Agent Contract Termination Rese 1,30 0 (1,300 0

(@ Doubtful accounts written off.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated as of Augus2@d7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated as of Febi2ar2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesit to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

t  The Registrant has requested confidential treatfioemortions of this exhibit






CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.47
CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTERAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®N PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 14
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft
THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as_of , 2007 by and between THE BOEING
COMPANY, a Delaware corporation with its princigdfice in Seattle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPALHXINGS, S.A,,
INC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the patrties hereto entered into Purchageément No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat).
as amended and supplemented, relating to BoeingM@&@¥-7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite **Material Redacted** and to correct two
typographical errors in Supplemental Agreement Nemnd3; and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreedherad the Agreement to incorporate the effect oferend
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cawes herein contained, the parties agree to anmenddreement &
follows:

1.1. Table of Contents and Tabl:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talfl€ontents’, with the “ Table of Content$attached hereto and
hereby made a part of the Agreement, to reflectttamges made by this Supplemental Agreen

1.3. Table 1-4 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7377V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect **Material
Redacted** 73-7V3 aircraft from this table

1.4. Table 1-5 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect **Material
Redacted** aircraft to this tabl

1.5. Page 1 of Supplemental Agreement No 13 is remawneldeplaced with a new page 1 that corrects’thaterial
Redacted** in accordance with the agreement betileeparties

1.6. Page 7 of Letter Agreement 6-1162-LAJR4, Artitte5 is removed and replaced with a new page Tctraiges
**Material Redacted** in accordance with the agresmbetween the partie

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢
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The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be supmpitd to the extent herein provided as of the ldateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppieiereement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By: By:

Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1«
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ARTICLES NUMBER
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.47
SA

ARTICLES NUMBER
LETTER AGREEMENTS

2191-01 Demonstration Flight Waivt

2191-02 Escalation Sharin

2191-03 Seller Purchased Equipmt
RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT:
6-1162-DAN-0123 Performance Guarante
6-1162-DAN-0124 Special Mattel
6-1162-DAN-0155 Airframe Escalation Revisic
6-1162-DAN-0156 Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firm
6-1162-DAN-0157 Miscellaneous Matte
6-1162-MJB-0017 Special Matter
6-1162-MJB-0030 Special Mattet
6-1162-LAJ-874R Special Matter SAE
6-1162-LAJ-874R1 Special Mattel SA €
6-1162-LAJ-874R2 Special Mattel SA7
6-1162-LAJ-982 Special Matter SA €
6-1162-RLL-3852 73-800 Performance Guarante SA ¢S
6-1162-LAJ-982R4 Special Mattel SA 1t
6-1162-RLL-3958 73-8V3 Option Aircraft SA 1z
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF:
Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20(C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
(2 typographical errors in SA 13 have been corbteSA 14)
Supplemental Agreement No.

PA No. 2191

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200¢
March 16, 200
May 8, 200!
August 30, 200
February 26, 20(
April 23, 2007

August __, 200
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.47

Table 1-4
Aircraft Information Table Model 737-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 731-700 154,50(

Engine Model: CFM5€-7B22

Airframe Price: **Material Redacted**
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted**
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Redacted**
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted**
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate **Material Redacted**
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material Redacted**
Detail Specification: D6-3880¢-42-1 (4/30/2004

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Ju-04 ECI-MFG/CPI
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula N/A N/A

Airframe Escalation Data:

Base Year Index (ECI): **Material Redacted**
Base Year Index (CPI): **Material Redacted**
Escalation Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/P 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
Total: 1
PA No. 2191 SA No. 1«




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Airframe Model/MTOW:

Engine Model/Thrust:

Airframe Price:

Optional Features:

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft):

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE):
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate:

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept:
Detail Specification:

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:

Airframe Escalation Data:
Base Year Index (ECI):
Base Year Index (CPI):

Table 1-5

Aircraft Information Table Model 737-8V3 Aircraft
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

737-8V3
CFM5€-7B26

D6-3880¢-1 Rev C, dated-4-05

Jul-04
N/A

EXHIBIT 10.47

174,200 pound
26,400 pound
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
ECI-MFG/CPI
N/A

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Escalation Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/IP 1% 4% 30%

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

Total: 4

PA No. 2191

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.47
Supplemental Agreement No. 13
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as of 0Z0by and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a
Delaware corporation with its principal office ie&tle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, SINC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageeéiment No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat).
as amended and supplemented, relating to BoeingM@&@¥-7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreeametfitMaterial Redacted** and **Material Redacted**
and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreedhtered the Agreement to incorporate the effect afetend
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cam@s herein contained, the parties agree to anmenéddreement &
follows:

1.1. Table of Contents, Tables and Letter Agreem:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talfl€aontents’, with the “ Table of Content$attached hereto and
hereby made a part of the Agreement, to reflectttamges made by this Supplemental Agreen

1.3. Table 1-4 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7377V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the
**Material Redacted** for the **Material Redacted*?37-7V3 Aircraft.

1.4, Table 1-5 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the
**Material Redacted** 73-8V3 Aircraft.

1.5. Table 1-6 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the
scheduled delivery months for the -8V3 Aircraft of **Material Redacted**

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1«




O

ELOETNEG
17.t *Material Redacted**
17.€ *Material Redacted**
18. **Material Redacted**
19. **Material Redacted**

20. Confidentiality. Customer understands that certain commerciafiaadcial information contained in this Letter
Agreement are considered by Boeing as confidei@iastomer agrees that it will treat this Letter égment and the
information contained herein as confidential antl mot, without the prior written consent of Boejrdjsclose this Letter
Agreement or any information contained herein tp @iner person or entity except its counsel analmitors or as
otherwise required by law or legal proce

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢






CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.48

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®N PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Supplemental Agreement No. 15
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft
THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as_of , 2008 by and between THE

BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware corporation with itsnmipal office in Seattle, Washington, (Boeing) &@PA
HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageeéiment No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat).
as amended and supplemented, relating to BoeingM@&@¥-7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite **Material Redacted**; and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreedchtered the Agreement to incorporate the effect asetend
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cawes herein contained, the parties agree to anmenddreement &
follows:

1.1. Table of Contents and Tabil:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talfl€ontents’, with the “ Table of Content5attached hereto and
hereby made a part of the Agreement, to reflectki@ges made by this Supplemental Agreen

1.3. Table 1-4 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7377V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect **Material
Redacted** 73-7V3 aircraft from this table

1.4. Table 1-5 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect **Material
Redacted** 73-8V3 aircraft to this table

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1t
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.48
The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sumpiterd to the extent herein provided as of the ldateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppieiereement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By **Material Redacted** By:

Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.48
TABLE OF CONTENTS
SA
ARTICLES NUMBER
1. Quantity, Model and Descriptic SA:Z
2. Delivery Schedul
3. Price
4. Paymen SAZG
5. Miscellaneou:
TABLE
1-1 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7-7V3 Aircraft SA A4
1-2 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SAE
1-3 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA7
1-4 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft SA 1t
1-5 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 1t
1-6 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 1:
1-7 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA 12
Option Aircraft
EXHIBIT
A-1 Aircraft Configuration for Model 72-7V3 Aircraft SAZG
A-2 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft SA:3Z
B. Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Responsitei SAZG
SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS
AEL. Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optionahftees SA 1C
BFEL. BFE Variable SAZ
CS1. Customer Support Variabl SAZG

EE1. Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Pateterhnity

SLP1. Service Life Policy Componer

PA No. 2191

SA No. 1t




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.48
SA

ARTICLES NUMBER
LETTER AGREEMENTS

2191-01 Demonstration Flight Waivt

2191-02 Escalation Sharin

2191-03 Seller Purchased Equipm
RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT:
6-1162-DAN-0123 Performance Guarante
6-1162-DAN-0124 Special Mattel
6-1162-DAN-0155 Airframe Escalation Revisic
6-1162-DAN-0156 Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firm
6-1162-DAN-0157 Miscellaneous Matte
6-1162-MJB-0017 Special Matter
6-1162-MJB-0030 Special Mattet
6-1162-LAJ-874R Special Matter SAE
6-1162-LAJ-874R1 Special Mattel SAE€
6-1162-LAJ-874R2 Special Mattel SA7
6-1162-LAJ-982 Special Matter SA €
6-1162-RLL-3852 73-800 Performance Guarante SA ¢S
6-1162-LAJ-982R4 Special Mattel SA 1t
6-1162-RLL-3958 73-8V3 Option Aircraft SA 1t
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF:
Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
(2 typographical errors in SA 13 have been corbteSA 14)
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

PA No. 2191

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20
September 9, 201
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200t
March 16, 200
May 8, 200!
August 30 , 200
February 26, 20(
April 23, 2007

August 31, 200
February__, 200¢
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.48

Table 1-4
Aircraft Information Table Model 737-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 7317-700 154,500
Engine Model: CFM5€-7B22

Airframe Price: **Material Redacted**
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted**
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Redacted**
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted**
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate **Material Redacted**
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material Redacted**
Detail Specification: D6-3880¢-42-1 (4/30/2004

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Jul-04 ECI-MFG/CPI
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula N/A N/A

Airframe Escalation Data:

Base Year Index (ECI): **Material Redacted**
Base Year Index (CPI): **Material Redacted**
Escalation Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/P 1% 4% 5% 30%
Total: 0

*x Material Redacted*

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1t




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Airframe Model/MTOW:

Engine Model/Thrust:

Airframe Price:

Optional Features:

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft):

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE):
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept:
Detail Specification:

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula

Airframe Escalation Data:M
Base Year Index (ECI):
Base Year Index (CPI):

Table 1-5

Aircraft Information Table Model 737-8V3 Aircraft
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

737-8V3
CFM5€-7B26

D6-3880¢-1 Rev C, dated-4-05
Jul-04
N/A

EXHIBIT 10.48

174,200 pound
26,400 pound
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
ECI-MFGI/CPI
N/A

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Escalation Escalation Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/P 1% 4% 5% 30%

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* *Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

Total: 6

PA No. 2191
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EXHIBIT 12.1

Certification

I, Pedro Heilbron, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doe<antain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfghe circumstances under which such statemeets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered Iy itbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly preser
in all material respects the financial conditicgsults of operations and cash flows of the compenyf, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl5g) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control ovearicial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabieformation relating to the company, includiitg
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopréwide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabil
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantregenerally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsineport
our conclusions about the effectiveness of theaisee controls and procedures, as of the endeopdhniod
covered by this report based on such evaluatioh; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the cany{s internal control over financial reporting tlegcurred
during the period covered by the annual report laatmaterially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially
affect, the company’s internal control over finalceporting; and

The company'’s other certifying officer(sdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control
over financial reporting, to the company’s auditansl the audit committee of the company’s boardirefctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functior

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyaiversely affect the company’s ability to recondgess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a smmiifiole
in the company’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: May 9, 2008

/s/ Pedro Heilbror
Pedro Heilbron
Chief Executive Officer

(Section 302 CEO Certification)






EXHIBIT 12.2

Certification

I, Victor Vial, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doe<antain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfghe circumstances under which such statemeets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered Iy itbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly preser
in all material respects the financial conditicgsults of operations and cash flows of the compenyf, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl5g) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control ovearicial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabieformation relating to the company, includiitg
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopréwide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabil
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantregenerally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsineport
our conclusions about the effectiveness of theaisee controls and procedures, as of the endeopdhniod
covered by this report based on such evaluatioh; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the cany{s internal control over financial reporting tlegcurred
during the period covered by the annual report laatmaterially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially
affect, the company’s internal control over finalceporting; and

The company'’s other certifying officer(sdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control
over financial reporting, to the company’s auditansl the audit committee of the company’s boardirefctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functior

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyaiversely affect the company’s ability to recondgess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a smmiifiole
in the company’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: May 9, 2008

/sl Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officer

(Section 302 CFO Certification)






EXHIBIT 13.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title
18, United States Code), each of the undersigrfsmbof of Copa Holdings, S.A. (the “* Compalydoes hereby certify, to su
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddbnber 31, 2007 of the Company fully complies \high
requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and informatientained in the Form 20-
F fairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and results of operations of@loenpany.

Dated: May 9, 2008 /s/ Pedro Heilbrol
Pedro Heilbron
Chief Executive Officer







EXHIBIT 13.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title
18, United States Code), each of the undersigrfsmbof of Copa Holdings, S.A. (the “* Compalydoes hereby certify, to su
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddbnber 31, 2007 of the Company fully complies \high
requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and informatientained in the Form 20-
F fairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and results of operations of@loenpany.

Dated: May 9, 2008 /sl Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officer




